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CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 R & #

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors
Mr. Li Guanpeng (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed with effect from 12 April 2024)
Ms. Cui Qian (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Lu Rong (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Liu Yunfeng (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Huang Shengchao
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Ms. Wang Kanglin (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (Former Chairman)
(ceased to be the Chairman with effect from 11 August 2023)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (resigned with effect from 12 April 2024)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP
Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly JP
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Gao Wei (appointed with effect from 28 September 2023)
Mr. Lee Ka Lun (retired with effect from 28 September 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Ka Lai (appointed with effect from 1 January 2024)
Mr. Ko Wilson Wai Shun

(resigned with effect from 1 January 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Li Guanpeng (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Ms. Chan Ka Lai (appointed with effect from 1 January 2024)
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (resigned with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Ko Wilson Wai Shun

(resigned with effect from 1 January 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly JP (Chairman) (appointed as the chairman

with effect from 28 September 2023)

Mr. Lee Ka Lun (Former Chairman) (ceased to be the chairman
with effect from 28 September 2023)

Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP

Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 R & &

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP (Chairman)

Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP

Mr. Lu Rong (appointed as a member
with effect from 11 August 2023)

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (ceased to be a member
with effect from 11 August 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Guanpeng (Chairman) (appointed as the chairman
with effect from 11 August 2023)

Mr. Gao Wei (appointed as a member
with effect from 28 September 2023)

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly JP (appointed as a member
with effect from 11 August 2023)

Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP (Former Chairman) (ceased to be
the chairman and a member with effect from 11 August 2023)

Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (ceased to be a member
with effect from 11 August 2023)

Mr. Lee Ka Lun (ceased to be a member
with effect from 28 September 2023)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

11th Floor, C-Bons International Center
No. 108 Wai Yip Street
Kowloon, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

(resigned with effect from 1 November 2023)

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
(appointed with effect from 1 November 2023)
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Baker & McKenzie
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Dah Sing Banking Group Limited

STOCK CODE
2360

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.bestmart360.com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT X E#H &

Li Guanpeng
ZRAE
Chairman £ /&

Dear Shareholders, BT ¢

For and on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the AN AZENREXERICOERARAATERAT]
“Directors”) of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”, EREMBARSGHE AEE)ES((EE)E
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased ([BEE®)AAQFKER (KRR RAIREARE
to present the Group's results for the nine months ended 31 BE#HEZEZZ-_=F+ZA=+—RHINBEA(E
December 2023 (the “Financial Period under Review”) to the EEBIBUHAM ) AYZELS -

shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT X E#H &

During the Financial Period under Review, Hong Kong and the
world are gradually recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic.
However, the pace of economic recovery in various places has been
hampered by negative factors, including tightening of monetary
policy and the Russia-Ukraine conflicts. In the face of the unstable
external business environment, the Group continued to adjust its
product mix and sales strategies when appropriate, and through
an effective pricing policy, we maintained sales and profit growth
during the Financial Period under Review. In addition, we sourced
a diverse range of products from all over the world and have been
stringently selecting product suppliers to further enrich our product
categories while controlling costs more effectively, so as to uphold
the principle of providing products of “Best Quality” and “Best
Price” to customers.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on its long-
term development goals of maintaining a foothold in Hong Kong
and expanding overseas to inject new impetus into the Group for
its future growth. During the Financial Period under Review, we
introduced China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Company Limited
(the “CMHT") as a substantial shareholder. We anticipated that,
by virtue of its extensive cooperative network and resources, it
would provide us with significant strategic support and promotes
business synergies, thus promoting sustained business growth.
The management is confident in our ability to uphold our
competitiveness in the market with its solid business foundation.

As business activities resume, Hong Kong continued to launch
various international events to attract tourists from all over the
world. Looking forward, the management remains cautiously
optimistic in promoting the development of the retail business in
order to withstand economic or other uncertainties. The Group
will continue to work with our colleagues, suppliers, customers,
business partners and shareholders to lead the Group to scale new
heights and strives for a better brand. Our management will also
adhere to our business objectives and strive to provide customers
with comfortable and superior shopping experience and meet the
needs of different consumers and markets by continuously pursuing
global sourcing.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT X E#H &

To further elevate the Group's profitability, the management will
strive to refine our operational efficiency and further strengthen our
cost control measures. In collaboration with CMHT, we endeavor
to keep abreast of the times and make continuous improvement
to maintain our leading position in the Hong Kong leisure food
retail market, thereby ensuring stable and sustainable returns for
our shareholders. The Board has recommended the payment of a
dividend of HK6.0 cents per share for the nine months ended 31
December 2023.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my appreciation
to the Group’s management team and employees for their effort
in contributing to the development of the Group. My sincere
gratitude also goes to our shareholders, customers, suppliers and
business partners for their support and trust.

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Li Guanpeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2024

BETHE—SRALAEBNEFNEL  EEET
MIBNIREEEBRE - E— SRR AR
ESPRtE e o BIBEREEBENAE - BRER
Wit - TEES - LERRMIREBRBRR
TEMBRBLRMA - UERABILFIR RS
REBERAFBENLR BEFSFEABEE=
T =+ A=+—BIEABEAREREE
f%6.07 1 -

AANERREZERAFLEEEEEBRKLE
ITNEH  RAKRENERELER - AR
HER BT HEFREBBHENERE
EHUAROFHE -

Bm360IERARAQA
FEE
E

BEF _ET-_NMF=A_-1+mH

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @36 01Z i B R 2 7

Annual Report 2023 E #fi 4



CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT TR RS

Hui Chi Kwan
TR

Chief Executive Officer 1T 48 %,

Dear Shareholders,

During the Financial Period under Review, the haze of the
COVID-19 outbreak gradually dissipated. Local economic activities
returned to normal and the number of visitors to Hong Kong
rebounded. However, the retail sector remains under pressure due
to declining consumer sentiment driven by negative factors such
as inflation and geopolitical situation, as well as the changes in
consumption patterns of tourists coming to Hong Kong. Tourists
are increasingly forgoing traditional shopping in favour of engaging
in local culture, arts and other activities. During the Financial Period
under Review, the Group responded quickly to the market changes
and adjusted our business strategies. This involved optimizing our
product mix and retail shop distribution to align with consumer
needs. These adjustments resulted in a growth for both sales and
profits of the Group, even against an overall retail market that has
yet to fully recover.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT TR RS

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$1,930,831,000, representing a
period-on-period increase of approximately 17.3% as compared
with the unaudited revenue of the same nine-month period
in 2022. During the Financial Period under Review, the profit
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$168,335,000, representing a period-on-period increase of
approximately 18.9% as compared with the unaudited profit
attributable to owners of the Company of the same nine-
month period in 2022. Thanks to the hard work of the Group’s
management and all employees, the Group has remained vigilant
in the face of different operating situations and has been able to
respond appropriately to the unpredictable market environment.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of the Group’s retail
stores increased from 154 stores as at 31 March 2023 to 167
stores. During the Financial Period under Review, the Group’s
global gourmet brand "FoodVille" added 2 new stores in Hong
Kong, focusing on mid-to-high-end global quality food. Despite
the uncertainties in the external economic environment, the Group
maintained a steady pace in opening new retail stores. Our aim
is to enhance the regional layout of local livelihood by actively
seeking locations with reasonable rents, high customer traffic and
geographical advantages for the expansion of our branches. During
the Financial Period under Review, the Group continued to actively
optimize our product mix, source more “Best Quality” and “Best
Price” products around the world, which not only met the daily
needs of local residents, but also introduced distinctive products to
inbound visitors.

The Group is committed to building stable cooperative relationships
with global suppliers and persistently seeks new suppliers to enrich
its product categories and portfolio. The Group further developed
its private label products during the Financial Period under
Review, bringing advanced selection to customers. The private
label products are conducive to improving the Group’s overall
profitability and exclusive brand image as well as strengthening
customer loyalty. The related sales increased significantly by
approximately 23.5% period-on-period, and the proportion of
revenue further increased to approximately 15.8%.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT TR RS

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group actively
expanded its business-to-business (B2B) operations by selling “Best
Quality” products to retailers in Hong Kong and other markets so
as to broaden the Group’s revenue streams through diversified
businesses. Concurrently, the Group capitalized on the strengths
of its existing team to fully harness the synergies and attract more
potential customers.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economic environment is recovering
sluggishly and the business environment for the retail sector
remains uncertain. The management of the Group will pay close
attention to the uncertain factors affecting the Group’s operations
and promptly implement appropriate business measures. We will
uphold the principles of “Best Quality” and “Best Price”, adhere to
the concept of global procurement, and enable the procurement
team to refine the product portfolio in line with market demand.
This will consolidate the core competitiveness of the Group and
achieve our goal of business diversification.

The Group will persist in offering a wide range of products at
competitive prices by adopting global procurement strategy and
continue to optimize its product mix to procure more food and
essentials for local community customers and overseas tourists,
fulfilling their demands and expectations. On the other hand, the
Group will continue to develop its private label products, strive
to provide customers with diversified choices, and will look for
opportunities to promote its private label products to different
markets to further optimize the overall sales of the Group’s product
portfolio.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT TR RS

Targeting the mid-to-high-end market, the Group will continue to
expand its global gourmet brand “FoodVille” to introduce more
global high-quality and diversified food products to consumers to
meet the needs of different customers. At the same time, with the
support of CMHT, the Group will maintain a prudent and optimistic
attitude, continue to expand its business presence, so as to lay the
foundation for the Group’s long-term development in the region
and create maximum returns for the shareholders of the Group.

Finally, we would like to extend our sincere gratitude to our
management team and staff for their dedication and efforts.

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Hui Chi Kwan
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2024
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BESTMART 5

Best Mart delivers the Best Price”
to achieve the “BESt Quality”

& fnz=
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Established in 2013, Best Mart 360° now operates 167 stores in prestigious
shopping areas across Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China. With the
mission of providing products with theBest Quality” and “Best Price”, we insist
on developing a global procurement network with overseas suppliers, providing
an enjoyable shopping experience for our customers.
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Global

Procurement
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The Group procures its products of
approximately 1,217 brands and around
3,724 SKUs supplied from various parts of
the world. Our main sources are primarily
from Australia, Europe, US, Japan, Korea
and Vietnam, and importers based in
Hong Kong. We strive to offer a product
mix of exceptional quality, trending style
and broad appeal at competitive prices.
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Packaged pastrie Chilled and
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Nuts and

Confectioneries dried fruits

Cereals and milk
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Rice, noodles

and groceries § Other products

K~ HRR HttEm
BaEE



Retail Network _—

g - 170 $1,931M
i $1,645M
= u e 160 Unaudited 167
The Group continues to adopt a dual-brand strategy, consistently seeking 150 REZ
suitable opportunities to expand the store network of its key retail brand,
“Best Mart 360" and global gourmet store, “FoodVille”. As of 31 140
December 2023, the Group operated a total of 167 chain retail stores, 130
strategically located in areas with heavy pedestrian flow in Hong Kong,
Macau and Mainland China. These locations meet the demands of 120
different customer segments for quality food products. The “Best Mart 110
360°" brand focuses on serving residential areas and expanding its store 00
network  coverage, while  “FoodVille”  targets large and
medium-to-high-end shopping malls in Hong Kong as well as stores with 20
larger area and locations with higher customer traffic and stronger 80
consumer spending power. With the continuous expansion of store
networks, the Group's turnover is growing steadily. 70
60
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For the Nine Months Ended 31 December 2023
#HZE2023F12A318 1L NEA

Shenzhen Stores

N JE

ez 159

Stores JE &

Macau Stores

i I I &

Store Location (as of 31 December 2023)
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The dual-brand strategy meets the needs of
different customer groups. Meanwhile, g
continuously optimizing existing stores [ aE"TMART
provides customers with an exquisite 7
environment.
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PEHIE

Over the years, we have been actively responding to social needs by involving in social affairs, organizing volunteer teams, and partici-

pating in community activities.

ZER AMANESHEMEER  ASFLEIR  REBESHEMERE  OEMERE-

B 360° 1 BAFERET [—iEET] REAEEE

Best Mort 360° 10 onniversory celebrotion "Wolk with Kids. Best Buy, We Oonote!” chority event

In celebration of Best Mart 360°'s 10th anniversary, the Group has
initiated a series of charitable activities focused on children. The
initiative began in July with the "Walk with Kids. Best Buy, We
Donate!" campaign — The Group pledged a donation of 1% of
sales from "Famille", "Pando", or "Kalbarri" products purchased
at Best Mart 360° branches in Hong Kong and Macau or
FoodVille, amounting to HK$150,000. This donation is aimed at
funding various charitable activities in collaboration with the
Society for Community Organization, aiming to give back to
society and benefit over 1,000 families.

The activities include distributing shoe vouchers to 250
underprivileged children in August, enabling them to select new
leather shoes or sneakers of their choice, and welcoming the new
school year with a sense of comfort and confidence. Additionally,
over 500 families living in subdivided flats or transitional housing
were invited to exclusive cinema screenings of a family-friendly
animated movie during the first weekend of the new school term.
In line with the Mid-Autumn Festival,
the group gifted 500 goodie bags to
underprivileged  families, extending
festive greetings and sharing joy.
Volunteers made personal visits to
several families in the Sham Shui Po
district to hand out these goodie bags,
engaging in direct conversations to
better understand the living situations
of the beneficiary families and their
children's educational environments,
thereby spreading care and warmth.
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Chority Goodie Bogs for the Underprivileged

To celebrate the National Day and the Return to the Motherland, Best
Mart 360° donated a total of 2,400 goodie bags in July and October
to underprivileged families living in subdivided flats and to the elderly,
with a total value exceeding HK$460,000. The goodie bags were
distributed across various districts in Hong Kong, Kowloon, and the
New Territories by several Legislative Council members. The Best
Mart 360° volunteer team also made house visits to the beneficiaries
to deliver food staples and engage in exchanges to understand their
living conditions and needs, expressing their care and concern.
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Worm Menol Goodie Bogs for the Elderly

Best Mart 360° has partnered with the Hong Kong Methodist
Church for three consecutive years to organise the "Best Mart 360°
Caring for the Elderly Charity Event" in December. During the event,
200 elderly individuals were given meal boxes and goodie bags
containing cereals, noodles, and biscuits, among other items,
showing care for the daily needs of the elderly and offering warmth.
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Awards and
Recognitions
ﬁ & mith .u

The Group has been proactively participating in social charity events, and has received various social honours and recognitions.
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Awarded by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
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Being awarded as a Quality Tourism Services
Merchant for eight consecutive years by
providing best quality products and services
EESFREREERBERERES - R4
EBnREERE

As a member of the Quality Tourism Services
Association, the Group is committed to
providing high levels of services to tourists
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Recognized as an outstanding Hong Kong
company in the largest scale of consumer
brand survey in China, and was awarded
Consumer’s Most Favourable Hong Kong
Brands — Golden Award
RABBAEEEERERED  RER
BEEEELNT EEEEEMERRE

As a member of the “No Fakes Pledge” Scheme,
the Group is committed to providing genuine
products to ensure quality of the products
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To contribute to the building of a harmonious society, the Group participated in the Caring Company Programme

actively promotes social development
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and was recognized as a business organization which not only demonstrated good corporate citizenship but also
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY B B #E

For the
nine months
ended 31
December
2023
BZE Year ended 31 March
—EC=F BE=A=1T—-HLEE
+=A 2023 2022 2021 2020
=t+—-HL
hEBR =% —T-__F _—T--F _T_ITF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET TET FAET FTET

Revenue ON 1,930,831 2,305,907 1,983,526 1,627,891 1,230,437
Gross Profit ER 694,258 817,263 667,654 520,154 411,492
Operating Profit S 213,644 248,921 141,493 101,668 25,374
Total comprehensive income &2 A HEH AEH

attributable to owners 2HNEEE

of the Company 167,661 200,669 109,912 81,449 12,100

- As a percentage of revenue —fHBABS 8.7% 8.7% 5.5% 5.0% 1.0%
Total Assets EEAE 983,284 937,627 900,153 821,202 689,829
Total Liabilities BEHAE 526,911 458,915 462,110 453,071 383,147

Earnings per share attributable AATHEAELEER
to owners of the Company &R

- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EAR B (B 16.8 20.1 11.0 8.1 1.2
Dividend Per Share BRKRE

~ Interim (HK cents) — R EIEL) 8.0 8.0 15 2.0 NILfE

~ Final (HK cents) — R HA (L) 6.0 11.0 8.0 2.5 6.0

Equity attributable to owners AR REE AEGER
of the Company 456,373 478,712 438,043 368,131 369,582

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @36 01Z i B R 2 7 19
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEsiwm &k 77

The Group is a leisure food retailer operating chain retail stores
under the brands “Best Mart 360°“ and “FoodVille” in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. The Group offers wide selection of imported
pre-packaged leisure foods and other grocery products principally
from overseas, which can be broadly categorised into (i) chocolates
and confectioneries; (ii) nuts and dried fruits; (iii) packaged bakery
products and snacks; (iv) biscuits and pastries; (v) cereals and milk;
(vi) beverages and wine; (vii) rice, noodles and groceries; (viii) frozen
and chilled food; and (ix) other products, such as personal care
products, daily items and anti-epidemic products. It is the Group’s
business objective to offer “Best Quality” and “Best Price” products
to customers through continuous efforts on global procurement,
with a mission to provide comfortable shopping environment and
pleasurable shopping experience to customers.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
September 2023, the Board resolved to change the financial
year end date of the Company from 31 March to 31 December.
Accordingly, the current audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company covered a period of nine months from 1 April
2023 to 31 December 2023 and the audited comparative figures
covered a period of twelve months from 1 April 2022 to 31 March
2023. Due to the difference in the length of the reporting period,
the audited comparative figures may not be fully comparable.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Financial Period under Review, the COVID-19 outbreak
has gradually stabilised, and since the resumption of travel in
February last year, the Hong Kong Government has been actively
preparing and organising a number of large-scale events for the
purpose of attracting overseas visitors' revisit and stimulating the
retail consumption market. However, under the haze of the global
monetary policy tightening cycle and the Russia-Ukraine war,
with the slowdown of economic growths in various places, which
dragged down the recovery of tourism, retail and other industries
and weakened personal consumption expenditure, the business
environment continued to be full of uncertainties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS I E5Iam R 24T

According to statistics from the Census and Statistics Department,
the provisional estimate of the value of retail sales for the whole
year of 2023 increased by 16.2% year-on-year, of which the
provisional estimates of the value and volume of seasonally
adjusted total retail sales decreased by 3.3% and 3.6% respectively
in the third quarter of 2023 and the fourth quarter of 2023. In
addition, according to a spokesperson for the Hong Kong Tourism
Board, the number of visits of tourists to Hong Kong in 2023
recorded approximately 34 million, just returning to approximately
half of the pre-COVID-19 level.

Despite the challenging business environment in Hong Kong, the
Group continues to rise to the challenge. The Group is committed
to enrich its product range and product portfolio to meet the
daily needs of consumers in the local community, as well as to
introduce global and “made in Hong Kong” specialty foods to
attract overseas tourists to purchase in response to the recovery of
tourism, which led to the Group's sales growth despite the weak
overall retail market during the Financial Period under Review.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$1,930,831,000, representing a
period-on-period increase of approximately 17.3% as compared
with the unaudited revenue of same nine-month period in 2022.
Of which, revenue from retail stores in Hong Kong, Macau and the
PRC accounted for approximately 97.9% of the Group's revenue
during the Financial Period under Review. The Group’s gross
profit margin for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately 36.0%, representing an increase of approximately
0.6 percentage points compared with approximately 35.4% for
the year ended 31 March 2023. During the Financial Period under
Review, the Group recorded an approximately 3.4% growth in
same store sales performance (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately 2.5% growth).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$168,335,000 (for
the year ended 31 March 2023: approximately HK$200,997,000).
The Group's net profit margin was approximately 8.7% for both
the nine months ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31
March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEitim N 04T

Chain Retail Stores

As at 31 December 2023, the Group operated a total of 167 chain
retail stores (31 March 2023: 154 stores), including 159 chain retail
stores (31 March 2023: 145 stores) in Hong Kong, 7 chain retail
stores (31 March 2023: 7 stores) in Macau and 1 chain retail store
(31 March 2023: 2 stores) in Mainland China, respectively. During
the Financial Period under Review, the Group opened 19 new retail
stores, and closed 6 stores upon expiration of their respective lease
terms in alignment with the optimisation of the Group’s store
opening strategy.

As at 31 December 2023, the 159 retail stores of the Group in
Hong Kong consist of 28 retail stores located on Hong Kong Island,
54 retail stores located in Kowloon and 77 retail stores located in
the New Territories; while 53 retail stores are street-level stores,
104 retail stores are situated in shopping arcades within community
or residential districts and 2 retail stores are situated at traffic hubs
that are easily accessible by tourists, spanning over all of the 18
districts in Hong Kong. Rental expense (cash basis) for retail stores
was approximately HK$183,154,000 for the nine months ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$220,230,000). The typical saleable area of the Group's retail
stores ranges from approximately 515 square feet to 2,684 square
feet.

The ratio of rental expense (cash basis) to sales revenue of
retail stores for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately 9.5%, which was lower than that of approximately
9.6% for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS I E5Iam R 24T

Employees

Employees are crucial to the sustainable development of the
Group's business, and in particular, front-line staffs constitute
the majority of the labour force of the Group’s retail business.
Although the business environment remained challenging during
the Financial Period under Review, the Group maintained a
steady pace of expansion. As at 31 December 2023, the total
number of employees of the Group was 1,322, which, excluding
Directors, comprised of 863 full-time employees and 459 part-time
employees, while the total number of employees of the Group as at
31 March 2023 was 1,121, which, excluding Directors, comprised
of 813 full-time employees and 308 part-time employees. In order
to retain talented and skilled labour force and to incentivise the
Group's employees so as to increase cohesion and loyalty amongst
them, the Group regularly reviews and refreshes the employee
benefit scheme and remuneration packages with reference to
the supply of the labour market, the trend of labour costs and
the individual performance of the employees. The staff costs
(excluding the Directors’ emoluments) for the nine months ended
31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$181,349,000,
representing approximately 9.4% of the revenue of the Group
for the Financial Period under Review, while the staff costs
(excluding the Directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately
HK$203,338,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing
approximately 8.8% of the revenue of the Group for the year.
Amongst which, the staff costs of frontline and warehouse staff
(including basic salary, commission and other benefits) represented
approximately 7.2% and 6.9% of the revenue for each of the nine
months ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 March
2023, respectively.

Products

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group continued its
global procurement policy and mission by sourcing broad spectrum
of products worldwide that meet and satisfy market trend and
demand. To better cater to the needs of the local community and
the international travellers, the Group further strengthened the
supply of basic foodstuffs such as cereals, noodles, canned food,
milk, chilled and frozen food, daily necessities and basic grocery
products. In addition, the Group continued to strengthen its
private label sales in retail stores, including nuts and dried fruits,
organic grains, wet tissues, canned food, biscuits and snacks, etc.,
providing consumers with more diversified choices.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the Group offers
a total of 3,724 stock keeping units ("SKUs") of products (for the
year ended 31 March 2023: 3,770 SKUs) from suppliers principally
from overseas markets, and brand owners or importers in Hong
Kong, with product mainly originating from, among others, Japan,
Korea, the United States, Europe, Australia, Vietnam and Thailand,
as well as other Asia-Pacific countries. The Group sourced the most
popular and trendy food products from these countries or regions
to offer a globally-diversified, multi-brand and multi-category
selection for every customer.

As at 31 December 2023, the total amount of inventories of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$276,691,000 (31 March
2023: approximately HK$244,219,000), representing an increase
of approximately 13.3%. The increase in the Group’s total amount
of inventories was mainly due to an increase in the number of retail
stores and preparation for increased demand during the peak sales
season in the coming quarter.

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group continued to
actively develop private label products that on one hand allow the
Group to capture advantages of pricing and exercise higher level of
quality control on its products and on the other hand further uplift
its brand awareness and strengthen customers’ loyalty. For the nine
months ended 31 December 2023, sales derived from private label
products was approximately HK$305,520,000 which accounted
for approximately 15.8% of the revenue of the Group for the nine
months ended 31 December 2023, as compared to approximately
HK$346,352,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023, which
accounted for approximately 15.0% of the revenue of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 0.8%. During the Financial Period under Review,
the Group has launched an aggregate of 11 private labels, and the
products for sale included nuts and dried fruits, organic grains, wet
tissues, canned food, biscuits and snacks, etc.
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Membership Scheme

Given that the retail business of the Group is a consumer-driven
business, the Group placed substantial efforts in developing and
reinforcing its customer base. As such, the Group has established
a membership scheme since April 2015 in order to promote
consumer loyalty, stimulate sales and expand customer base. In
order to further deepen customer stickiness and expand customers'’
coverage, the Group used big data analysis and reformulated its
marketing strategy to launch a new three-tier membership scheme
and a second generation mobile app in mid-June 2020. The new
membership scheme helps to elevate brand positioning and market
recognition, and the membership rewards have been fully optimised
and enhanced, with more member benefits such as multiple
items purchase stamp reward, special offers for selected products
and access to latest market information. Through diversified
marketing strategies, the Group aims to internally strengthen the
membership core from within and attract new customers through
external expansion, so as to effectively and purposefully foster the
ties between members and the Group, thereby driving recurring
business from members and promoting sustainable growth of the
Group's business.

During the Financial Period under Review, the number of the
Group's members increased from approximately 2,059,688 as at 31
March 2023 to approximately 2,123,365 as at 31 December 2023,
representing an increase of approximately 3%.

The year 2023 marked the 10th anniversary of the Group’s
establishment. The Group conducted various marketing and
promotional activities during the Financial Period under Review,
including the “Super Best Price (A =& E)” promotional
campaign, which provided customers with a series of special offers
for selected quality products to express our gratitude for our
customers’ support over the years and to enhance customer loyalty.
Meanwhile, the Group continued to advertise through television,
newspapers, social media platforms and other media, which
successfully obtained repeat customers, attracted new customers
and greatly promoted the discussions about the Group in the
market.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Board expects that the economy of Hong
Kong and the globe will remain weak in the near future, and the
tourism and consumption-related sectors will continue to be under
pressure. In the face of uncertainties in Hong Kong’s economic and
retail business environment, the Group will be cautiously optimistic
in expanding its business, closely monitor the development of
various adverse factors affecting the Group's operations, and
promptly implement necessary and appropriate business measures
in response to market changes to minimise the impact on the
Group's business operations. With the successive hosting of various
world-class mega events in Hong Kong, it is expected to accelerate
the pace of recovery of local business activities and drive the
gradual recovery of market consumption sentiment. Therefore,
the Group will continue to focus on the Hong Kong market as
the core of its development, by optimizing its product structure
to cover more basic foodstuffs and necessities and enhancing the
development of its private label products to cater to the needs of
the local market, thus consolidating and strengthening the Group’s
competitiveness in the retail market.

In order to enhance business operational profits, the Group will
continue to review the regional distribution of its brand stores,
adjust its store mix through appropriate expansion policies and
appropriate leasing strategies, and look for suitable opportunities
to expand the store network of its major retail brands “Best Mart
360° (24n360°)" and global gourmet store “FoodVille” in Hong
Kong and Macau, with a target of achieving a net increase of 15
retail stores each year to satisfy the demand of different customer
segments for quality food products with the pattern of dual-brand.
The “Best Mart 360° " brand will focus on serving residential
areas, and the Group will continue to optimize the geographical
distribution of its stores, review the spatial layout and store
expansion opportunities of its existing retail stores, enhance store
sales efficiency and provide customers with a more comfortable
shopping experience; while “FoodVille” targets large and medium-
to-high-end shopping malls in Hong Kong as well as stores with
larger area and high customer traffic and density so as to further
differentiate the two brands.
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The Group introduced China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading
Company Limited (“CMHT") as a substantial shareholder during
the Financial Period under Review, providing substantial strategic
support to the Group and synergy maximisation for the sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group will continue to uphold its
business mission in offering products with the “Best Quality” and
“Best Price” to its customers, adhere to the concept of global
sourcing. Through leveraging the extensive cooperation network
and resources of CMHT, the Group is committed to explore more
upstream suppliers, and optimise its sales categories and maintain
its price competitiveness. Furthermore, the Group will proactively
source a diversified range of food products worldwide as well as
step up the development of its private label products, aiming not
only to satisfy market demand for daily necessities but also to
provide customers with a broader range of choices.

On the other hand, the Group has entered into a sales and
procurement framework agreement with CMHT and will sell
products to and purchase products from CMHT and its subsidiaries
in the financial year of 2024. The Board believes that through
CMHT's robust network of food importers and distributors, the
Group will strengthen its procurement and business-to-business
(B2B) operations, and provide a more diversified range of imported
products and private label products of the Group to customers and
other retailers in Hong Kong, online stores and even merchants or
enterprises in overseas markets, enriching the Group’s streams of
revenue and expanding its potential customer base.

In the face of the rapidly changing business environment, the
Group is confident, by working closely with its employees,
customers and other stakeholders, in creating better results for the
Group and the best returns for its shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
of the Group mainly represented the retail sales to walk-
in customers through its retail stores which accounted for
approximately 97.9% of the revenue of the Group. For the nine
months ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$1,930,831,000, as compared to approximately
HK$2,305,907,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Profit for the Period

Profit of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately HK$168,335,000, as compared
to approximately HK$200,997,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023. Net profit margin before interest and tax for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately 11.1%, while the
net profit margin before interest and tax for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 was approximately 10.8%. The increase
was attributable to our improvement in gross profit margin as well
as enhancement in operational efficiency. Net profit margin was
approximately 8.7% for both the nine months ended 31 December
2023 and the year ended 31 March 2023.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit
of the Group was approximately HK$694,258,000 (year ended
31 March 2023: approximately HK$817,263,000). The gross
profit margin was approximately 36.0% (year ended 31 March
2023: approximately 35.4%). The increase was attributable to
timely adjustment of sales and marketing strategy and continuous
optimisation of product mix.

Other Income and Other Gains, Net

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
net other income and other gains of approximately HK$4,676,000,
while for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 it recorded net
other income and other gains of approximately HK$19,920,000.
The decrease in net other income and other gains was mainly due
to HK$17,996,000 received from the Employment Support Scheme
provided by the Government of Hong Kong during the preceding
financial year.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, selling and
distribution expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$422,722,000, as compared to approximately HK$515,266,000
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023. Selling and distribution
expenses represented approximately 21.9% of total revenue for
the nine months ended 31 December 2023 (financial year ended
31 March 2023: approximately 22.3%). The decrease was mainly
the result of our dedication to stringent cost control measures as
well as enhancement in operational efficiency.

Administrative and Other Expenses

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, administrative
and other expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$62,568,000, as compared to approximately HK$72,996,000 for
the financial year ended 31 March 2023. Administrative and other
expenses represented approximately 3.2% of total revenue for the
nine months ended 31 December 2023 (financial year ended 31
March 2023: approximately 3.2%).

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the nine months ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$10,930,000, as
compared to approximately HK$8,708,000 for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023. Effective interest rate for bank borrowings
of the Group was approximately 3.13% for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of 0.25
percentage point from the financial year ended 31 March 2023
of approximately 2.88% as a result of increase in HIBOR for the
Financial Period under Review.
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Financial Position, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total cash and
bank balances (including cash and cash equivalents) were
approximately HK$130,712,000 (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$146,047,000), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$15,335,000 which was mainly used in financing activities.
The overview of the Group’s cash flow for the nine months ended
31 December 2023 and the financial year ended 31 March 2023
respectively are set out as follows:

MBERR - RBDEERUBEER

NZZBE-_=F+-FA=+—0  XEEWNHES
LETTHHBREEERERASEEERNA
130,712,000 L(ZE==F=A=+—H : &
146,047,000 7T) * B #15,335,00087C ©
ZHARMEER AKEEEE_ZT_=—F+=
A=+—HILEARERRBEZZ=-_=F=H=
+—HILEFBRFENRESRED BIBHWOT -

For the
nine months For the
ended 31 financial year
December ended 31
2023 March 2023
BZE H=E
—F=-= =
+=A =H
=+—HI =+—H81
HhEA WFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net cash generated from operating activities 4% ¥ FT15IR & /55 336,707 369,879
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBFARSFE (15,128) (28,003)
Net cash used in financing activities BB XGFTAR 58 (336,106) (325,692)
(14,527) 16,184
Exchange losses on cash and ReEkBeFEBEENLEE
cash equivalents (808) (213)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash Be MRS EMEER
equivalents CRA) /& hnF e (15,335) 15,971
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has total bank borrowings R-_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—H ' X&EBHIRE
of approximately HK$76,756,000, representing a decrease of  7{& R AA%E4) 576,756,000/ T * R - —

approximately 3.3% as compared to approximately HK$79,349,000
as at 31 March 2023. The total unutilised banking facility extended
by commercial banks as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$240,630,000 (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$244,411,000). The carrying amounts of the Group's
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, secured and
approximate to their fair value.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a gross gearing ratio (i.e.,
gross debt divided by total equity) of approximately 16.8% (31 March
2023: approximately 16.6%). For this purpose, gross debt is defined
as total interest-bearing borrowings excluding lease liabilities.

The Group financed its liquidity and working capital requirements
through a combination of various sources, including but not limited
to cash generated from the Group’s operations, bank borrowings,
and other external equity and debt financings as and when
appropriate.

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position
with cash and bank balances of approximately HK$130,712,000
and the Group’s working capital amounted to approximately
HK$79,212,000 as at 31 December 2023. Based on the Group's
steady cash inflow from operations, coupled with sufficient cash
and bank balances and readily available banking facilities, the
Group has adequate liquidity and financial resources to meet its
working capital requirements in the next twelve months from the
balance sheet date. During the Financial Period under Review, the
majority of the Group’s cash and bank balances were in Hong Kong
dollar, Macau Pataca, Renminbi and were deposited in reputable
financial institutions.

Capital Structure

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) on 11 January 2019 by way of share
offer. Since then, there has been no change in the capital structure
of the Company. The capital structure of the Company comprises
issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December 2023, the
Company had 1,000,000,000 Shares in issue.

The capital structure of the Group as at 31 December 2023 in terms
of debt profile is mainly bank borrowings and as at 31 December
2023, the Group has outstanding bank borrowings repayable
within one year or contain a repayment on demand clause of
approximately HK$76,756,000 (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$79,349,000). Bank borrowings bear interest at floating interest
rates. The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank borrowings
is HIBOR plus 1.3% (31 March 2023: HIBOR plus 1.3%) per annum
for the nine months ended 31 December 2023.

Capital Commitments

Details of capital commitments are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements.
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Charge on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings and other banking
facilities of the Group are secured by:

(i) a corporate guarantee provided by the Company and a
subsidiary; and

(i) property, plant and equipment of office premises of the Group
with carrying amount of approximately HK$162,615,000 (31
March 2023: HK$166,358,000).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk from (i) the purchase of products from
various overseas suppliers, which are primarily settled in foreign
currencies, mainly USD, JPY, EUR, GBP, AUD, SGD and RMB; and
(ii) the revenue generated from the operation in Macau and PRC.
Nevertheless, taking into account the retail industry practice, the
Group’s current operation, the stable exchange rate of Macau
Pataca historically and that the Group’s cash balance in Renminbi
is considered to be not material, the Directors do not consider that
the Group is subject to material foreign exchange risk. The Group
will take proactive measures and monitor closely its exposure to
such currencies movement.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts prudent treasury management policies and
does not engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative
products. Cash balances are mostly placed in Hong Kong dollars
bank deposit with appropriate maturity period for meeting future
funding requirements.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is to reward the employees
based on their performance, qualifications, experience and
competence. Remuneration package typically comprises salary,
contribution to pension schemes, discretionary annual bonus,
performance-related bonus, sales target bonus and miscellaneous
duties-related allowances. The Group conducts annual review on
the performance of the employees and make reference to such
performance review for assessing discretionary annual bonus, salary
adjustments and promotion appraisals. The remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and the senior management are
determined with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
the time commitment and performance of the executive Directors
and the senior management, as well as the performance of the
Group. A remuneration committee is set up to review the Group’s
emolument policy and structure of all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group with reference to
their experience, responsibilities, workload and time devoted to the
Group and performance of the Group.
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The Group has joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “MPF Scheme"”) for all employees
in Hong Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on
minimum statutory contribution requirement of the lower of 5%
of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income and HK$1,500
per month. The funds of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group.

The Group makes contributions to the social security fund for our
eligible employees in Macau based on, inter alia, whether they are
long term employees or fixed term employees. As stipulated by the
labour regulations of PRC, the Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement plans organised by municipal and provincial
governments for its PRC employees. The Group is required to make
contributions to the retirement plans at rates ranging from 14% to
15% of the eligible employees’ salaries for the nine months ended
31 December 2023 (financial year ended 31 March 2023: 14% to
15%).

The Company’s employer contribution for each of the
abovementioned scheme/fund/plan vests fully with the employees
when contributed into each respective scheme/fund/plan.
Accordingly, for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 and
the financial year ended 31 March 2023, there were no forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) that may be
used by the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 18 December 2018 for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the participants for their
contributions to the Group. As at the date of this report, no option
has been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the nine
months ended 31 December 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals
during the nine months ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plans for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2023.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of final dividend of
HK6.0 cents per Share for the nine months ended 31 December
2023)(fina| dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK11.0
cents).

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting
to be held on Friday, 24 May 2024 (the “Forthcoming AGM"),
the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or around
Thursday, 13 June 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 3 June
2024. To ascertain Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend,
if the proposed final dividend is approved by the Shareholders at
the Forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 30 May 2024 to Monday, 3 June
2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of
the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on Wednesday, 29 May 2024.

CLOSURE OF SHARE REGISTER FOR THE
FORTHCOMING AGM

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the Forthcoming AGM to be held on Friday, 24 May
2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 21 May 2024 to Friday, 24 May 2024 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be
effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the Forthcoming
AGM, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712=-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 May 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF FINANCIAL PERIOD
UNDER REVIEW

Continuing connected transactions in relation to sales and
purchase framework agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
26 January 2024. On 26 January 2024, the Company (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and CMHT (for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries other than the Group) entered into a
sales and procurement framework agreement (the “CMHT Sales
and Procurement Framework Agreement”) for the term of
one year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. As CMHT
is a substantial Shareholder, the entering into of the CMHT Sales
and Procurement Framework Agreement between the Company
and CMHT and the transactions contemplated thereunder are
continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework
Agreement, the Company and CMHT agree that (i) the Group
shall sell to CMHT and its subsidiaries (other than the Group)
liquor, food and beverages, personal care and health products,
household and basic groceries, maternal and infant food and
supplies, pet food and supplies and other ancillary services arising
from the above sales (the “CMHT Sales Transactions”); and (ii)
the Group shall procure from CMHT and its subsidiaries (other than
the Group) liquor, food and beverages, personal care and health
products, household and basic groceries, maternal and infant food
and supplies, pet food and supplies and other ancillary services
arising from the above procurement (the “CMHT Procurement
Transactions”).

The table below sets out the annual caps of the CMHT Sales
Transactions and CMHT Procurement Transactions for the year
ending 31 December 2024:
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For the year ending
31 December 2024

BE-_Z_F

TZA=1+—BLEE

HK$'000

FHT

CMHT Procurement Transactions BEeBRERS 35,000
CMHT Sales Transactions HEEBHERS 25,600

Entering into the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework
Agreement is beneficial for both procurement and business-to-
business sales of the Group. This arrangement not only increases
the Group’s revenue streams but also ensures a stable supply chain.
In addition, the arrangement aligns with the business development
needs of the Group, achieving a synergic effect in fair and
reasonable manner, and realising resources complementarity and a
win-win situation for all parties.

Connected transaction and continuing connected transactions
in relation to tenancy agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
12 April 2024, CIAO International (as tenant) and Mr. Lin Hiu
San Burton (as landlord) entered into a tenancy agreement (the
“Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement”) for a term of three
years from 22 April 2024 to 21 April 2027 (both days inclusive)
for the lease of the Stanley New Street Property (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 April 2024). Pursuant
to the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement, CIAO International
shall pay Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton (i) a monthly base rent of
HK$110,000 (“Fixed Base Rents”) and (ii) a turnover rent of 8%
monthly gross receipts exceeding the Fixed Base Rents (“Variable
Turnover Rents”), exclusive of government rates, management
charges and other outgoings and inclusive of government rent.
CIAO International shall also pay a deposit of HK$344,100 in
respect of the Stanley New Street Property.
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Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton is the son of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, a substantial
Shareholder and an executive Director. Accordingly, Mr. Lin Hiu San
Burton is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Hence, the payment of the Fixed Base Rents under the
Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement will be regarded as a one-
off connected transaction, whereas the payment of the Variable
Turnover Rents under the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement
will be regarded as continuing connected transactions under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 12
April 2024, based on the then present value of the aggregated
Fixed Base Rents for the entire terms of the Stanley New Street
Tenancy Agreement as discounted using a discount rate which
is equivalent to the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, the
Value of Right-of-Use Assets of the Stanley New Street Tenancy
Agreement recognized by the Company in accordance with HKFRS
16 amounted to approximately HK$3,587,737 (unaudited).

The Variable Turnover Rents under the Stanley New Street Tenancy
Agreement will be recognized as expenses of the Group over the
term of the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement. The annual
caps proposed by the Company for the payment of Variable
Turnover Rents are estimated as follows:
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HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
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Stanley New Street Tenancy REERLY

Agreement 720 950 950 300
Currently, the Group operates a total of 164 chain retail stores in B Al * ZEBREAEE KL E164HEETEL
Hong Kong. The Group’s lease of the Stanley New Street Property  # © AEEHEERT I EHWHEL L2 [EMR360°]

to operate the “Best Mart 360°” brand retail store is conducted
after comprehensive market research and assessment. The Group
considers that the location of the Stanley New Street Property is
suitable for the opening of a new “Best Mart 360" shop, which
optimizes the Group'’s retail store-location strategy and enhances
the Group’s overall performance.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant events
affecting the Group that have occurred since 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSNEEEBEREFE

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Guanpeng (Z@E), aged 57, is the chairman of the
Company and he was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 11 August 2023. He is the managing director and
general manager of China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Company
Limited (“CMHT") since August 2021. Mr. Li graduated from Sun
Yat-sen University in 1989 and obtained his bachelor’s degree
in English language and literature. From July 1989 to October
2013, Mr. Li worked for a few subsidiaries of Sinotrans South
China Co., Ltd. (FBISMNEZERI B R A A]) (formerly known as
Sinotrans Guangdong Company Limited* (FEISMEE R AR
‘A 7/])) and successively acted as its deputy general manager and
general manager. From January 2009 to January 2010, Mr. Li was
temporarily transferred to the Ministry of Transport and served as
an assistant to the director. From August 2013 to August 2021, Mr.
Li successively acted as the vice president, president and executive
director of Sinotrans Limited (FF B4MNE 1D BR AR, stock code:
00598.HK, 601598.SH). In January 2019, Mr. Li was appointed
as the chairman of DHL-Sinotrans International Air Courier Ltd.
From February 2019 to August 2021, Mr. Li was appointed as the
chairman of Sinotrans Limited (4 B 4MNE % (7 B R A 7)).

Mr. Hui Chi Kwan (5F&8%), aged 46, is one of the founders of
the Group and the chief executive officer of the Group since April
2015. Mr. Hui was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 12 April 2024. Mr. Hui has over 19 years of experience in
the retail industry. As the chief executive officer of the Group,
Mr. Hui is responsible for overseeing the day to day management
of the Group. Mr. Hui is also a chief executive officer of CIAO
International Limited, the director of each of Best Mart 360 Macau
Limited and Allied Wide Limited, and the legal representative of %
JERE2EZTEHEAR QA (Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce
Limited), all of which are subsidiaries of the Company.
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In addition, Mr. Hui is a member of the 12th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Shandong Province Committee
(FRARBAHEEESE T ZEILREZLZEE) since December
2019, a standing member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Shandong Province Committee (FE A
RBCAHEEHBE+ZEILREZET) since January 2023, the
president of Hong Kong Industrial and Commercial Association
Limited (B78 T4 ) since 2023, the executive president of the
Community Care Development Fund (Eastern District) (B[ & 5
BT REREES) since 2023, the executive vice president of Hong
Kong Association for Promotion of Peaceful Reunification of China
(P BTG — (R ESEBEE) since 2023, the vice chairman and
permanent honorary chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian
Associations (F& & E B E) since 2023, the vice chairman of
the 13th Committee of Jinjiang Federation of Overseas Chinese,
Fujian (BE2E &I MEBEEHET=/EZ8T) since April 2023,
the vice president (2015-2022), permanent honorary president
(since 2015) and the president (since May 2022) of The Fukien
Athletic Club (B/B@EEB ), the vice chairman of Hong Kong
Department Stores and Retail General Union (BB &R T &%
#2) since January 2016, a fellow of The Professional Validation
Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector since June 2015, the
permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Shine Tak Foundation
Association Limited (B#Z@E2E AR A7) since March 2021,
and was a member of the 12th and 13th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Jinjiang Municipal Committee (FFEI A R
BUAEEZEE T —ENRET=EEIMEZEE) between 2013
and 2020.

Ms. Cui Qian (#18&), aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 11 August 2023. She is the deputy
general manager of CMHT since August 2016 and the deputy
general manager of Shenhai Co., Ltd. (E2/& B8R A 7)) since 2012.
Ms. Cui graduated from the School of Foreign Languages of
Shandong Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in 1993.
Ms. Cui successively worked in the General Office of Department
of Education, the Planning Division of the Ministry of Transport of
the PRC, and China Communications Import and Export Co., Ltd.
(PEBEEHOABRAT]). Ms. Cui served as the deputy general
manager of Hoi Tung Communication & Navigation Co., Limited
(BB E2ZHB PR 2A7R]). From October 2014 to May 2016, Ms
Cui acted as the assistant general manager of Hoi Tung Marine
Machinery Suppliers Ltd. (B8 /&8 BER A
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Mr. Lu Rong (BE#%8), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 11 August 2023. He is the deputy general
manager of CMHT since January 2019 and the general manager
of China Merchants Food Co., Ltd. (BB RRMAB R A 7)) since
May 2022. Mr. Lu graduated from Shanghai Maritime University
with a master’s degree in 2003. Mr. Lu joined CMHT's group since
2003 and worked in Hoi Tung (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd (&8
(E3)E SBRAR]) and successively served as the representative
of Vietnam office, the general manager of the Shipping Equipment
Department, and the general manager of Hoi Tung Marine
Machinery Suppliers Ltd. (B#&&8@BER A ). Mr. Lu acted as
the assistant general manager of CMHT from November 2016 to
January 2019.

Mr. Liu Yunfeng (8/Z1£), aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023. He is the
deputy general manager of the CMHT since June 2022. Mr.
Liu graduated from Wuhan Institute of Water Transportation
Engineering with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1992, and
obtained an EMBA degree from the University of Texas at Arlington
in 2005. From 1992 to 2022, Mr. Liu worked in the Import
Department of China Communications Import & Export Co., Ltd. (#F
Bl 22 i H OB BR 2 R]), and successively served as the assistant
general manager, deputy general manager, and general manager
of China Communications Import & Export Co., Ltd. (A B3 @k
OB ZAF]). Mr. Liu acted as the general manager of China
Merchants Automobile Trading Company Limited* (327 598 &
SERELAT]) from August 2017 to April 2022. From February
2019 to June 2022, Mr. Liu was appointed as the assistant general
manager of CMHT.
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Mr. Huang Shengchao (Z&i#), aged 52, was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023. He is the chief
financial officer of CMHT since April 2023. Mr. Huang graduated
from the School of Accountancy of the Central University of Finance
and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in 1994,
and graduated from the postgraduate training course for national
economics in the Central University of Finance and Economics in
2012. Mr. Huang successively worked in Shenzhen Tellus Holding
Co., Ltd. (RIIT 4 A (EE)R D B R AR, stock code: 000025.
SZ), Shenzhen Merchant Petrifaction Company Limited* (Z3I|#3
AL ARAT]), and China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Company Limited* (FRE B O LEE AR A F) from 1994 to
2015. From December 2015 to April 2022, Mr. Huang successively
served as the general manager of the Financial Department and
the general manager of the Financial Management Department of
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (A&
Bie 0 TXRZERMM AR AR, stock code: 001979.52). From
May 2022 to April 2023, Mr. Huang acted as the deputy chief
financial officer and the general manager of both the Financial
Management Department and the Capital Operation Department
in China Merchants Port Group Co., Ltd. (A& /B8 D L@RHE
R~ 7], stock code: 1872.57). From December 2022 to June 2023,
Mr. Huang served as a director of Ningbo Zhoushan Port Company
Limited (2% A 1L B0 B R 2 &, stock code: 601018.SH).

Ms. Wang Kanglin (£ E#), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023. She is the
general manager of the Enterprise Planning Department of CMHT
since November 2023. Ms. Wang graduated from Jiangxi University
of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in accounting
(international accounting) in 2007 and obtained a master’s degree
in business administration (finance) at The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 2015. Ms. Wang worked as an auditor in Shenzhen
Branch of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (& ZE5K & K

M= ETRYI9 B from August 2007 to April 2010. From
May 2010 to June 2014, Ms. Wang successively worked at Enric
Energy Equipment Holdings Limited (Shenzhen Representative
Office) (ZImFl IR EE #IE L A BR A7) and CIMC Enric Investment
Holdings (Shenzhen) Limited* (F&EZHEHEEZROFINE
FR /A2 A]). From June 2014 to November 2014, Ms. Wang was
the manager of the Enterprise Planning Department of China
Merchants Food Supply Chain Management Co. Ltd (BRI B & @
HrESEEIR AR A A]). From November 2014 to July 2016, Ms.
Wang worked at the Business Development Department of Hoi
Tung Marine Machinery Suppliers Ltd. From July 2016 to November
2023, Ms. Wang successively acted as the supervisor, the assistant
general manager and the deputy general manager of the Enterprise
Planning Department of CMHT.
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Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (#XFI#), aged 52, one of the founders of the
Group, was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
24 January 2018. Mr. Lin is also a substantial Shareholder. Mr.
Lin is primarily responsible for formulating the Group’s strategic
planning and overall business development and overseeing the
overall management and operation of the Group. Mr. Lin is also a
director of the subsidiaries of the Company, i.e. CIAO International
Limited, Quality Food 360° (Holdings) Limited, Best Mart 360
International Limited, Best Mart 360 Macau Holdings Limited, Best
Mart 360 Macau Limited, Best Mart 360 China Holdings Limited,
Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Limited, FIEREETHEER
72 7] (Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce Limited), Abundant
Year International Limited, Allied Wide Limited and Golden Good
International Trading Limited. Mr. Lin has accumulated over 25
years of experience in retail and wholesale businesses.

Mr. Lin was appointed as a director of The Hong Kong Fujian
Charitable Education Fund (B8 @EHS L LEESE) since 2014,
a permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Federation of
Fujian Associations Limited (/8@ E( BB AR A F]) in 2013,
a vice president of The Federation of Hong Kong Footwear Limited
(BBEEE(1970) B R A 7F]) in 2014, a permanent honorary
president of Hong Kong Federation of Chendai Zhen Clans Limited
(EARBERSEEER AT in 2016, and a vice president of
The Federation of Jinjlang Hong Kong Associations Limited (formerly
known as “JinJiang Clans Association (H.K.) Limited”) (B/&&/T
HEEEBR AT, formerly known as BB & LR EHRQF)
in 2013. Mr. Lin was also appointed as one of the directors of Pok
Oi Hospital Centenary (70th) board of directors (2019-2020). Mr.
Lin was admitted as Honorary Fellow by The Professional Validation
Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector in July 2017.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Sze Irons (i 481%), B.B.S., J.P., aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 18 December
2018. Mr. Sze obtained a Bachelor of Science from the University
of Wisconsin-La Crosse in May 1985. He is currently an standing
member of the 14th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (3 +MNEFEARBAHEE
#EEHEZE8EFEEZE8), an standing member and convenor (Hong
Kong Region) of the Beijing Municipal Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FFE A RBUAIEE
HFILFAMEEEEIEZEE), the Permanent Honorary President
of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the
Life Honorary President of the HKCPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association Limited* (@A REHZE B FEE), the Deputy
Secretary General of the Hong Kong Coalition, the chairman of
the Mainland Business Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council, a Council member of the Hong Kong
Repertory Theatre Limited, a member of Labour Advisory Board
under Labour Department and a court member of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He was also elected as a member of Election
Committee of the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in 2016. Mr. Sze was appointed the Justice
of the Peace in 2011 and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the Hong Kong in 2015. Mr. Sze is a director
of Hang Tung Resources Limited, a private company in Hong Kong,
since March 1984.

Mr. Sze is an independent non-executive director of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 25.HK), Continental
Holdings Limited (stock code: 513.HK), Forward Fashion
(International) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2528.HK)
and Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (stock code: 2370.
HK) respectively, all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Sze was also an independent non-executive director of ST
International Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8521.HK)
from April 2018 to December 2023, and Jianzhong Construction
Development Limited (stock code: 589.HK) from February 2020 to
November 2023, both of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.

BYFHITES

ME4R 1B L EB.B.S., J.P. » 625%  EER{TAEBL
FmTEE AT N\F+_A+N\BELE
Mo ARER—NMNAFRABRSEETTEER
BNR A RESELEN - HFEMASE T
EFEARBAHEAERL2ELZESEBRZL
8 FEARBAWEERILATMZEREH
ZERBEBEAN BAPEMEB S L KE
FEgR BRAVHUHBZEHHTKELE
gk AEBRBABEBEIWER BABES
BRENMHEZBNZESEE  BEEEE
BEESKE  FEAFEBERNSITESETZET
BEHMZEe%E  LAEAEIKREZEMEZES
KB - BIR T NEFEZEAEEBERITR
BTHEREERZESZE - BAER T —
—FEZTAEATHLT TR -_Z—HFES
BEAITHEBEBRTERERNEE - il
—NWN\NF=ZAR—EEEEE—HELARF
ERERBRATIMNES -

BEESFAELBRBEEEFR AR KRG R
5% 0 25.HK) - EMHKELEEFR QA ERHR
%0 513.HK) « W& (BB ERER AR KKk
R 2528 HK) R =@ E/E B R A & (&
RS - 2370.HK BB IENITES - LMl A A
HEEBLEMAR - BEETE -2 —\FN
BE-ZT-_=F+-AEAEHBRBERER
NE(RMREE - 8521 . HK) B IERITE S -
FPEE_TFE AR T -ZF+—AEE
BEREEERARAF (MRS - 589.HK)
MBYIENTES  MEAFTHAEEELTA
Ej °

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7
Annual Report 20235 E &



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSNEEEBEREFE

Ms. Choy So Yuk (¥¢% %), B.B.S., J.P., aged 73, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 18
December 2018. Ms. Choy obtained her Bachelor of Science degree
and Master of Philosophy degree from The University of Hong
Kong in 1974 and 1980 respectively. She was a deputy of the 11th,
12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic
of China from 2008 to 2023. She was a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong from 1998 to 2008. She was appointed the
Justice of the Peace in 2005 and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star by the Government of the Hong Kong in 2013.

Ms. Choy is currently an independent non-executive director of
Jutal Offshore Qil Services Limited (stock code: 3303.HK), a listed
company in Hong Kong. She was an independent non-executive
director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (stock code: 988.
HK) from June 2009 to September 2023, a listed company in Hong
Kong. She was also an independent non-executive director of
Evershine Group Holdings Limited (a company previously listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8022.HK but was delisted in
October 2022), from May 2015 to January 2021.

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly (BR#&£355), JP, aged 53, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 11
August 2023. She is currently the managing director of Peony
Consulting Services Limited, a company which is principally
engaged in provision of business advisory services. Ms. Chan is also
an independent non-executive director of Aluminum Corporation
of China Limited, the H shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2600.HK) and the A shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601600.SH),
an independent non-executive director of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 144.HK) and an independent non-
executive director of Morimatsu International Holdings Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2155.HK).

In October 2020, Ms. Chan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace
by the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
in recognition of her remarkable public services and contribution
to the community. In March 2022, Ms. Chan was awarded with
ACCA'’s Advocacy Award for the China region in recognition of her
relentless support for the accountancy profession. Ms. Chan was
the president of ACCA Hong Kong from 2008 to 2009 and was
the president of the Association of Women Accountants (Hong
Kong) from 2020 to 2021. She is currently the council member
of the Association of Women Accountants (Hong Kong) and the
vice chairman of Shenzhen Hong Kong Macau Women Directors
Alliance.
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Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in accountancy from the
City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as City University
of Hong Kong) in 1992. She is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA") and the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. She has over 30 years of experience
in financial and business management. Ms. Chan was previously
responsible for management at various multinational corporations
at LVMH Moet Hennessy Louis Vuitton and Heineken Group. Ms.
Chan has also served at branches of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in
Hong Kong and the United States.

Ms. Chan is currently the chairperson of the Employees’
Compensation Insurance Levies Management Board. She also
serves on the boards of the Air Transport Licensing Authority,
Hong Kong Repertory Theatre and United College Trustees of
the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. Chan was previously
a member of the Council of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong, Education Commission, Quality Education Fund Steering
Committee, Harbourfront Commission, Advisory Committee on
Arts Development of Hong Kong, the board of the Inland Revenue
Department, the Independent Commission on Remuneration for
Members of the Executive Council and the Legislature, and officials
under the Political Appointment System of Hong Kong, Hospital
Governing Committee of the Buddhist Hospital, Hospital Governing
Committee of the Rehabaid Centre, the Kowloon Regional Advisory
Committee of the Hospital Authority, Occupational Safety and
Health Council and the board of directors of Ocean Park Hong
Kong.

Mr. Gao Wei (51&), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023. He is currently the
company secretary of Zhongguancun Science-tech Leasing Co.,
Ltd. (PR EHEHEER D BRR A F]), the H shares of which are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1601.
HK). Mr. Gao has extensive experience in corporate financing and
managing overseas-listed companies. He first joined the The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) Council in 2013 and served
as a Vice-President from 2014 to 2020 and 2022 to 2023. He is
the Chief representative of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute Beijing Representative Office from 1 January 2024.
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Mr. Gao now serves as an independent non-executive director
of Guolian Securities Co., Ltd., (HEtE AR HDBER A7), the H
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1456.HK) and the A shares of which are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601456.SH). He served
as one of the vice chairman of the board secretary committee of
China Association of Public Companies (B A Al =) from
November 2015 to November 2018. He served as a director of
Sinotrans Air Transportation Development Co., Ltd. (FR4MNEZ=
EERERMHERAR]), a company previously listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600270.SH) from November 2011 to
June 2019 and the general manager of the company from January
2016 to June 2019, primarily responsible for overall operation and
management, and he served as the legal representative of the
company from January 2017 to August 2019. He served as the
board secretary and company secretary of Sinotrans Limited (#
SNERE {7 B BR A A]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0598.HK) from January 2003 to December 2016, primarily
responsible for secretarial work; he served as the general counsel
of Sinotrans Limited from January 2010 to June 2019, primarily
responsible for legal affairs.

Mr. Gao obtained a bachelor’s degree in management engineering
from University of Science and Technology Beijing (3t EHE X
&) in 1989, and further obtained a master’s degree in economics
from Central University of Finance and Economics (F7 58 B 4% A £2)
in 1993. He obtained a doctor’s degree in law from University of
International Business and Economics (¥14MNE 752 5 A E2) in 1999.
Mr. Gao was accredited as a PRC lawyer by the Ministry of Justice
of the People’s Republic of China in 1996. He is a fellow member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Mr.
Gao is also an arbitrator of each of China International Economic
and Trade Arbitration Commission, China Maritime Arbitration
Commission, Beijing Arbitration Commission and Shanghai
Arbitration Commission.

* The English translation of the name is for reference only. The official name of
the entity is in Chinese.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. Chan, Ka Lai (FRE &), aged 37, is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group
in August 2023. She is primarily responsible for overseeing the
overall financial position and accounting matters of the Group
and overseeing corporate governance and maintaining risk
management and internal control system. Ms. Chan is a member
of Hong Kong Institutes of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Chan
holds a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Baptist University. Prior to joining the Group, she was the deputy
general manager of Finance Department of CMHT.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance in accordance with the principles of good
corporate governance, to formulate good corporate governance
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in
operations, and to strengthen the internal control system from
time to time so as to ensure we meet the expectations of the
Shareholders.

During the Financial Period under Review, the Company has
adopted and complied with all applicable code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code"”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any
one individual. Mr. Li Guanpeng, the chairman of the Company
and an executive Director, is responsible for formulating the
Group's strategic planning and the overall business development
and overseeing overall management and operation of the Group,
while Mr. Hui Chi Kwan, the chief executive officer of the Group
and an executive Director, is responsible for overseeing day-to-
day management of the Group and reporting to and executing
decisions from the Board. There is a clear division of responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors.
Following a specific enquiry made by the Company on the
Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
Financial Period under Review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising
the overall management of the Group’s business. The Board is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by providing effective leadership and direction to its business,
formulating group policies and business directions, monitoring
internal controls and performances, and ensuring transparency and
accountability of its operations. The powers and duties of the Board
include convening general meetings and reporting the Board’s
work at the Shareholders’ meetings, determining the business and
investment plans, preparing the periodic financial budgets and
reports, preparing the financial accounts, overseeing the financial
reporting process, formulating proposals for profit distributions
and exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred
by the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) of the Company. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference
which are published on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Company has established relevant mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and
conducted review of such mechanisms on an annual basis.
Members of our audit committee are independent non-executive
Directors who are able to bring independent and objective views to
the Board.

The mechanism is disclosed below:

1. The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third
of its members being independent non-executive Directors
(or such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing
Rules from time to time), with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Further, independent non-executive Directors will be
appointed to board committees as required under the Listing
Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views
are available.
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2. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination
Policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to
assess annually the independence of independent non-
executive Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise
independent judgement.

3. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence.

4. The Board assesses and reviews the time contributed by each
independent non-executive Director and their attendance to
meetings of the Board and the board committees so as to
ensure that every independent non-executive Director has
devoted sufficient time to the Board to discharge his/her
responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

5. The Directors, upon reasonable request, may seek external
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense,
to assist the performance of their duties.

6. The chairman meets with the independent non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the other Directors
to discuss matters relating to the Group.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

The management of the Company is accountable to the Board
and performs the following major duties: reporting to the Board,
executing the resolutions of the Board, and completing all the tasks
assigned by the Board.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Financial

Period under Review:

ESEAMX

REBYBRBREA - EFEH FIEFAMN

Executive Directors BITES
Length of
Directors Gender Age service (years)
= 4 51 FiR PR % £ HA (£F)
Li Guanpeng (Chairman) Male 57 0.4
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
FEE(EE) (RZFE-_=F\H+—HEZ) eS|
Cui Qian (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023) Female 53 0.4
EFR-FEZ=F\H+—HEZE) z
Lu Rong (appomted with effect from 11 August 2023) Male 44 0.4
BERR-FEZ=F A+ —HEZE) 2
Liu Yunfeng Male 54 0.4
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
BB (R-F-_=F A+ —HEZE) S
Huang Shengchao Male 52 0.4
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
ERBR-E_=F A+ —HEZF) ES
Wang Kanglin Female 39 0.4
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
ITRMR-FE-_=F A+ —HEZE) z
Lin Tsz Fung Male 52 5.9
MF g B2
Hui Ngai Fan Female 45 5.9
SRS %
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Length of
Directors Gender Age service (years)
= g%zl FiR PR % £ 5 (£F)
Sze Irons Male 62 5.0
M4 iz E=
Choy So Yuk Female 73 5.0
B2EE 58
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly Female 53 0.4
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
RESR-_FE-_=FN\H+—HEZT) z
Gao Wei Male 57 0.3
(appointed with effect from 28 September 2023)
RERZFEZ=ZFAAZTNNHEZE) 3
Lee Ka Lun Male 68 4.8
(retired with effect from 28 September 2023)
PEBR_FE_=FNHA=—1/VHRE) ES
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The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. Ms. Hui Ngai Fan, a former executive Director who
resigned with effect from 12 April 2024, is the sister of Mr. Hui
Chi Kwan, an executive Director appointed with effect from 12
April 2024 and the chief executive officer of the Group. Save as
disclosed above, there was no financial, business, family or other
material relationship among the Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors have extensive experience
in different areas or professions and will give independent advice
to the Board from time to time. By their active participation in
Board meeting and by their service on various Board committees,
the independent non-executive Directors contribute in important
ways to the making of the Group. The terms of appointment of the
independent non- executive Directors are set out on page 103 to
104 of this report.

During the Financial Period under Review, the Board had at all
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
confirmation of independence in writing pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent and have met the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the Financial Period under
Review.

EHEEENBEF AR AR EEREA
RG]~ -
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RIEF7% ~ %7 KB HMERBR -
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R BIYFATERRLEERL2RESTEER
UEHEBREEFERE S RAKENE WA
ERBEARFELERNER - BUFNTES
MR IEREANAREF103EEE104E -

REBEVHRHEAR  EEe a4 LHRE
E310MERQIEEEINABREBEEEL =4
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BRBUFATESFHERELMRANE3.13
GBI EREEEMR -  ENEHER - &
NRARRERBUIIFNTEETNEREM BURE
NEBBELAL  BEME EWRAE3 13K
P& BRI o

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @36 01Z i B R 2 7

Annual Report 2023 E #fi 4

51



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES ¥ EAE R

BOARD MEETING

The Board scheduled five meetings during the Financial Period

ExeX0EYBYEETTAREE  &E

under Review. The attendance of each Director for board meetings EHHFEEE €@ LREASHNERH N
and general meetings is set out as follows: N
Number of
board meetings
attended during Number of
the Director’s general
term of office meetings
in the Financial attended during
Period under Attendance the Director’s Attendance
Review rate term of office rate
] 8 B B
EESEHR EESEHR
HEESEER HERRKS
Name of Director EENE RE HER RE HER
Li Guanpeng"' ZRAlE 3/4 75% 11 100%
Cui Qian™ B 4/4 100% 0/1 0%
Lu Rong™ B g 3/4 75% 1/1 100%
Liu Yunfeng™ B|EiE 4/4 100% 0/1 0%
Huang Shengchao™ EHRRE 4/4 100% 0/1 0%
Wang Kanglin™ F M 4/4 100% 11 100%
Lin Tsz Fung HF I 5/5 100% 0/1 0%
Hui Ngai Fan RS 5/5 100% 11 100%
Sze Irons MEER R 5/5 100% 11 100%
Choy So Yuk BEE 4/5 80% 1/1 100%
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly™ BRIE A *2 4/4 100% 11 100%
Gao Wei"? =E 3/3 100% 171 100%
Lee Ka Lun™ PR 2/2 100% N/A N/A
AN B A4 F

. Mr. Li Guanpeng, Ms. Cui Qian, Mr. Lu Rong, Mr. Liu Yunfeng, Mr. Huang
Shengchao and Ms. Wang Kanglin were appointed as executive Directors with
effect from 11 August 2023.

2 Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 August 2023.

3 Mr. Gao Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 28 September 2023.

4 Mr. Lee Ka Lun retired as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 28 September 2023.

The Company expects to hold at least four Board meetings per year
at approximately quarterly intervals, with special Board meetings
being scheduled as required. Formal notice of at least 14 days will
be given in respect of a regular meeting, while for special Board
meetings, reasonable notice will be given.

FRIMS AL - Eff AL BEERELE  FTERE  FJR
BAERIEMZLEZEAARRNTESE 8%
“=FEN AT -HREN-

REFZLEZERARRBIIIFATES BT
=FNAT—HEER -

BEAERRERARRABUIFNTERE BT =
FAAZHNBRER -

FRBIEEREAARBIIRNTES AT -=F
NAZHNBRER -

ARBERAEFEIETOREEEEZ(WE
FE-R) URBTEZETEFERIESE -
RETEHERMEHERLEL14RENXSE
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee to assist in carrying out its responsibilities and functions.
Each of these committees has specific written terms of reference
setting out its duties and authorities, and are available for review on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The committees have sufficient resources to execute their requisite
duties and enjoy the support of the management.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee are to assist the Board
by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system of the Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and
review the policies and to perform other duties and responsibilities
as assigned by the Board. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sze Irons, Ms.
Choy So Yuk and Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly. The chairman of the
audit committee is Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly.

The audit committee meets at least twice a year. Three meetings
were held during the Financial Period under Review. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

EFXRET

EECeERVY=BZEE  NHR/REXZE
C FHNERESRIERZES  UMBERET
BENMBE SZEEHITAABNEEBE
#HE EFHINZBSHRBGLERE  YAR
RARRBRABUMERN  RZE8GHEAR
RERANITEMLBBITORS  UHEAEE
B HISTHF ©

BEREEE

ERREENIZRBANAKENMBERE
BIE - AEBEI TR K B B IR R AT YA AR 9B
VEANGHESE EBEFERBRE  fIEk
BABEBRRARBITEESEIRAE MR
EBE BRZEQ@H-RBUIFNTESRMH
B DRIREERERE HEEXEREILRES
Xt - BERZEGIFRARESFLL -

ERZEGEFRLBITMAGHE - BREER
EREBEYBHERITT=ZREF FKEZ

R BFIIT

Number of
audit committee
meetings
attended during
the Director’s
term of office
in the Financial
Period under

Review Attendance rate

A B /B8 B B R

EEETHR

HEBREZEES
Name of Director EEHF = P HE =R
Sze Irons i <L 3/3 100%
Choy So Yuk BEE 3/3 100%
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly" PRiEF* 2/2 100%
Lee Ka Lun™ TRE? 11 100%

o Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 August 2023. She was appointed as the chairman
of the audit committee with effect from 28 September 2023.

2 Mr. Lee Ka Lun retired as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the audit committee with effect from 28 September 2023.

" RESUTEZERARRBUIFNTEE B T
ZFENAT—HER REZERERZESIR 8
“EC=ZFAACTNAHRES -

N

FRBAERTIARABUIFNTEERERZESE
BT =FNAZtTN\BBRER -
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During the Financial Period under Review, the audit committee had
performed mainly:

(i) reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31 March
2023 and for the six months ended 30 September 2023;

(i) reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems;

(i) reviewed the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of
engagement;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the
2023 audit fees.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee include (but
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Directors
regarding the policy and structure for the remuneration of all
the Directors and senior management of the Group and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policies; (ii) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management; (iii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives; and (iv) considering and approving the grant
of share options to eligible participants pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme. The remuneration committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. Choy So Yuk, and Mr. Lu Rong. The
chairman of the remuneration committee is Mr. Sze Irons.
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During the Financial Period under Review, the remuneration
committee held one meeting to review matters related to the
performance and remuneration structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Company. The attendance of each
member is set out as follows:

REEMBHBREA FMEE e AEM—
22%%' BARBEZNSRE EEAE%EE&

FNERSHEEER - SKE ZHEXRFIINM

I

Number of
remuneration
committee
meetings
attended during
the Director’s
term of office
in the Financial
Period under

Review Attendance rate

A [0 R Bt P R

EEETEHR

HETHMEES
Name of Director BEEHS BERE HE=E
Sze Irons it 11 100%
Choy So Yuk BEX 171 100%
Lin Tsz Fung™ RF U+ 1/1 100%
Lu Rong"™? B g x2 N/AZ 3 FA N/AZ 3 FA

" Mr. Lin Tsz Fung resigned as a member of the renumeration committee with ~ * MFBREEFHEFHEESNE B -T_=FN\A+

effect from 11 August 2023.

2 Mr. Lu Rong was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
renumeration committee with effect from 11 August 2023.

During the Financial Period under Review, the renumeration
committee had performed mainly:

(i)  conducted an annual review of the policy and packages of
remuneration for executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and senior management based on their performance;

(i) considered, reviewed and approved the performance bonus
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 for the Directors
and senior management of the Group;

(iii) reviewed and approved the terms of service contracts and
remuneration packages to executive Directors and senior
management newly appointed.
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Nomination Committee

The primary function of the nomination committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of members of
the Board. The nomination committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director, namely, Mr.
Gao Wei, Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly and Mr. Li Guanpeng. The
chairman of the nomination committee is Mr. Li Guanpeng.

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and benefit
to achieve diversity on the Board to corporate governance and
board effectiveness. The Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In deciding
the composition of the Board, the Company will consider the Board
diversity from various perspectives with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs, including but not limited to
gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional experience.

All appointments of the Board are based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of a balance of skills, experience and
diversity on the Board. The nomination committee has primary
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board and shall give adequate consideration to
this policy in selection of board candidates. To ensure changes to
the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption,
a formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors. The
nomination committee will consider candidates on merit and
objective criteria, including his/her ability to dedicate sufficient
time and attention to the Company’s affairs, contribute to the
diversity of the Board as set out in the Board Diversity Policy as
well as effectively support the Board of their responsibilities, in
order to determine whether a candidate is qualified before making
recommendations to the Board.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives (including
gender diversity) as set out in the Board diversity policy. During
the Financial Period under Review, our Board comprised twelve
members, including three female executive Directors and two
female independent non-executive Directors. Going forward, the
Company will continue to maintain gender diversity on the Board
through certain measures to be implemented by our Nomination
Committee in accordance with our board diversity policy and
nomination policy. Through the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company and the annual assessment by Nomination Committee
on the Board structure, the Company could develop a pipeline of
potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.
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Workforce Diversity

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 1,322 (including
senior management) employees, including 962 female and 360
male employees, representing a female-to-male ratio of 3:1, which
demonstrated a gender balance in the Group’s workforce. Gender
is neutral in the Group’s recruitment process as no position requires
any particular capability or skill that is regarded as better performed

by one gender than another.

During the Financial Period under Review, the nomination
committee held one meeting. The attendance of each member is

set out as follows:

EBEZHL

WZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H AEHEH
1322%EE(BiEEREREE)  B21E9624
ZHER3I0BFEHEE  WHEESENLH A
31 HEEREASEESNERFE - A&
AEBNBERRETRBAY  WERUESZEMT
M ERNE NS FEERALS —BHRIKRR
BEL o

REBEYBHRE - REZEERTT K
& BB ZHFEXRFEINMT

8

Number of
nomination
committee
meetings
attended during
the Director’s
term of office
in the Financial
Period under

Review Attendance rate

P E R A

EESTEHR

HEREEES
Name of Director EEHF 2R i R
Li Guanpeng™' FRAME~ N/ATNE A N/ATNE
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly™ BRIz A2 N/A 3 N/A 3
Gao Wej™ SE*3 N/ATNE N/AT i3 A
Choy So Yuk™ BEEE 1/1 100%
Hui Ngai Fan's FFER S *e 11 100%
Lee Ka Lun’® TR e 11 100%

" Mr. Li Guanpeng was appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of ”

the nomination committee with effect from 11 August 2023.

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of nomination committee with effect from 11 August
2023.

Mr. Gao Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of nomination committee with effect from 28 September 2023.

Ms. Choy So Yuk resigned as the chairman and a member of the nomination
committee with effect from 11 August 2023.

Ms. Hui Ngai Fan ceased to be a member of the nomination committee with
effect from 11 August 2023.

Mr. Lee Ka Lun retired as an independent non-executive Director and ceased
to be a member of the nomination committee with effect from 28 September
2023.

FRBTLEEZEANTERRREZRGER 8=
Zo=F A+ —BRER -

2 MEEFLTEZTABIUFNTESTRIERZEER
B BT =FN\A+—RABER-

3 SEEERZERB N TEERIEREZEGNKE -
BT =FNAAZ+\HRBER-

Y BRFLIBERERZBEEIRNKE BT -=F
NA+—HRBER -
S MRFRLTBAREEZEENKE AT -_=F/\A

T EREX -

° ERBEERTBUFNTESZRTHAREBZEGNK
8 BT =FNAZF+NBRER-

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @36 01Z i B R 2 7

Annual Report 2023 E #fi 4

57



58

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

TEERER

During the Financial Period under Review, the nomination
committee had performed mainly:

(i)  reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

(i) reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and its effectiveness;

(iiiy assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and confirmed that all independent non-executive
Directors are considered independent;

(iv) proposed the Directors for re-election at AGM,;

(v)  made recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of Mr. Li Guanpeng, Ms. Cui Qian, Mr. Lu Rong, Mr. Liu
Yunfeng, Mr. Huang Shengchao, Ms. Wang Kanglin, Ms.
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly and Mr. Gao Wei as Directors.

The nomination committee will continue to review the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity policy on
an annual basis, and discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

DIRECTORS' LIABILITIES INSURANCE

During the Financial Period under Review, the Company had
arranged for appropriate and adequate insurance cover to protect
the Directors from legal action arising from the performance of
their duties as a Director. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and
renewed by the Board on an annual basis.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
of the Group’s senior management (excluding the Directors of the
Company) fell within the following bands:
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Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =% 1,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7 £ 2,000,000 7T -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T 1
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Pursuant to the CG Code C.1.4, all Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the Financial Period under Review to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors though having delegated
the corporate governance duties to the audit committee which
include, but are not limited to:

1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

3) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

During the Financial Period under Review, the audit committee
fulfilled the requirement of code provision A.2.1.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the current
external auditor of the Company, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
for the audit services and non-audit services for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

R ED B &=

BREE-_T_=F+-_A=+—HIEAEAH
A BUR 75 I RIS E S T AR A R
EINBRZBENE KM (BB G EEMAR
NEINME S TEIINT

Nature of Service i By =1 Fees Paid/Payable
B ENER

HK$

BT

Audit services ZH R 990,000
Non-audit services I ZBARTE 250,000
Total Bt 1,240,000

The above fees for non-audit services mainly represent the fees for
the auditor’s service in relation to the review of the Company’s
interim results.

Renumeration that should be paid to the former external auditor
of the Company, BDO Limited, for the audit services and non-audit
services for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 is nil.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company for the
nine months ended 31 December 2023, and confirmed that the
financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any undisclosed material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ko Wilson Wai Shun was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 1 January 2021. Mr. Ko Wilson Wai Shun is an
external service provider to the Company and a solicitor practising
in Hong Kong. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the Listing Rules. The primary
contact persons between the Company and Mr. Ko Wilson Wai
Shun were Ms. Cheng Wai Kam, Kennex, the former chief financial
officer of the Company and Ms. Chan Ka Lai, the current chief
financial officer of the Company.

Ms. Ko Wilson Wai Shun resigned from the position of the
company secretary of the Company and Ms. Chan Ka Lai, the
chief financial officer of the Company has been appointed as
the company secretary of the Company, both with effect from 1
January 2024.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company has adopted a series of internal control policies and
has implemented risk management policies to address various
potential risks identified in relation to the Group’s operations,
including operational risks, credit risks, market risks, financial risks
and legal risks.

e The risk management and internal control systems adopted
by the Company are designed to manage rather than to
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

e The audit committee is responsible for reviewing the
internal control systems and procedures for compliance
with the requirements prescribed by the applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company,
and through the audit committee, conducts an annual
review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in its financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.
If defects are discovered during the review, the Board and
the chief executive officer will review such defects and make
corresponding plans to resolve them, taking into consideration
the available resources.

RNEWE

w

h%?pf‘ﬁi)%_?:fi A—REZERN
NAME - SEREER/R—BHARQFIN
E%E’\Jﬁﬁﬁ‘%%%ﬂ’ﬂﬁi%}\% W RBEAARR
Bb - WER EMRABEL M DR5/ N
HEEXEEI - ARFRTHHAEHES
t&ﬁ/‘ﬂﬁ&ﬂﬁ“?@%ﬁ%%‘i%ﬁiﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
NEESEREEBEHOTEREA -

SERLLAEBEARAATNME B AR
A BREREBR T O ERERALA
WE -BHE-T-MFE-A-HBEM

RRREE 12 K b B

ARRRDRA— RFARBE R Y B HE TR
REERR  UWEHSERASEZERRN

ERABERR  BREERR
mBEK - MR MEERR

CEEER -

o ARARMZEBREERAILEZERS
E%ﬁﬂﬁ#iéﬂﬁ?ﬂi i)ﬂi%i‘%ﬁ%ﬁ’]ﬂ
- MARERTEEERNKRERMRK
Té!ﬁ‘if’ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ#%ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ%% °

%EW*M %IJ/\,;L&%EF“
R oo é%‘\%f$“ﬂﬂﬁﬂ ﬁEﬁ&WE‘B
2 R4 ILL%@%DAKT$EIE’J
[\ B 3R % B E %‘J%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁx
BARESIA R BB E IR dﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁxﬁ(lﬁ
HEITFEES - MREFESBREPERR
o BERGRTHRAHKESEMRE -
WA ZRENRAEROBERT 6 E A8 &
SRR E LEFRFE o

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @36 01Z i B R 2 7

Annual Report 2023 E #fi 4

61



62

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES ¥ EAE R

e The Company does not have an internal audit function but will
review the need for one annually. Given the Group’s simple
operating structure, the management is of the opinion that
instead of setting up an internal audit department, it would
be more cost effective to engage an independent external
professional party to review on an annual basis the internal
control systems and measures of the Group and report to
the audit committee. Furthermore, a compliance team which
includes the chief financial officer has been established to
organise, review and maintain the internal control system and
to provide assistance to the Directors, senior management and
employees with respect to the internal control policies. The
Company convenes meetings periodically to discuss financial,
operational, compliance and risk management control.

e The Directors and senior management keep track of day-to-
day operations and monitor any associated operational risks of
the Group and formulate policies and resolutions to mitigate
or resolve these risks.

e Trainings are provided to relevant employees in order
to enhance their industry knowledge and to encourage
encompassing culture of risk management to ensure that
the relevant employees are aware of and responsible for risk
management.

e During the Financial Period under Review, the Company has
engaged external legal advisers to advise the Company on
compliance with and provide updates on the changes in the
Listing Rules and the applicable Hong Kong laws, rules and
regulations from time to time and as required.

e The Company has established procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information, to
ensure that inside information and sensitive information in
relation to the Company will remain confidential until the
disclosure of such information is appropriately approved.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems were adequate and effective during the
Financial Period under Review.

o ARFRIEBARIMEZLBE  BRHEBFEL
EERBMBERY - ENAKENKELER
e BEEERL  HEZXTANIEZH
Fl - FNREBIMNINBEXRRBEEFE
EAREENNEIZEG R LG - X RE
REEEWME  ERENENAME - It
Sh - RRBIRK — BB EM B REER
MEREEK  AEEM BENREEAR
EHRIRM - UHRALEFIBRAES &
REERERETRHEHE - ARBEHA
ez Uatwmdf 8% af kAR
IR o

s EEXNRATEERNERETEZR
N BEAAKBEMAAERENELRR - I
1l TE BR AR BOR 38 PARL B X g RS e LR o

o REBETIRHIZI - AESKRENTE
o Y EEE TR EEXE - AR
RIEBETHRBREENRELEE

o TGOEMBEHE  ARABEEREINEER
BE - slBT ETmRAEERNEEE
?RAERNES  TRMZFER
RRRREEFFER

. ARFBRRIERRRHRENLNEF
AP ES I I - SARRIR IR A A FI D A
0K B RS T B B A —
BR -

EFeRA REBEMEBEHEA  KNEBEHE
BREENAREIZERGRDBAR

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7
Annual Report 20235 E &



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES ¥ &

B
3k
i

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has no fixed dividend policy specifying a dividend
payout ratio. The amount of any dividends to be declared will be
subject to the decision of the Board and will depend on, among
others, the Group’s results of operations, available cashflows,
financial condition, operating and capital requirements, the
Articles of Association, the Companies Laws, applicable laws and
regulations and any other factors that the Directors deem relevant.
Dividends may only be paid out of the distributable profits of the
Company as permitted under the applicable laws and shall not
exceed the amount determined by the Board.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals
or make a motion at the annual general meetings of the Company
("AGMs") under the Articles of Association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or
motions may, however, convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company (the “EGM") in accordance with the “Procedures
for Shareholders to Convene an EGM" set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

In accordance with article 57 of the Articles of Association, an EGM
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the general meetings of the Company. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting should be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.
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Any requisition to convene an EGM or proposal to be put forward
at the general meeting can be addressed to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 11th Floor, C-Bons
International Center, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong marked with the attention of the Board or
the company secretary of the Company. The requisitionists must
state in their requisition(s) the objects of the EGM to be convened,
and such requisition must be signed by all the requisitionists. Upon
receipt, the Company will verify the requisitionists’ particulars and
shareholding and if the requisition is in order, the Company will
convene the EGM in accordance with the Articles of Association.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order,
the requisitionists concerned will be advised of the outcome and
accordingly, the Board will not convene the EGM and/or include the
proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the requisitionists
at the EGM.

Communications with Shareholders

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure effective communication with Shareholders. Under the
policy, the Company’s information shall be communicated to the
Shareholders through general meetings, including AGMs, the
Company's corporate communications (including, but not limited
to, the annual report, the interim report, notices of meeting,
circulars and proxy forms), information and materials on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ communication policy including steps taken
at the AGMs and the handling of queries received (if any) which
were conducted during the Financial Period under Review and
considered the Shareholders’ communication policy to be effective
and adequate.

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for publicly
available information and provide comments and suggestions to
the Directors or the management of the Company. Such questions,
requests and comments can be addressed to the Company by mail
to 11th Floor, C-Bons International Center, No. 108 Wai Yip Street,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
by mail to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or
by telephone at (852) 2862-8555, who has been appointed by the
Company to deal with Shareholders regarding share registration
and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to reflect the change of financial year end date of the
Company, and the arrangements pursuant to a Voting Undertaking
(as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 4 August
2023) dated 4 August 2023, the Board has put forward to the
Shareholders a special resolution to adopt a new set of Articles of
Association in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing
Articles of Association. On 28 September 2023, a special resolution
for adopting the new set of Articles of Association in substitution
for and to the exclusion of the existing set of Articles of Association
was passed by the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 5 September 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
6 September 2023. The up-to-date Articles of Association (in
both English and Chinese) is available on the websites of both the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Overview

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) recognizes the
significance of sustainable development in the Group’s business
operations regarding the environment and the well-being of the
community. The Group is committed to considering environmental,
social and governance aspects through integrating them into
its business operations, as well as promoting sustainability in its
business activities.

The Group, as a responsible corporation, recognizes its role in
promoting industry sustainability and has adopted sustainability
features in its business operations. In order to develop its
sustainability plan, the Group intends to strengthen partnerships
with key stakeholders in the future.

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social,
and Governance ("ESG”) report (the “Report”). This Report
summarizes the Group’s ESG initiatives, plans, and performances
for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 (”Financial Period
under Review") and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable
development.

Reporting Scope

The Group’s business operations consisted of head office,
warehouse and retail stores located in Hong Kong, Macau and
Mainland China in the Financial Period under Review. The reporting
boundary is restricted to operations which contributed the major
source of revenue to the Group during the Financial Period under
Review. There were no major assets excluded from the reporting
boundary.

Reporting Basis

The Report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in the Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) as set out by the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
In preparation of the Report, the Group strictly adhered to the
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency to
disclose the ESG-related measures and performances.
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Reporting Principles

In preparation of this Report, our Group has conducted due
diligence to adhere to the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG
Reporting Guide:

e Materiality — The materiality assessment has ensured the
Report addresses the most material ESG topics pertaining to
our businesses.

e Quantitative — The Report strives to disclose quantitative
metrics and related targets whenever possible, to demonstrate
our impact. The quantitative KPI and the information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
tools used for the quantitative KPI, and the source of
conversion factors being used are, where applicable, disclosed
in the Report.

e  Balance — The Report presents an unbiased representation of
our ESG management approach and performance. It avoids
misleading omissions and presentation.

e  Consistency — Whenever deemed material, the Report details
the standards, tools, assumptions and/or source of conversion
factors used, as well as explanations of any inconsistencies to
previous reports.

The corporate governance disclosure of the Group was prepared
in accordance with all applicable code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code under Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules. Information regarding the Group’s corporate governance
was set out separately in the “Corporate Governance Report” in
this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENT

We consider ESG commitments to be part of our responsibilities
and are committed to incorporating ESG factors into our decision-
making process. The Board takes the overall responsibility for the
oversight of the Group’s ESG matters, including policies, measures,
performance and risks, and is committed to incorporating ESG
considerations into its business operations, and pledges to improve
the sustainability performance through resources optimisation in
the operation. Specifically, the Board is charged with strategizing
and implementing ESG action plans, as well as reviewing and
discussing target-setting, performance, opportunities and risks. The
Board regularly listens to and reviews reports on the progress and
major issues of ESG work. The Board integrates ESG concepts into
daily operations, and prioritizes and manages ESG-related matters
and internal and external risks based on macro policy analysis,
internal strategic planning and communication with stakeholders.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Maintaining effective communication and relationship with our
stakeholders is critical and essential to our Group’s continuing
success. Through stakeholder engagement, we are able to
better understand and gauge their expectations thus allowing
development of our ESG strategies. The Group connects with
external and internal partners including employees, customers,
investors, suppliers, business partners, and non-governmental
organisations (“NGOs") through a wide range of communication
channels such as emails, press releases, meetings and site visits, etc.
Apart from the AGM, the Group shares its ESG performance with
the investors and shareholders and collects their feedback through
online meetings, sharing, emails, surveys and press conferences.
We ensure stakeholder inclusiveness in our sustainability decision-
making and priority concerns.
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The Group welcomes stakeholders” comments and suggestions on
its sustainability performance and disclosure. If any stakeholder has
any feedback or suggestions on the Report, please send them to
the Company’s registered office by post (11/F, C-Bons International
Center, 108 Wai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong) or
to our email address at info@bestmart360.com. Your feedback or
suggestions would be immensely helpful to the Group’s continuous
improvement in its sustainability performance.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The issues listed below are considered by the Board to be material
and relevant to the Group’s various environmental and social issues
considered under the ESG Reporting Guide. Through peer group
and ESG framework benchmarking, the materiality of each ESG
topic was determined. This has enabled the Group to prioritise our
ESG actions and allocate resources more effectively. To facilitate
comprehensive understanding of the stakeholders, our ESG report

discloses on all of the topics.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to offering quality products in a
manner that ensures a safe and healthy workplace for the
Group’s employees and minimises the Group’s potential
impact on the environment. The Group will operate in
compliance with all relevant environmental legislation and it
strives to use pollution prevention and environmental best
practices throughout its operations.

The Group's environmental policy therefore is to:

e  Consider environmental concerns and impacts in our
decision making and activities;

e Minimise the production of waste and then reuse or
recycle as much of it as possible;

e Minimise energy use within our operations and
processes in order to conserve supplies and minimize the
consumption of natural resources;

e Where possible, purchase products and services that do
the least damage to the environment;

e  Educate and inform the Group’s employees about the
environmental issues that may affect their work;

e Promote environmental awareness among the Group’s
employees and encourage them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner; and

e Communicate our environmental commitment to
customers and the public and encourage them to
support the Group’s environmental commitments.

The group is principally engaged in retail business in Hong
Kong, Macau and Mainland China and its business operations
do not directly generate industrial pollutants that are generally
regarded as having a high environmental impact such as
hazardous emissions, wastes or pollutants. The Group
understands and respects its responsibility to the environment,
and endeavours to achieve eco-friendly operations
and conservation of resources in pursuit of sustainable
development.
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During the Financial Period under Review, the Group had not
been involved in any material non-compliance issues in respect
of any applicable laws and regulations on environmental
protection.

A.1 Emissions
Air emission

The Group does not directly produce air emissions. The
major source of air emissions is the transportation of
products in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China.
The Group has engaged several external logistic service
companies including a Hong Kong logistic company, and
Macau and Mainland China shipping and logistic service
companies to collect, distribute and/or deliver goods
from the products’ arrival shipping terminal, airport and
warehouse of the forwarders appointed by the Group’s
overseas suppliers, to the warehouses and retail stores
of the Group. As the logistic services are operated
by independent third parties that are not owned by
or controlled by the Group, therefore the retrieval of
relevant data of such emissions in Hong Kong, Macau
and Mainland China are not feasible. Instead, as a
major client of our logistic partners, we engage in close
collaboration with them to minimize the environmental
impact of the transportation fleet through the following
methods:

e streamline the logistic routing and maximise the
loading capacity of each transportation vehicle;

e arrange delivery services to the retail stores in
during non-peak hours;

e encourage our logistics partners to upgrade their
fleet to meet the latest emission standards. For
example, our Hong Kong logistic partner had
upgraded all of its heavy-duty vehicles to the Euro
VI emission standard in 2019; and

e ensure our logistics partners are operating in
accordance with all prevailing environmental laws
and regulations.
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GHG emissions
BERBHRE

Scope 2 Indirect Emission

#E2MZ PR

Total GHG emission

Greenhouse gases (GHG) emission

The only source of GHG emission is Scope 2 GHG
emissions, which were contributed by electricity
consumption (for the exact usage, please refer to A.2
Use of resources). Scope 1 GHG emissions typically
include fuel usage from company-owned/controlled
vehicles or equipment, which is not applicable to our
operations. The data below includes the head office and
warehouse in Hong Kong and retail stores in Hong Kong,
Macau and Mainland China. The Group aims to reduce
its GHG emissions in the coming year to levels below
those of this year.

The GHG emission data is set out in the table below:

Scope 1 Direct Emission

HE1ERIR

REEPIAEE

Discharges into water and land

The disclosure of discharges into water and on land is
not applicable to the Group as store and warehouse
operations do not generate any waste discharges into
water and on land.

Nine months ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z_=t+-A=+—HILEHh{EA

3,359.86

3,359.86
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Non-recyclable Waste

Our waste is categorized as non-hazardous municipal
waste. Depending on the local regulations and
capabilities, we separate the non-recyclable from the
recyclable waste. Waste volume is managed and tracked
internally. We have a number of programs to raise
staff’'s awareness and introduce best practices on waste
management, including that of the office, warehouse
and frontline.

The details of the non-recyclable wastes are listed as
follows:

Non-recyclable wastes

EIEE::2)]

T A EKEY

BAPIHY R 55 2R A FEFE IR M A R T AL
%o RBEMWHSESR REEN - RIIE
AT (3] Y B R P K AT (B MY R W) o)
F o EMEmRANEEIEKIEHE o 3
BEETHERRESEINER - X5
ABMEENREMRE  BREEA
= - RENARATLR ©

PR B E EMEFEIT -

General office wastes
—HANEREY

‘ 1.53 tonnes lf

Disposable utensils from staff meal
BTRERN—RMHEEAR

tonnes Mf

‘ 43.13

A.2

We explore various methods for waste treatment,
considering community needs and viable solutions
tailored to different waste types. Moving forward, we
will enhance our waste data collection processes, assess
and transparently disclose relevant information, and
gradually set appropriate targets on waste reduction.

Use of resources

The Group is committed to complying with all laws
and regulations on managing the use of resources and
strives to become a resource-saving and environmentally
responsible enterprise through the implementation of
various policies and procedures which aims to achieve
higher efficiency in resource use and also reduction in
the overall use of resources throughout the Group’s
operations, where possible.

Use of energy

The major source of energy used by the Group is
electricity, which is mainly used in the general lighting,
air-conditioning and powering of computers, office
equipment and other equipment in the retail stores,
warehouse and office of the Group. The total energy
consumption of the nine months ended 31 December
2023 was 7,317,185 kWh (financial year ended 31
March 2023: 7,115,778 kWh) which is 2.8% higher than
that of the last reporting year and was due to expansion
of the Group's operations. The Group has also strived to
enhance efficiency through various ways such as cleaning
the air conditioners, and will continue to explore ways to
improve energy efficiency in its daily operation.

A.2
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The energy consumption data is set out in the table

below.

Nine months
ended 31
December 2023

BE-T_=

BERHREERIIN TR -

2022/2023

»'"!~. Energy consumption +—A=+-8 —g—=
5 temkng EhiER —g==
Hong Kon
%57%9 9 7,020,717 6,821,952 kWh F F
Indirect energy Electricity Macau
RSt 48 = P 239,219 222,192 kWh FEEF
i 3
Mainland China
57,249 71,634 kWh TR
e B
H (note 1)
Total energy consumption Total 7,317,185 7,115,778 kWh T E&
BelR BB E e HEt
kWh/revenue
Energy intensity (ote2) TEE WA
SEIR B i 2 3,783.7 3,085.8 (HKD Million)
(5 % % )
N\ J

Note 1: The increase in consumption of electricity and the generation of MisE1 . AREVEKARNE N EFEER Ak
carbon dioxide emissions for the Financial Period under Review WERER LAREFERS  TER
as compared to that of last reporting year was mainly due to AR AEENTEERHBE N AEEN
the increase in the number of retail stores of the Group in the IREAR A FTIEAN o phoh + AREEEINE
Financial Period under Review. In addition, the Group increased EEEEEELRRY  THALTE
the product categories to selling frozen foods, therefore more EREZKETERY - SEAEREE
refrigerators are needed for storage which increased the energy M-
consumption.

Note 2: The revenues of the Financial Period under Review and the Mizk2 : ABBEMBHEAE EEAREFEN
last reporting year are approximately HKD1,930,831,000 and WA S RI%A1,930,831,000/8 T &
HKD2,305,907,000, respectively. 2,305,907,000/8 7T ©

Water consumption FEoK

Water usage in the Group’s business operation is minimal
as the Group’'s operation does not consume water.
Water is mainly used by employees for drinking and
personal hygiene purpose in the office, retail stores and
warehouses of the Group and the usage was relatively
insignificant. There was no issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.

BRASENEETNERKR - 8K
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Packaging Material and other resources BRMBRAMEZR

The usage of packaging materials and other resources by REBEBEEREA2BEMBR
the Group in its business operation, which are paper and HEMERABRRERBEMRNEFER
plastic shopping bags, is listed as follows: S0

= Resources

ZE &R

A4 Papers A4 #fi5k 2,541 ream < 5.94 tonnes M
A3 Papers A3 #{3K 260 ream < 2.59 tonnes M8
Thermal paper ZVE4K 109,075 rolls & 8.73 tonnes M
Printer toner fix#? 485 boxes & 0.04 tonnes 1§
Wrapping film B2 4% 37,202 rolls % 76.64 tonnes M
Plastic bags 2 B1% 2,433,774 pieces 49.55 tonnes M#
Carton boxes 4t & 7,180,118 pieces 32 3,260.68 tonnes Mf
Label 154 1,915 rolls % 2.68 tonnes [

The recycling of the resources is listed as follows: EREYIFERETINT

="\ Resources Unit Recycling percentage
Lo BR By EE DL

A4 Papers A4 45K 1.83 tonnes M§ 30.8%
Wrapping film 52 4R i< 51.3 tonnes 8 66.9%
Carton boxes A& 3,260.68 tonnes M§ 100%
Label 2% 0.08 tonnes M 3.0%
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A.3 Impacts on natural resources and management

actions

The Group believes that corporate development should
not come at the expense of the environment. The
Group’s material impact on the environment and natural
resources are in the form of electricity and material
consumption, as well as waste generation. Other
environmental impact such as noise pollution or impact
to biodiversity is not material given the nature of our
business activities. The following summarises our efforts
in reducing our negative environmental impacts.

The Group has adopted the following measures for
energy and resources saving during the Financial Period
under Review:

e switch-off lighting, air-conditioning and computer
monitors when leaving the office areas and
workplaces to reduce electricity consumption;

e automatically switch off non-essential lighting in
office areas and workspaces after office hours;

e install block-out curtains to keep out sunlight and
heat during daytime and maintain a relatively lower
room temperature;

e switch off all non-essential air-conditioning in
retail stores when the retail stores are closed after
operation hours;

e maintain air-conditioning temperature to avoid
power wastage (in office generally at 24-26°C, in
retail stores generally at around 24-25°C in autumn
and winter seasons and at not lower than 19°C in
summer season); and

e Jogin with staff card when photocopying to
encourage paper saving;
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For resources used in daily operation, the following
measures have been adopted:

paperless office is encouraged by using electronic
POS, WMS and M18 and electronic note-taking.
If that is not possible, paper used by the Group is
sourced from suppliers which are certified to be in
compliance with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)
Chain-of-Custody certification and promote double
sided printing, where possible;

collection boxes for one-sided paper are placed next
to printers in office to encourage paper recycling;

very thin thermal paper rolls used by cash registers
of retail stores have been tested to be free from
bisphenol A,

tissue paper and towel paper used by the Group
have been tested to be in compliance with GB
standard 20810-2006 Bathroom Tissue (including
bathroom tissue base paper);

electronic salary statements have been adopted to
exempt paper usage;

time attendance system and leave application
system of employees have been computerized to
minimize paper usage;

ink boxes and toner cartridges used by the Group
are sourced from manufacturers which are certified
to be in compliance with I1SO 9001:2016;

choosing vendors using water-based latex ink
instead of traditional latex ink to print advertising
materials;

garbage classification has been implemented in the
office and warehouse of the Group for the ease of
waste recycling;
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e all circulars and notices to retail stores are sent in
electronic format to exempt paper usage;

e the polybags used by the Group are made of oxo-
biodegradable plastic which have satisfied relevant
product environmental criteria set by Green Council
and have been certified and licensed under the
Hong Kong Green Label Scheme;

e reduced the use of the undegradable plastic wrap
by increasing the use of reusable ropes and nylon
ties in replacement of the one-time packaging
plastic wrap for bounding products and the use
of pallet cage carts to secure products on the
transition from warehouses to retail stores;

e reduced the use of disposable cutlery by increasing
the use of washable cutlery and lunch boxes;

e reduced the use of single-use batteries by increasing
the use of rechargeable electronic products; and

e encouraged effective internal lighting by daylighting
if possible.

In addition, the Group promotes the quantitative
reduction of wastage at source by:

e  reducing food wastage by offering slow-moving and
expiring products at clearance prices to customers;

e no festival gift wrapping in order to reduce the
usage of wrapping paper; and

e strictly complying with the Product Eco-responsibility
(Amendment) Ordinance 2014 and the plastic
shopping bag levy in Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, aiming at growing the business without
depleting the environment and natural resources, the
Group will continue to review its operation and explore
other possibilities to further diminish pollutants and
waste, optimize energy consumption and improve energy
efficiency.
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A.4 Climate Change

Climate change is an issue that the Group is fully aware
of and understands as being one that will inevitably
affect all of the Group’s business operations and its
stakeholders. The Board is responsible for ensuring the
Group is prepared to tackle both physical and transition
climate risks, and the Group’s vulnerability to these
risks. The Group identifies the physical and transitional
risks and related financial and operational impact. It has
implemented a number of mitigation plans and measures
in order to protect its assets against extreme weather
and reduce the carbon footprint from its managed
properties. Climate-related risks have been classified by
the Group into physical and transition risks, which are as
follows:

Physical Risk

Physical climate risks come in the form of extreme
weather conditions in greater frequency and intensity,
as well as rise in sea level. The operations of the Group
are located in Hong Kong and Macau. Extreme weather
conditions such as typhoons and heavy rains are
expected to become more frequent with climate change.
The Group has prepared contingency plans to cope
with these threats. For example, the Group maintains
comprehensive insurance to cover damage to the
Group's assets arising from flooding and typhoons.

Transition Risk

Transition climate risks are the evolution of the
regulatory, technological and market landscape due to
climate change action. It is believed that environmental-
related policies and regulations, such as waste reduction
requirements, will be tightened in the future. The Group
will promote and encourage employees to reduce
waste in their daily business activities, and will also
provide relevant information and resources to enhance
responsiveness. The Group will monitor updates on
climate change-related regulations on a periodic basis.
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SOCIAL

As a responsible business and employer, the Group seeks
to maximize positive impacts on its staff and community,
as well as its business partners. The Group is committed
to consistently looking for ways to meet corporate social
responsibilities.

B.1 Employment and labour practices

Human resources is a critical foundation of the Group’s
operations and is fundamental to achieving the
continued development of the Group. The Group treats
its employees as one of its valuable assets. The Group
generally recruits employees from the open market.
The recruitment process is conducted thoroughly and
monitored by the human resources department to
ensure fairness, factors such as their experience in the
retail industry would be reviewed. The Group is an equal
opportunities employer and is committed to providing
equal opportunities in recruitment and promotion,
regardless of age, gender, race, color, religion,
nationality, marital status or disability.

The Group conducts performance reviews for its
employees periodically and would assess salary
adjustments and promotion appraisals based on their
performance. The Group offers discretionary annual
bonus to all of the employees and, for the front-line
staff, performance-related bonus, sales target bonus and
miscellaneous duties-related allowances. The Group also
offers various benefit plans to the employees, including
staff shopping discounts, top-up leave entitlement and
medical insurance. The Group would regularly review
its remuneration policy to ensure packages offered by
the Group are appealing to employees, which could
persistently increase the loyalty and incentives of
employees.
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During the Financial Period under Review, there was MREEE M BEEA - IR A EE
no material non-compliance with the relevant laws and ﬁﬁ¥¢$%ﬁék%%ﬁ’ﬁﬁ Eaprge-
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group MOERMEBREREN

relating to employment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total workforce RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H K&
and its breakdown are listed as follows: EEEEHMERBHASERIT
Total: 1,322
e

T T
¢ IEN

Male
Gender El i
51
Employment Fu}llﬂ;me
level
RERES  senior management : 2
BREEE
|
3
By
Employment
level
TE B AR
30 below 30-39 40-49
Age 9"°UP 30BEA T 30£395% 40E4975%
FAE R

I\/Iamland China : 7
F X

Geographlcal Hong Kong
region &
i&E g

82 Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7
Annual Report 2023F E &



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERBHRE

Employees’ turnover rates are listed as follows: EBEMEAENAT
Number of Employees Percentage
EEHA Aok

Total
e

By Gender
45

® \Male
B

Female

7t

By Age group
Fian

® 30 below
3055 A T

® 30-39
30E395%
40-49
404955

® 50-59
50E595%

60 or above
605% A £

By Geographical region
&
® Hong Kong
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Macau
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Mainland China
AR A

1,525
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B.2 Employee health and safety

The Group strives to promote safety awareness, improve
occupational environment and reduce occupational risks
and commits to providing a healthy and safe working
environment for its employees. The Group complies
with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
in all relevant requirements. The business operations
do not involve high-risk or safety-sensitive types of
work. To ensure that the business is operated in a safe
environment and staff has the necessary knowledge on
work safety, the Group has adopted and implemented
work place safety guidelines for all our staff in the retail
stores which set out the Group's work safety policies
and promote safety in work sites. The Group has also
conducted training sessions for employees to increase
their knowledge of correct practices for health and safety
in work place.

Accidents that occur in the work place will be reported
to and handled by the human resources department
to ensure injuries that occurred in the work place
will be properly recorded, and that insurance claims
and treatments are effectively pursued to protect the
employees and the Group. The Group has not reported
any fatalities in relation to its work during the reporting
period of the past three years. During the Financial
Period under Review, the number of working days lost
due to work-related injury was 245 days.

B.2 EERFEHZE
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B.3

Apart from raising the health and safety standards in
the Group’s working environment, the management
of the Group also swiftly responded to emergencies to
safeqguard the health and safety of employees at the
work place.

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group had
no non-compliance case regarding violation of relevant
laws and regulations on occupational health and safety.

Development and training

Enabling the Group's employees achieve to their full
potential will ultimately benefit the Group in its future
development plans. The Group provides various types
of training to enhance the competency of our staff. For
the newly recruited employees, orientation trainings
for understanding the company background, code of
conduct, workplace health and safety, customer service
and grooming standard were provided. The Group also
provided operations technical trainings, supervisory skills
trainings and anti-corruption trainings to all staff to
educate the them on the duties to comply with statutory
obligations. A series of supervisory skills training
were conducted to store-in-charge to enhance their
competency.

B.3
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The Group is committed to improve the training
programs to fulfill the needs of business operations and
employees’ personal development. During the Financial
Period under Review, the Group modified the contents
of orientation, operations technical and supervisory skills
training. In addition, the Group provided training and
useful information to enhance employees’ supervisory
skills and anti-corruption knowledge.

Training information is listed as follows:

Percentage of employees trained (%)
EZEINESETDLL(%)

Overall g?’?l 5 1 . 2 5

g

By Gender
5l

® Male
B

Female

poglid

0.14

By Employment level

R

® Senior management
BRERE

Middle management
PARERE

General staff
AEBT

AEEBNEEEIGE - NEEE
BEEREEEAZERNFTE - RO
B BHE - NEBEERAR  2E
Bl R B ITEIINEINAR - it
Sy AEBERHEEIRERE
B ANaEEMEER N RRES
FEH o

BRAFIIERT

Average training hours

F BB
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B.4

B.5

The Group also supports employees’ personal
development through attending external trainings. The
Group would provide sponsorship for the employees’
personal development. Various types of relevant seminars
or training courses are recommended to employees via
email and they can choose to register either in person or
through the Company.

Labour standards

The Group ensures equal opportunities for all employees
and job applicants, particularly in recruitment, internal
transfer, and promotion. Discrimination based on gender,
age, religious belief, race, or any physical disability
is strictly prohibited. Applicants’ identities would be
verified during the recruitment process. The Group
strictly prohibits the use of child labour and forced or
compulsory labour at all of its business units, and highly
values and strictly abides by all applicable labour laws
and regulations on employment in Hong Kong. If child or
forced labour is discovered, the Group will terminate the
employment contract immediately and assist the child to
resume education and contact social workers to follow
up. During the Financial Period under Review, the Group
did not identify any non-compliance cases regarding
violation of relevant child labour and forced labour laws.

Supply Chain Management

To maintain a quality, trendy and broadly appealing
product mix in the retail stores with competitive prices,
the selection of suppliers is crucial in decision-making.
The Group generally maintains stable collaborative
business relationships with the existing suppliers to
regularly review new brands and products available in the
markets around the world to keep abreast of information
on new products available in the international market.
During the Financial Period under Review, the Group
stopped attending international trade shows and
business delegations due to the epidemic.

B.4

B.5
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The Group has maintained a list of suppliers and typically
works with trustworthy suppliers possessing a reliable
corporate background, trading history and reputation.
All of the potential suppliers would be screened by
standardised criteria for evaluating the qualifications.
Documents such as manufacturing and analysis
certificates, health certificates, certificates of origin and/
or attestations, and certificates in relation to food or
products safety and/or quality manufacturing process of
the products, may need to be provided by the potential
supplier for the screening process.

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group
has engaged a total of 429 suppliers, of which 100%
have undergone the supplier screening process. The
geographical region breakdown of the Group’s suppliers
is shown as follows:

AEEER—MHHERRE  WBE
HBEAAELEER  EHEENRE
2 BESEBENHEERSE - ME
BEHEREEREEECEAET
B URTEEER - REEBRE
FoEEHERAETERHALE
EAIESR  RERES  REMWES
R/HEBER URERRIERLT S
E/RERNEERRESABNE
EEXF -

P E B AR - AR E RS 429
EHERARGHE - EH100%5
BETHERGE - AREHERD
I Mean s

Number of suppliers

HEBHE
China [ 62
Hong Kong &% 271
Asia 35 51
Europe B 31
North America 1tZEM 3
South America Fa5EM 1
Australia & New Zealand 2l & 37707 4
Other Efth 6
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Choose the Right Partners Referencing to
International Standards

We encourage our suppliers to adopt responsible
and sustainable practices with respect to a range of
environmental and social issues when engaging with new
suppliers. This process gives preference to suppliers which
integrate considerations for environmental conservation,
protection of endangered species, protection of labour
rights and welfare, equal opportunities, non-participation
in animal testing, and responsible sourcing into their
own operations. When selecting logistics partners for the
distribution of goods from our central warehouse to our
stores, environmental protection is one of our selection
criteria.

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group
implemented an ESG supplier assessment policy (the
"ESG Supplier Assessment”) that makes it mandatory
to assess its major suppliers regarding its ESG practices
during the tender process. In this way, the Group
endeavours to achieve a balance of sourcing from
suppliers that offer competitive pricing and quality
goods and to excluding suppliers that have not complied
with the Group’s requirements on environmental
protection, employee health and rights, information
security requirements and ethics. The ESG Supplier
Assessment also gives preference to those that offer
products that have positive environmental and/or social
characteristics, such as products with recycled packaging
or manufactured by small local businesses.
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B.6

The Group would review approved suppliers periodically
in terms of product quality, services standard and
reputation to ensure product quality and services are
maintained at a satisfactory level. The Group would
assess the appropriateness of packaging of products
provided by individual approved suppliers on their
arrival, the consistency of quality between sample
products and products ordered and delivered, any quality
issue(s) on products provided by individual approved
suppliers and its/their nature and materiality of such
issue(s) and the overall satisfactory level on the quality
of products provided by individual approved suppliers
based on customers’ feedback. Recommendations would
be provided to suppliers which are unable to meet
the guiding standards for periodical review, and the
suppliers will be removed from the list of suppliers until
appropriate remedial measures are taken to the Group’s
satisfaction.

Product responsibility

The Group puts great efforts into maintaining product
quality and safety, which includes establishing
procedures to ensure that the products procured are in
full compliance with the food safety, food labelling and
consumer goods safety-related laws and regulations in
Hong Kong. The Group has set up a quality control team
and they are responsible for monitoring and assessing the
compliance of products to be procured with the relevant
Hong Kong laws and regulations before placing purchase
orders. Relevant documents or certificates that could
warrant the accuracy and completeness of products
should be provided by the suppliers. The Group's logistic
team performs designated quality check procedures
and checks the inclusion of printed label information on
product packages or the status of affixation of applicable
product labels on such products at the warehouse. The
products are checked regularly in store by the front-line
sales to maintain the safety and quality of the in-store
inventory and to ensure relevant product labels are duly
affixed.

B.6
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During the Financial Period under Review, an
independent food testing laboratory had been engaged
to conduct laboratory tests that are necessary for private
label products to safeguard and ensure the compliance
of relevant laws and regulations for such original
equipment manufacturer products, such as product
labels requirements and to uplift food safety standard.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant
laws and regulations on customer data protection and
privacy. The personal information of customers collected
by the Group through the membership scheme are kept
in strict confidence and is only used for specific intended
purposes. The Group has established internal guidelines
to ensure compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group implements a complaint handling procedure.
When the Group receives customer complaints, the
information of the customers and corresponding
stores is recorded. The record is kept for three years
in the customer service department. Each complaint
is investigated and recommendations of solutions,
responses and/or decisions is provided post-investigation.
Exchange or refund is offered if the complaint is valid
and is about unsatisfactory product quality. During the
Financial Period under Review, the Group has received
208 complaints about products and services and no
products were required to be recalled. In the event of
any recall, whether announced by the government,
notified by media, requested by suppliers or identified
during product monitoring process, we will arrange
the goods to be removed from shelves and notify the
staff on the suspension of sales of these products. All
relevant departments will be informed for following up
the incident. Media and PR agencies will be notified after
our investigation when appropriate. The Group will also
share the information with the government departments
upon request.
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant
laws and regulations such as Colouring Matter in Food
Regulations (Cap.132H), Sweeteners in Food Regulations
(Cap.132U), Food Adulteration (Metallic Contamination)
Regulations (Cap.132V), Consumer Goods Safety
Ordinance (Cap. 456), Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Cap. 362), Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), etc. that
constitute a significant impact on the Group in relation
to health and safety, labelling and privacy matters. The
Group’s QA department would perform the random
checking of the goods including packaging and food
labels regularly, the goods department would need to
reprint the correct label and the packaging department
would re-packed the goods if the label is wrong or the
packaging quality is not up to standard. The Group
would accept the punishment for any violations of laws
and regulations. The Group did not have any material
product non-compliance during the Financial Period
under Review.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group respects intellectual property rights and is
committed to observe and comply with the relevant laws
including the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap.
559 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group regularly
consults its legal advisor on any potential issues relating
to infringement of intellectual property rights of third
parties. In addition, in an effort to protect the Group’s
intellectual property rights and interests, the Group’s
trademarks have been duly registered and the Group
will take prompt action to respond to any violation of
its intellectual property rights upon detection, including
but not limited to obtaining legal advice from its legal
advisor on any course of legal action available. During
the Financial Period under Review, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations concerning the intellectual property
and privacy of its products and services that may have a
significant impact on the Group.
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B.7 Anti-corruption B.7

The Group is strongly against bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering and is committed to the
highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. The Group had issued guidelines to
employees on the receiving of red packets or gifts during
the Chinese New Year. All employees must fully comply
with the relevant laws and regulations as well as the
Group's corruption prevention policies.

During the Financial Period under Review, anti-
corruption trainings were conducted for executive
Directors and staffs to enhance their understanding of
the anti-corruption laws as well as to enhance ethical
management and staff integrity. The breakdown of
training participation is shown as follows:

Y
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REFHFI - FIADEROT

Number of directors who have received anti-corruption training

BEXRESHEINESHE 8
Number of staff who have received anti-corruption training

BEXRESHINEIHE 1,342

Employees are encouraged to report any misconduct or
dishonest activity, such as suspected corruption, fraud
and other forms of criminality to the audit committee,
the Board or the chief executive officer. During the
Financial Period under Review, the Group did not identify
any non- compliance cases with laws and regulations in
relation to corruption nor was there any concluded legal
case regarding corruption practices brought against it or
its employees.
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B.8 Community investment

To maintain a high standard of corporate governance,
the Group acknowledges the importance of enhancing
its transparency to the community. The Group actively
participates in various community involvement programs
or charity events to support the development of healthy
life, to cater the needs of local community, to enhance
fraternal cooperation in the community and to create a
better community.

The Group has actively participated in environmental
protection activities and has been accredited the
Certificate of Merit of “Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence” by Hong Kong Productivity
Council.

To celebrate the Hong Kong SAR Establishment and the
National Day, the Group donated a total of 2,400 gift
bags to grassroots families and the elderly in subdivided
units in July and October 2023, with a total value
exceeding HKD460,000. In various districts of Hong
Kong, Kowloon, and the New Territories, BEST MART
360" volunteers went to distribute gift bags and extend
their concerns to the beneficiaries.

To celebrate the 10th anniversary of BEST MART 360",
the Group launched a series of charity activities for
children. First of all, from 26 July to 17 August 2023, we
held a Purchase for Donation event for children. When
a customer purchased any product under “Famillie”,
“Pando” or “Kalbarri” at the FoodVille stores in Hong
Kong and Macau, the Group donated 1% of the
sales, which totaling HK$150,000, to give back to the
community in a series of charity activities in collaboration
with the Hong Kong Society for Community
Organization, benefiting more than 1,000 families. The
charity activities include:

On 28 August 2023, the Group donated 250 shoe
coupons to underprivileged students to meet their needs
in the new school year, so that they could welcome the
new school year with comfort and confidence.
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On 9 and 10 September 2023, the Group held 6 cinema
charter events, inviting over 500 families living in
subdivided units or transitional houses to enjoy the family
carnival cartoon movie.

On 28 September 2023, the Group donated 500 gift
bags to underprivileged families to share festive blessings.
The volunteers also visited a number of families in Sham
Shui Po District to distribute gift bags, and through face-
to-face conversations, they learned about the living
conditions of the beneficiary families and the learning
environment of the school children, and offered care and
warmth.

On 9 December 2023, the BEST MART 360° volunteers
once again collaborated with The Free Methodist Church
of Hong Kong to organise the “BEST MART 360° Charity
Campaign”, delivering lunch boxes and gift bags to 200
elderly people to care for their daily needs.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EE €%

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Financial Period under Review").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the retail sale of prepackaged leisure foods
and other grocery products, which can be broadly categorised
into (i) confectioneries; (ii) packaged bakery products and snacks;
(iii) nuts and dried fruits; (iv) grain and other miscellaneous food
products; (v) beverages and wine; (vi) personal care products; and
(vii) other products. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Financial Period
under Review and a discussion of the Group’s future development
are set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement on pages 8 to
11 of this report and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 20 to 36 of this report. These discussions form part of this
Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business operation, financial condition and results
may be affected by certain risks and uncertainties pertaining to the
Group’s business. Major risks and uncertainties are summarized
below which are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive. There
may be other risks in addition to these shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but could
turn out to be material in the future.

e our ability to identify suitable locations for new retail stores
and successfully negotiate lease agreement for these locations
on terms acceptable to us;

e our ability to obtain sufficient financing for our expansion,
investments or other strategic transactions;

ARFEF(EBERRZEE_T =51
“A=t—HIEAEABE (= RE R B E )&
FEREMEECEEVBHRE

FEER

RARARRB—RREERARF - AEEXERE
BEBRABARMIEMMEERNTE  H
AARBA R (ARG I RER  (VREHEES
RER : (INRECRER  (VRBELREBHEER
o (VERm SOB R ¢ (V)L A IR A ¢ R(viDHE
fEMR - MBARNTIZXBKIANGS M BR
RMFE28

e e

A B 7K 5% [ 4 (o] B B IR B ) PO ) SR 765 [ B S
AREBERNDRERABRELIAEZENE
MITHRAERBERAREE20EEFI6ANE
BEAWEIN - ZEFTREBERAEETERE

W—&bn -

FTERBRTHMREE

AEBMEFEE  MERRREEATESSE
THASEBXEGERNERETHPAEERR
Z - TXEHATEEENRER R THAR
- ARATHFEHEME  BFf TAERSN - 7]
BEER —UAEREARMN  HEZRHLIBEK
BERARRAEEESERNEMER

s AEEAESUASHEMHRARNTEEN
AR PRI LA SR B P RE 32 X IR R ZRR] B R
TR ZF T A T E R BE

o AEEERGENESIAETER KRE
SRR BE 1 X 5 07 E R BE

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7
Annual Report 20235 E &



DIRECTORS’ REPORT EE €%

e our ability to attract, train and retain management talents
required for our expanded operations;

e our ability to obtain all the requisite governmental approvals,
licences and permits in a timely manner;

e our ability to effectively control and manage our costs in our
expanded retail store network, in particular, purchase costs,
and expenses related to rent, logistics, human resources and
marketing; and

e our ability to identify new suppliers and supply sources at
reasonable prices.

Risks related to the global and local economic environment

The global economy faces a complex mix of risks as it navigates
the post-pandemic recovery. In January 2024, the International
Monetary Fund’s “World Economic Outlook Report” forecasted a
steady global growth rate of 3.1% for the year, with a slight uptick
to 3.2% anticipated in 2025. These figures remain below the
historical average, indicating a sluggish recovery. Contributing to
this tempered growth are restrictive monetary policies implemented
by central banks to combat inflation, the withdrawal of fiscal
support as governments aim to manage high debt levels, and
persistently low productivity growth.

Fiscal policies are diverging globally, with some advanced
economies providing more fiscal stimulus than the others, while
emerging markets maintain a neutral stance, with notable
exceptions. This divergence could amplify economic disparities and
slow growth as many countries begin fiscal tightening in 2024.

Uncertainties in the global economy and business environment may
lead to fluctuating exchange rates. As the Group adheres to its
global procurement policy by sourcing products worldwide, part of
the Group's purchase cost, which are settled in foreign currencies,
may increase, negatively impacting profitability.
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The challenging external environment will continue to pose
pressures on Hong Kong's economy in 2024. While the region
experienced a strong uptick at the outset of 2023 following the
pandemic’s downturn, the pace of Hong Kong's economic rebound
has been more gradual than initially expected due to prevailing
global headwinds. Diminished worldwide demand coupled with
elevated interest rates are likely to dampen business investment
and consumer confidence over the short term. These may have
an overall adverse effect on the Group’s business, and results of
operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

A discussion on the environmental policy and performance of the
Group during the Financial Period under Review is set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 66 to 95
of this report. The Environmental, Social and Governance Report
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Financial Period under Review, as far as the Board
and the management are aware, there was no material breach
of or non- compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
by the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet
its immediate and long-term business goals. During the Financial
Period under Review, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserve available
for distribution to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) amounted to approximately HK$330,448,000 (31
March 2023: approximately HK$330,445,000).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Financial Period under Review are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 137 and
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Financial Period under Review and up to
the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Guanpeng (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed with effect from 12 April 2024)
Ms. Cui Qian (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Lu Rong (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Liu Yunfeng (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Huang Shengchao

(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Ms. Wang Kanglin (appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (Former Chairman)

(ceased to be the Chairman with effect from 11 August 2023)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (resigned with effect from 12 April 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sze Irons
Ms. Choy So Yuk
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly
(appointed with effect from 11 August 2023)
Mr. Gao Wei (appointed with effect from 28 September 2023)
Mr. Lee Ka Lun (retired with effect from 28 September 2023)
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Article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company (" Articles
of Association”) provides that at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.
According to Article 87(2), the Directors to retire by rotation shall
be those who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall
(unless otherwise agreed among themselves) be determined by lot.
Accordingly, Mr. Huang Shengchao, Mr. Lin Tsz Fung and Mr. Sze
Irons shall retire by rotation at the Forthcoming AGM in accordance
with the Articles of Association and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the Forthcoming AGM.

According to Article 86(3), any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the following annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. As Mr. Hui Chi Kwan was appointed
as an executive Director with effect from 12 April 2024 to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, he shall refire from office at the
Forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election
at the Forthcoming AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 37 to 46 of this report.
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CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

BRESRITHAZNERNE

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in B FEEI$13.51B(1)E » KRB EERIT
the information of Directors and the chief executive officer of the HKAHAEDEMKBBHEEZEAREBBENE
Company during the Financial Period under Review and up to the — FEHEBEHIMT :

date of this report are set out below:

Ms. Wang Kanglin was appointed as the general manager
(presiding general manager before the change) of the
Enterprise Planning Department of CMHT with effect from 24
November 2023.

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung ceased to be a controlling Shareholder and
became a substantial Shareholder with effect from 4 August
2023.

Mr. Sze ceased to be the chairman and was appointed as
the Life Honorary President of the HKCPPCC (Provincial)
Members Association Limited* (BE& LK EZ EHMES
KIRZEER) with effect from February 2024. In addition,
Mr. Sze resigned as an independent non-executive director
of ST International Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
8521.HK) with effect from 5 December 2023, and Jianzhong
Construction Development Limited (stock code: 589.HK) with
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effect from 21 November 2023.
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e Ms. Choy So Yuk resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (stock code:
988.HK) with effect from 11 September 2023.

e Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly has served on the board of the
United College Trustees of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1 February 2024.

e Mr. Gao Wei was appointed as the chief representative
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute Beijing
Representative Office with effect from 1 January 2024. He
ceased to be the vice-president of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute with effect from 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung and Ms. Hui Ngai Fan have entered into a service
agreement with the Company, pursuant to which each of them
agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years commenced from 11 January 2019, i.e. the listing date of the
Company. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed and
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon the
expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less than six
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Ms.
Hui Ngai Fan resigned as an executive Director with effect from 12
April 2024.

Mr. Li Guanpeng, Ms. Cui Qian, Mr. Lu Rong, Mr. Liu Yunfeng,
Mr. Huang Shengchao and Ms. Wang Kanglin have entered into
a service agreement with the Company, pursuant to which each
of them agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term
of three years commenced from 11 August 2023. The term of the
service agreement shall be renewed and extended automatically for
successive terms of one year upon the expiry of the then current
term until terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. Choy So Yuk and Mr. Lee Ka Lun have entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company, pursuant to
which each of them agreed to act as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company for an initial term of three years
commenced from 11 January 2019, i.e. the listing date of the
Company. The term of the letter of appointment shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon
the expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company, pursuant to which she agreed to act as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company for an initial
term of three years commenced from 11 August 2023. The term
of the letter of appointment shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year upon the expiry
of the then current term until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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Mr. Gao Wei has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company for an initial term of three
years commenced from 28 September 2023. The term of the letter
of appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically for
successive terms of one year upon the expiry of the then current
term until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Hui Chi Kwan has entered into a service agreement with the
Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act as an executive
Director for an initial term of three years commenced from 12 April
2024. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed and
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon the
expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less than six
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has or is proposed to enter
into a service contract or letter of appointment with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” in this
section, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any Director or an entity connected with
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Financial Period under Review or at any
time during the Financial Period under Review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
("SFO")) required to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he or she is taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which will be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, will be as follows:
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Mr. Lin Tsz Fung Interest in controlled 130,000,000 Long position 13.0%
corporation ordinary Shares
(Note 1)
MFIEEE PR PR EIE E B R 130,000,000 #F &
1% & 3 A%
(Hizt1)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan Interest in controlled 130,000,000 Long position 13.0%
corporation ordinary Shares
(Note 2)
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1% & 3 A%
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Notes:

1. These 130,000,000 Shares are directly held as to 71,500,000 Shares (being
7.15% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2023) by United East Global
Limited (“United East”) and as to 58,500,000 Shares (being 5.85% of the
issued Shares as at 31 December 2023) by Universal Tycoon Limited (“Universal
Tycoon”), both of which in turn were wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung.
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is therefore deemed to be interested in the aggregate of
130,000,000 Shares held by United East and Universal Tycoon under the SFO.

2. These 130,000,000 Shares are directly held as to 50,000,000 Shares (being
5.0% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2023) by Sino Sea Enterprises
Limited (“Sino Sea"”) and as to 80,000,000 Shares (being 8.0% of the issued
Shares as at 31 December 2023) by Giant Blessing Global Limited (“Giant
Blessing”), all of which in turn were wholly-owned by Ms. Hui Ngai Fan.
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan is therefore deemed to be interested in the aggregate of
130,000,000 Shares held by Sino Sea and Giant Blessing under the SFO. Ms.
Hui resigned as an executive Director with effect from 12 April 2024.

3. Calculated based on the total issued share capital of the Company of
1,000,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all of its
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions”, at no time
during the Financial Period under Review had the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, and the controlling Shareholders (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any of their subsidiaries entered into
any contract of significance or any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
the controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or,
who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
issued voting shares of the Company or any other member of the
Group:

BRRNERENWER

BRTIXHEXZAEERERS | —BRAKE
FHN - AR B SE AT AP B A B B R B B
BEMBEA - HERERER(EER TR
ANREMBARZEFILENERGHREH
1 R RR S EL Y B A A ) AR ) s B AR AR P R
NERERBHERGL -

FERRAVERIKE

RZTB-_=F+_-_A=+—B BEZEFRXK
o TIALEFSIARFRHITHRABRIN
RARB R AR D A m SR B N
BIRIBE S MR RBI B XVELSF 2 &% 30 #BAY 15
XAARBWE - SRE(EFLBMERD) F
3B6HFEMAARREFENELM - HEKAFEE
BEARASAEEEMEMKE AR EET
BB %A L

Approximate
percentage of
total issued

Class and Shares as at
Nature of number of 31 December
Name of Shareholder Company concerned interests securities held 2023
R-B-=F
+t=ZA=+-8
EARAT
ERITRG
iR % Bmym
RREEE8 gz 2! EamtE ERIREA BABSH
China Merchants Hoi the Company Beneficial Owner 490,000,000 49.0%
Tung Trading Company (Note 1) ordinary Shares
Limited ("CMHT")
BERERESAERAR PN/N] BRBEAAMTL) 490,000,000
(BEEEl) TRk
China Merchants Holdings the Company Interest of 490,000,000 49.0%
(Hong Kong) Co. Ltd controlled ordinary Shares
corporation
(Note 1)
REREEGEHE)ERLAR  ARF REEHEED 490,000,000
() Tk
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Approximate
percentage of
total issued

Class and Shares as at

Nature of number of 31 December

Name of Shareholder Company concerned interests securities held 2023

R-BZ=F

+=A=+-H

EARAT

EBRTRG

Fris®s Bmym

RREEE8 S ARE EaRtE HRIREA BRES

China Merchants Steam the Company Interest of controlled 490,000,000 49.0%
Navigation Company corporation ordinary Shares

Limited (Note 1)

BEREMARLDE PN/N] REEHEED 490,000,000
e (fiat1) 3Tl

China Merchants Group the Company Interest of controlled 490,000,000 49.0%
Limited corporation ordinary Shares

(Note 1)

BEREERRAF PN/N] REEHEED 490,000,000
e (fiat1) 3Tl

United East (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 71,500,000 7.15%
ordinary Shares
SRR (A aE2) VNS BEREAA 71,500,000%
&l

Universal Tycoon (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 58,500,000 5.85%
ordinary Shares
57 (Bit2) VNS EREAA 58,500,0008%
Lk

Sino Sea (Note 3) the Company Beneficial owner 50,000,000 5.0%

ERLEMWE3)

VNS

ESBAA

ordinary Shares
50,000,000/%
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Approximate
percentage of
total issued

Class and Shares as at

Nature of number of 31 December

Name of Shareholder Company concerned interests securities held 2023

R-B=-=F

+=A=+-H

EARAT

ERTRG

Fris®% Bmym

RRHEE BB % AR EmtE HRIREA BRES T

Giant Blessing (Note 3) the Company Beneficial owner 80,000,000 8.0%
ordinary Shares
=ERR(H73) ARF] EREAA 80,000,000%
Tk

Ms. Lee Wai Bing (Note 4) the Company Interest of spouse 130,000,000 13.0%
ordinary Shares
TRk L (H7t4) ARF] [ e 130,000,000
Tk

Notes: Btet -

CMHT is controlled as to 100% by China Merchants Holdings (Hong Kong) Co.
Ltd., which was controlled as to 100% by China Merchants Steam Navigation
Company Limited. China Merchants Steam Navigation Company Limited was
controlled as to 100% by China Merchants Group Limited. Under the SFO,
China Merchants Group Limited, China Merchants Steam Navigation Company
Limited and China Merchants Holdings (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd were deemed to
be interested in the Shares in which the Purchaser was interested in.

Each of United East and Universal Tycoon is wholly owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung.
Under the SFO, Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by United East and Universal Tycoon respectively.

Each of Sino Sea and Giant Blessing is wholly owned by Ms. Hui Ngai Fan.
Under the SFO, Ms. Hui Ngai Fan is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Sino Sea and Giant Blessing respectively. Ms. Hui resigned as an executive
Director with effect from 12 April 2024.

Ms. Lee Wai Bing is the spouse of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung. Under the SFO, Ms. Lee
Wai Bing is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is
interested.

Calculated based on the total issued share capital of the Company of
1,000,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2023.

AreERmBnREE(EE)BRAFZEH100% - M
AHREE (BB ERATOMANREHERAFZE
#100% - AEBWMERATLBEHREEEGR AR
ZH100% © RIFFEZ LMEED - BARKEERA
A BERBMARARLERREE(FEE)ARAT
BWRANE T RARENRN TR ARS -

GRBRNRS S AN FEAEZEERAER - RE
EHRLEEGED MFEBEEBR AR RRE RS
Foy RIS B OB 40 h R e o

FELENDERIEAMARI LI ERSHER °
REEFRBEGRD - FRSLLREAREBLER
SERBADHFENRD P HEER - FLLIR =R
“HFENAT—BRERTES -

FRALLTAMRTFELRENEREG - RIBESRBEK
] FEORL LW BRI 5T B A ER £
B in A o

BT =F+ A=+t HARRMNDBITRAER
1,000,000,000/%515
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the scheme as disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below, at no time during the Financial Period
under Review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate. As at the date of this
report, no share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or in existence during the Financial Period under
Review.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 December 2018, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (“Share Option Scheme”). Details of the Share Option
Scheme are set out below:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the

Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

BERODIEEENLZH

BT X[RER st 8 | — s ENET 8IS R
@EEE\MK,HHF'EEJWTHEJH%F& AR A AR

AABETBEARESHERBARR R
T"JE@&IE’JH&T%%LE%E PAER G M 28 1Y &2
ke RAHRE B - SIERBEBRE SR G
FEAAE

il

BEY

E’\@EEHMAZHHFEJlefﬁﬁi‘}zf&ﬁf'%%ﬁ&
AN

REARAEBHNE2AXEMNEERLSNEG
?@0
EERABRSFHMA T a9

FRSEERAEBRERSHIMA LA H M
HIBEN A M RRMFEN

Bt El
RZFE-NF+ZA+N\B > ARFHEMAT —
Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂé?riﬂ(m%ﬂﬂﬁ"l'_ﬂ) ° AT BIRRE
BEIIT
() BRESTEIMNEHN
BRI E ERARERLHESEE

BBk EREFHAREMEER
H) 22D K IR BN
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(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors (including a duly authorised committee thereof)
may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person belonging
to any of the following classes of participants (“Eligible
Participants”), to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company, any of the subsidiaries
(“Subsidiaries”) or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in
which the Group holds an equity interest (“Eligible
Employee”);

(i) any Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), any Subsidiary or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
options may be granted to any company wholly owned by
one or more Eligible Participants.

(b) TSEBRETENAL

EF(PEEIARENESTZES) L
HEHMSHEAZBR TEMAENZHE
EMEMAL(EERSESE]EZERE
AR (D -

() AndE - EFEAMNBRE(HELR])
IAKERAERENENER((RE
BERDOEARE (THREBSRE
Y BEEANTES  ETBEEMA
FNTER) (SEREER] :
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B AR S EMREERE
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BE R AR B S E M BT SR MR A
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() Maximum number of Shares

(i)

(i)

the maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue
from time to time;

the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue on 11 January 2019 i.e. the listing
date of the Company (i.e. not exceeding 100,000,000
Shares) (the “General Scheme Limit"), provided that:

(aa) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to paragraph (bb) below, the Company may issue
a circular to its Shareholders and seek approval
of its Shareholders in general meeting to refresh
the General Scheme Limit provided that the total
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
Scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
limit, and for the purpose of calculating the limit,
options (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group) previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group will not be counted. The circular sent
by the Company to its Shareholders shall contain,
among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and
the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules.

(0 BHEE LR

()

(ii)

RIEERETE R AEEE HEMNTE
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(bb) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without
prejudice to paragraph (aa) above, our Company
may seek separate Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting to grant options beyond the General
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit
referred to in paragraph (aa) above to Eligible
Participants specifically identified by our Company
before such approval is sought. In such event, our
Company must send a circular to its Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified
participants, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
specified participants with an explanation as to
how the terms of the options serve such purpose
and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue for the time being. Where any
further grant of options to a grantee under the Share Option
Scheme would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to
such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further
grant must be separately approved by the Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates
(or his associates if the grantee is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. The Company must send a circular to
the Shareholders and the circular must disclose the identity
of the grantee, the number and terms of the options to be
granted (and options previously granted to such grantee), the
information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing
Rules and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of options to be granted to such participant must be
fixed before Shareholders’ approval and the date of board
meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as
the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under the Listing Rules.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commenced on the adoption date, i.e. 18 December
2018. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
around 5 years.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date on which the offer
for the grant of option is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date on which the offer for
the grant of option is made subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a
grantee, there is no minimum period required under the Share
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for the
option

The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the
Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on which
the offer for the grant of option is made, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date on which the
offer for the grant of option is made; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an option.

(e)

()

(9)
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed Shares during the Financial
Period under Review.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as of 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Details of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out in the section
"Employees Remuneration Policies” of the Management Discussion
and Analysis on page 32 to 33 of this report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Due to the nature of the retail business of the Group, for the
Financial Period under Review, walk-in customers from the general
public are the major customers.

The total amount of sales to our top five customers is less than
30% of the Group's total sales.

The total amount of purchases from our top five suppliers is less
than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their respective holding of the
Company’s securities.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the public float as required under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS" AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2023, save for Mr. Lin Tsz Fung who is also the
chairman and chief executive officer of other retail stores in Hong
Kong principally engaged in the sales of footwear and lifestyle
products as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 28
December 2018, none of the Directors and substantial shareholders
of the Company and its subsidiaries, or their respective close
associate, had interests in businesses which compete or are likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Company and its subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules. Given the overall nature of such retail products
of Mr. Lin’s other business is substantially different from the
principal products of the Company i.e. prepackaged leisure food,
the Directors are of the view that the competition between such
retail businesses of Mr. Lin and the Group is relatively minimal and
remote.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Financial Period under Review and up to date of this
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions for the
benefit of the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided according to the Articles of Associations and the
Company has maintained the directors and officers liability
insurance in respect of potential liability and costs associated with
any legal proceedings which may be brought against the Directors
of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the Financial Period under Review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Financial Period under Review, the Group entered
into the following transactions, which constituted connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions under the
Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:
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(a) Connected and continuing connected transactions in

relation to tenancy agreements

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 14 September 2023 (the “14 September
Announcement”). On 14 September 2023, CIAO
International (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
entered into (i) a tenancy agreement with Glorious Supreme
Limited (as landlord) for a term of three years for the
lease of the On Yam Estate Property (as defined in the 14
September Announcement) (the “On Yam Estate Tenancy
Agreement”); and (ii) a tenancy agreement with King
Worldwide Holdings Limited (as landlord) for a term of three
years for the lease of the Shek Wai Kok Estate Property (as
defined in the 14 September Announcement) (the “Shek Wai
Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement”), respectively.

The monthly rental of the On Yam Estate Property comprises
of (i) monthly base rent of HK$50,000 ("On Yam Property
Fixed Base Rent"); and (ii) a turnover rent of 5% monthly
gross receipts exceeding the On Yan Property Fixed Base
Rent, exclusive of government rates, management charge
air-conditioning charge and other outgoings and inclusive of
government rent. CIAO International shall also pay a deposit
of HK$178,047 in respect of the On Yam Estate Property.

The monthly rental of the Shek Wai Kok Estate Property
comprises of (i) monthly base rent of HK$50,000 ("Shek
Wai Kok Property Fixed Base Rent"); and (ii) a turnover
rent of 5% monthly gross receipts exceeding the Shek Wai
Kok Property Fixed Base Rent, exclusive of government
rates, management charge air-conditioning charge and
other outgoings and inclusive of government rent. CIAO
International shall also pay a deposit of HK$189,099 in respect
of the Shek Wai Kok Estate Property.

The Group’s lease of the On Yam Estate Property and the
Shek Wai Kok Estate Property to operate the “Best Mart
360° " brand retail stores shall optimize the Group's retail
store-location strategy and enhance the Group’s overall
performance.
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As detailed in the 14 September Announcement, based
on the then present value of the aggregated fixed rental
payments for the entire terms of the On Yam Estate Tenancy
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement
as discounted using a discount rate which is equivalent to
the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, the aggregated
value of right-of-use assets of the On Yam Estate Tenancy
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement
recognised by the Company in accordance with HKFRS 16
amounted to approximately HK$3,078,000.

The variable turnover rents under the On Yam Estate Tenancy
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement
will be recognized as expenses of the Group over the term of
the respective tenancy agreement. The annual caps proposed
by the Company for the payment of variable turnover rents
are estimated as follows:

Annual cap for the year
ending 31 December

On Yam Estate
Tenancy Agreement

BN AT B RAERF - BELEEH
VR AEATYERNBEEFHANEE
MREENERREGRABEERNRRFIE
EEFRFEHREMREB)FTE - KAFA
BEBUERE LA E 16 MERNELE
BHEHARAEABYERONFTREEE
“B(E#)753,078,0008 7T °

ZREBHAOROEABEO THAZEH
FRHeARZIENFHERRNEER
X o AREMA BB EXERSNAM
RS FE LRIEFTAT ¢

Shek Wai Kok Estate
Tenancy Agreement

BE+-ZA=+—BHLFEZEELR ZREWAELN FEAMYERD
2023 HK$250,000 HK$250,000
—E-=4F 250,000 7T 250,0007 7T
2024 HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000
—E 4 1,000,000 7T 1,000,000/ 7T
2025 HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000
—E-RF 1,000,000 7T 1,000,0007 7T
2026 HK$750,000 HK$750,000
—ECRE 750,0005% 7T 750,000 7T

The payment of variable turnover rents for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 under the On Yam Estate Tenancy
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement
are nil and nil, respectively.

As detailed in the 14 September Announcement, as all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregated
annual caps for the payment of variable turnover rents under
the On Yam Estate Tenancy Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok
Estate Tenancy Agreement are less than 5% and less than
HK$3,000,000, such continuing connected transactions are
exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement
and the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BELZERBAY R AEABYERYN &
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Both Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings
Limited are wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, a substantial
Shareholder and an executive Director. Accordingly, each
of Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings
Limited is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. As such, the payment of fixed base rents under
the tenancy agreements will be regarded as one-off connected
transactions, whereas the payment of variable turnover rents
constitutes continuing connected transactions pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the abovementioned
continuing connected transaction and have confirmed
that the transactions have been entered into are (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to
the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions carried out
in the ordinary course of business are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. All of the said related party
transactions constitute continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the section above
headed “Connected transactions and continuing connected
transaction” for details. For those related party transactions that
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions (as the case may be) (other than those described in
the section above headed “Connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions”) under the Listing Rules, such transactions
were fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review and
all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DONATIONS

The Group had made charitable or other donations of
approximately HK$1,010,000 during the Financial Period under
Review.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
PERIOD UNDER REVIEW

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report.

Continuing connected transactions in relation to sales and
purchase framework agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
26 January 2024. On 26 January 2024, the Company (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and CMHT (for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries other than the Group) entered into a
sales and procurement framework agreement (the “CMHT Sales
and Procurement Framework Agreement”) for the term of
one year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. As CMHT is
a substantial Shareholder, the entering into the CMHT Sales and
Procurement Framework Agreement between the Company and
CMHT and the transactions contemplated thereunder will become
continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework
Agreement, the Company and CMHT agree that (i) the Group
shall sell to CMHT and its subsidiaries (other than the Group)
liguor, food and beverages, personal care and health products,
household and basic groceries, maternal and infant food and
supplies, pet food and supplies and other ancillary services arising
from the above sales (the “CMHT Sales Transactions”); and (ii)
the Group shall procure from CMHT and its subsidiaries (other than
the Group) liquor, food and beverages, personal care and health
products, household and basic groceries, maternal and infant food
and supplies, pet food and supplies and other ancillary services
arising from the above procurement (the “CMHT Procurement
Transactions”).

B
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The table below sets out the annual caps of the CMHT Sales
Transactions and CMHT Procurement Transactions for the year
ending 31 December 2024:

TREJIBE_FT_WNFE+_A=T—HILHF
ERASRHERIRERSARBRINE
LR :

For the year ending
31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NF

tTZA=+—-HILFE

HK$’'000

FET

CMHT Procurement Transactions BRSBRRERS 35,000
CMHT Sales Transactions REEBHERS 25,600

Entering into the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework
Agreement is beneficial for both procurement and business-to-
business sales of the Group. This arrangement not only increases
the Group’s revenue streams but also ensures a stable supply chain.
In addition, the arrangement aligns with the business development
needs of the Group, achieving a synergic effect in fair and
reasonable manner, and realising resources complementarity and a
win-win situation for all parties.

Continuing connected transactions in relation to the CMBL
Logistics Services Framework Agreement and the CMQHW
Transportation Framework Agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
12 April 2024, (i) CIAO International (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) and CMBL, a company held by CMPH as to 60%
and China Merchants Port Group Co., Ltd as to 40%, which is a
substantial shareholder of CMPH, entered into a logistics services
framework agreement (the “CMBL Logistics Services Framework
Agreement”) for a term from 12 April 2024 to 31 December 2026;
and (ii) CIAQO International and CMQHW, a company indirectly held
by CMPH as to 60% and China Merchants Port Group Co., Ltd. as
to 40%, entered into a transportation framework agreement (the
“CMQHW Transportation Framework Agreement”) for a term
from 12 April 2024 to 31 December 2026.
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As CMHT, a substantial shareholder of the Company, and both
CMBL and CMQHW are indirect subsidiaries of China Merchants
Group Limited, each of CMBL and CMQHW is considered as an
associate of CMHT, and therefore a connected person of the
Company as defined under the Listing Rules. As such, the entering
into of (i) the CMBL Logistics Services Framework Agreement
between CIAQO International and CMBL and (ii) the CMQHW
Transportation Framework Agreement between CIAO International
and CMQHW, and the respective transactions contemplated
thereunder will become continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the CMBL Logistics Services Framework Agreement,
CIAO International Limited and CMBL agree that (i) CMBL shall
provide customs clearance, warehousing and related logistics
services to CIAO International for its goods, and (ii) CIAO
International shall appoint CMBL as its sole customs clearance
service provider in Shenzhen Qianhai Comprehensive Bonded Zone
CRINBTEEREIRTIIE) (the “CMBL Transactions”). Pursuant
to the CMQHW Transportation Framework Agreement, CIAO
International and CMQHW agree that CMQHW shall provide land
transportation services of goods between Shenzhen and Hong
Kong and other supporting services to CIAO International (the
“"CMQHW Transactions”).

The table below sets out the annual caps of the CMBL Transactions
and CMQHW Transactions for the period from the 12 April 2024 to
31 December 2024, and the two years ending 31 December 2026:

HRARFRERERAEEDE - BERN LA
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F+_A=+—HHErEBEE_Z_~Ft+=
A=+—HIMEFENBYRBEZ S RBE
AEEZSHFEE LR

For the
period from For the For the
12 April 2024 to year ending year ending
31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2025 2026
—EMmF
B+=HZ Bz BZE
—ENE —E_RE —EBEZXRE
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—-8B +=ZA=+-—H
M LFE LEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
CMBL Transactions HERMRZ 5 12,956 22,527 22,527
CMQHW Transactions HBEmgERS 5,687 7,582 7,582
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Given that CMPH is a leading provider of bonded logistics in the
PRC in particular in Shenzhen, the Group can leverage on the
cooperation with CMPH and CMPH'’s bonded logistics services to
manage the logistics and transportation of the Group’s products
more efficiently. This collaboration grants the Group access to
reliable and cost-effective supply chain solutions in Mainland China,
especially when the Group is tackling the current labor shortage
while simultaneously expanding its retail operations in Hong Kong.

Connected transaction and continuing connected transactions
in relation to tenancy agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
12 April 2024, CIAO International (as tenant) and Mr. Lin Hiu
San Burton (as landlord) entered into a tenancy agreement (the
“Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement”) for a term of three
years from 22 April 2024 to 21 April 2027 (both days inclusive)
for the lease of the Stanley New Street Property (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 April 2024). Pursuant
to the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement, CIAO International
shall pay Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton (i) a monthly base rent of
HK$110,000 (“Fixed Base Rents”) and (ii) a turnover rent of 8%
monthly gross receipts exceeding the Fixed Base Rents (“Variable
Turnover Rents”), exclusive of government rates, management
charges and other outgoings and inclusive of government rent.
CIAO International shall also pay a deposit of HK$344,100 in
respect of the Stanley New Street Property.

Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton is the son of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, a substantial
Shareholder and an executive Director. Accordingly, Mr. Lin Hiu San
Burton is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Hence, the payment of the Fixed Base Rents under the
Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement will be regarded as a one-
off connected transaction, whereas the payment of the Variable
Turnover Rents under the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement
will be regarded as continuing connected transactions under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 12
April 2024, based on the then present value of the aggregated
Fixed Base Rents for the entire terms of the Stanley New Street
Tenancy Agreement as discounted using a discount rate which
is equivalent to the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, the
Value of Right-of-Use Assets of the Stanley New Street Tenancy
Agreement recognized by the Company in accordance with HKFRS
16 amounted to approximately HK$3,587,737 (unaudited).
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The Variable Turnover Rents under the Stanley New Street Tenancy
Agreement will be recognized as expenses of the Group over the
term of the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement. The annual
caps proposed by the Company for the payment of Variable
Turnover Rents are estimated as follows:

FAEMEHEO T 2 ERBHES KRR E
HARNFHRRR/AKERAX - NARHA
EBEXBHESOXNMERNFE LREG
mr

For the For the For the For the
year ending year ending year ending year ending
31 December  31December  31December 31 December
2024 2025 2026 2027
Bz S S S
—E-_mE e 123 —ECRE Sk 13
+=R=t—-A +=ZA=t-H t=ZA=t—-B t=A=1+-H
LEE Jl: ;5 Jl:3:5 JI:3:5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Stanley New Street Tenancy FREFTEED
Agreement 720 950 950 300

Currently, the Group operates a total of 164 chain retail stores in
Hong Kong. The Group’s lease of the Stanley New Street Property
to operate the ”"Best Mart 360°” brand retail store is conducted
after comprehensive market research and assessment. The Group
considers that the location of the Stanley New Street Property is
suitable for the opening of a new “Best Mart 360" shop, which
optimizes the Group's retail store-location strategy and enhances
the Group’s overall performance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 1 November 2023. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Company to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited with effect from
1 November 2023 and will hold office until the conclusion of the
Forthcoming AGM. Details of the change of auditor were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 1 November 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor of
the Group during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Period under
Review have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited. A
resolution will be submitted to the Forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
September 2023, the Board resolved to change the financial
year end date of the Company from 31 March to 31 December.
Accordingly, the reporting financial period in this annual report
covers a nine-month period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December
2023. The corresponding comparative amounts shown in this
annual report covered the 12-month period from 1 April 2022 to
31 March 2023 and therefore may not be entirely comparable with
the amounts shown for the current period.

On behalf of the Board
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Li Guanpeng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEST MART 360 HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Best
Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 133 to 220, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the period from 1 April 2023 to
31 December 2023, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the period from 1
April 2023 to 31 December 2023, in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M & BB R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Valuation of inventories

Refer to Note 5 “Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty” and Note
17 "Inventories” to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matters

The Group held significant inventories as at 31 December 2023,
which comprised finished goods in respect of food and beverage,
household and personal care products. Inventories are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Management assessed the level of write-downs of inventories
required at the reporting date after considering inventory ageing
and other relevant factors. Such assessment involves significant
management judgement and estimation in determining the value
of inventories which will not be recoverable at the reporting date.

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because inventories are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and because of the significant degree of management
judgement involved in determining the write-down of inventories.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

—  obtaining an understanding of and assessing the application
of the Group’s key internal controls over the inventory write-
down assessment process;

—  comparing the cost of goods with third party supplier invoices,
on a sample basis;

=  selecting inventory items, on a sample basis, at the reporting
date and comparing their carrying value with their subsequent
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices subsequent to the
reporting date; and

— assessing the historical accuracy of management’s calculation
of write-downs of inventories at the end of the previous
financial year during the current financial year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M & BB iR &

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements on 5 June 2023.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M & BB R &

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M & BB iR &

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M & BB R &

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF ZE BT RS SR AIENER
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (&
(Cont’d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M & BB iR &

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wang Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P07788

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
%Aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁé@l& fit 73

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &t 2 —ZE - =F+ A =+—HI 1A
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-Z-=fF BHE_ZT_=F
+=BA=+—8H =A=+—H
LEEi R IEFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FE&T FETT
Revenue A 7 1,930,831 2,305,907
Cost of sales SHE KA (1,236,573) (1,488,644)
Gross profit EF 694,258 817,263
Other income and other gains, net EL At WA B2 B e 2 5 R 8 4,676 19,920
Selling and distribution expenses HE KoY (422,722) (515,266)
Administrative and other expenses TEEEMAS (62,568) (72,996)
Operating profit £ e Al 213,644 248,921
Finance costs BE AR 9 (10,930) (8,708)
Profit before income tax bR FT1S B A& T 10 202,714 240,213
Income tax expense FriS R f 2 12 (34,379) (39,216)
Profit for the period/year BN, F 5 T 168,335 200,997
Profit attributable to owners of KR RVHER NG ST
the Company 168,335 200,997
Earnings per share attributable to ZN/NIEZ SN
owners of the Company: BRAER :
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) - EAR R ESE B 14 16.8 20.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e R & H b 2 W s &

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —&F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-Z-=F HE_T_=F
+=HA=+—8 =A=+—H
1-HA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Profit for the period/year R FERT 168,335 200,997
Other comprehensive expense Hih2mAX
ltem that may be reclassified HigrgeEmoBaEam
subsequently to profit or loss: HA
Exchange differences on translation  ¥1E/NEFREITIRE K
of overseas operations FrEAMER =5 (674) (328)
Other comprehensive expense for HiA, EEHMZHEAX -
the period/year, net of tax HIBRFIE (674) (328)
Total comprehensive income for B FEZEKZEE
the period/year 167,661 200,669
Total comprehensive income UTEHEESHR FE
for the period/year 2HKRAE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATHERA 167,661 200,669
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BN R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 R —ZFE - =F+=-HA=4+—H

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-= 2=
+=HBA=+—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B THBxT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WZ - BB REE 15 446,843 444,408
Deposits e 19 35,500 42,560
Deposits paid for purchase of property, B& A -« BB MR
plant and equipment BEfES 19 285 944
Deferred tax assets IEIEFIE & B 21 2,526 2,311
485,154 490,223
Current assets REBEE
Inventories VEN 17 276,691 244,219
Trade receivables g5 WA 18 16,149 6,139
Deposits, prepayments and other e BRNRER
receivables HAth fE Y 5RIE 19 74,578 50,999
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTA S 20 130,712 146,047
498,130 447,404
Total assets WEE 983,284 937,627
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables E HENFRIE 22 88,496 68,926
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R A B OB 22 60,301 42,026
Bank borrowing IRITIER 23 76,756 79,349
Lease liabilities HERE 16 143,015 133,218
Dividend payable FERTAR B 306 -
Income tax payable RIS FTiS TR 50,044 21,908
418,918 345,427
Net current assets REBEEFE 79,212 101,977
Total assets less current liabilities RAEERRHER 564,366 592,200
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BN R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 R=—ZF - =#+=-HA=+—H

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E=F —E-=F
+=ZB=+—H —A=1+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ihy=g FET FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R E M ER A 22 2,805 1,919
Lease liabilities HERE 16 105,188 111,569
107,993 113,488
Net assets EEFE 456,373 478,712
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the owners KA TEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital Bz 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves & 25 446,373 468,712
Total equity HRER 456,373 478,712

The consolidated financial statements on pages 133 to 220 were REF133BEEF 220 FFEHNGATBEHRERD R
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson 22 —Z_WNFE=A -+ _HESFSHETRE

March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: Tz WHTIIALTREESE
Li Guangpeng Hui Ngai Fan
E300) HFRF
Director Director
FF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERRBER

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

Foreign
Share Share Other exchange Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve  earnings Total
RE  ROEE HtRE MNERE RKREEA Bt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET TET TER TR TR
(Note 24)  (Note 25)  (Note 25)  (Note 25)
(isk24)  (W¥at2s)  (ffeE2s)  (BeE2s)
At April 2022 RZE-_FA 10,000 329,284  (122,614) 108 221,265 438,043
Profit for the year FEET - - - - 200997 200,997
Other comprehensive expense Hi2AEMAY - - - (328) - (328)
Total comprehensive (expense) 2T (FX) B E
income - - - (328) 200,997 200,669
Dividend paid (Note 13) ERREHT13) - - - - (160,000)  (160,000)
At 31 March 2023 and RZZEZ=$=R=1—H
1 April 2023 k=F-=®#MA—H 10,000 329,284 (122,614) (220) 262,262 478,712
Profit for the period B A - - - - 168335 168,335
Other comprehensive expense  H A1 2 HERIS = = = (674) = (674)
Total comprehensive (expense) 2 (FI%) Iz #58
income = = = (674) 168,335 167,661
Dividend declared (Note 13) FERRE (Wi 13) - - - - (190,000)  (190,000)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ_=F
+-A=1+—H 10,000 329,284  (122,614) (894) 240,597 456,373
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REREMRER

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-ZS_=F #HE2-_T-=F
+=A=+—8 =RA=+—H
LR EFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FETT
Cash flow from operating activities EZEBNWEESHE
Profit before income tax Bk B 1S 5 A s 202,714 240,213
Adjustments for: FEE -
Interest income from bank deposits RITIE A B A 8 (5,074) (1,292)
Finance costs BERA 9 10,930 8,708
Losses on written-off/disposal of WeHHEWME - BEX
property, plant and equipment, net R E BT 8 335 868
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERREITE
and equipment 15 155,215 184,104
Written-off of inventories T E 10 5,055 7,576
369,175 440,177
Increase in inventories FEE (37,527) (33,827)
Increase in trade receivables E 5 e W ERIBIE 0 (10,010) (390)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, e~ FENFREREAM
prepayments and other receivables FE R IE (38 hn) SR (16,519) 8,089
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables & 5 & s B A1, CRi ) 19,570 (6,698)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and FERT B PR IR E b FE < 5RIR
other payables #n, Cri ) 18,476 (2,592)
Cash generated from operations K& SRS 343,165 404,759
Income tax paid AR (6,458) (34,880)
Net cash generated from REEBHABREFHE
operating activities 336,707 369,879
Cash flows from investing activities REZBENBELHTE
Purchase of property, BAYE - BER&EB
plant and equipment (20,089) (29,075)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME - BEREHE
plant and equipment FRiS 318 7 -
Payments for reinstatement costs XHEBRR A (120) (220)
Bank interest received BUERTTHIE 5,074 1,292
Net cash used in investing activities REX£EFTARESFHE (15,128) (28,003)

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7

Annual Report 20235 E &



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HRERTMER

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-Z-=F HBE_ZT_=F
+=B=+t—HB =A=+—H
LIFEAE IFFE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET

Cash flows from financing activities BEXBENRERE
Repayments of bank borrowing BERRITERK (2,593) (3,632)
Repayment of principal portion of BEEEEERSHS

the lease liabilities (132,889) (153,352)
Interest paid BFIE (10,930) (8,708)
Dividend paid BEARERE 13 (189,694) (160,000)
Net cash used in financing activities BEX£EABR S FHE (336,106) (325,692)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RE&REELZEHIER

cash equivalents CR) /1 inS4E (14,527) 16,184
Cash and cash equivalents at B FORSRESEE

beginning of period/year HE 146,047 130,076
Effect of foreign exchange rate HMNEE R F e B

changes (808) (213)
Cash and cash equivalents atend X FREELRK

of period/year Re%HEER 130,712 146,047
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

GENERAL

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
on 24 January 2018. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1=1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is 11" Floor., C-Bons International
Centre, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in retailing of food and beverage,
household and personal care products under the “Best Mart
360° (f8am360°)" and “FoodVille” brand stores in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“"Hong Kong”), the
Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) and the
Mainland of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and
wholesaling in Hong Kong.

The directors consider the immediate holding company of the
Group to be China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Company
Limited, which was established in Hong Kong.

The directors consider the ultimate controlling party of the
Group to be China Merchants Group Limited, which was
established in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

GENERAL (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors of the Company on 22 March
2024.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Change of financial year end date

On 5 September 2023, the Board announced that financial
year end date of the Company has been changed from 31
March to 31 December commencing from the financial period
ended 31 December 2023 in order to align its financial year
end date with the controlling shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of the current financial period cover a period of
nine months from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023. The
comparative figures for the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows
and related notes, however, cover a period of twelve months
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, and hence are not
directly comparable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)"”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

In the current period, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning
on 1 April 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and

February 2022

amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimate

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar

Two Model Rules

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current period has had no
material effect on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)"”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs (Cont’d)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 —
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction.

The amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments shall be
applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments are
applied to those transactions that occur after the beginning of
the earliest period presented.

The amendments had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ 2 —F - =41+ =-H=1+—HIEA

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. ERFEIREETEBMBREE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B(EBMBEREERN D REMES
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND CHANGES IN STBRBE (B)

OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective EEMAEENRERNRBITE BT HERE

28

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to AEBEVWEREZEAUTEEMBERRE

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: WIS R B A B E 2R

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BB RS AR WEE R

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI10RRBBEF RNAEHRE LD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

The material accounting policies are set out as below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Group.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e  The Group’'s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

e The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties,
discounts and sales related taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

B 5 3R R By 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer.

Revenue recognition

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

e Sale of goods — retail

e  Sale of goods — wholesale

e Customer loyalty programme
Sale of goods - retail

The Group sells goods directly to retail customers within
retail stores. Revenue recognised from sale of goods to retail
customers is recognised at a point in time when the product
is transferred to the customers upon sale. Payment of the
transaction price is due immediately when the customers
purchase the good. The payment is usually settled in cash
or using credit cards, octopus card, Alipay, WeChat pay and
other electronic payment platform.

Sale of goods — wholesale

Sales are recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has been transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion
over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that affects the wholesaler’s acceptance
of the products.

Discounts, coupons and other cash incentive to retail
customers and discounts to wholesale customers are
accounted for as reduction of the transactions prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & F —E - =4+ - HA=+—Hi 1A

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail
customers accumulate points for purchases made which
entitle them to redeem award points for discounts in future
purchases. The transaction price is allocated to the product
and the award points on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Revenue from the award points is recognised when the
award points are redeemed. Contract liabilities are recognised
until the award points are redeemed. Contract liabilities in
relation to customer loyalty programme were included in
“Accruals and other payables”.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract or modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect
to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont‘d)

Leasing (Cont’d)
The Group as lessee (Cont'd)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing

rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance

fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying

amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding

adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the

revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

e the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest

rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

e A lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term
of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective

date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)
The Group as lessee (Cont'd)
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an
obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under HKAS
37 "Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities, if any.
They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at
the commencement date of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are presented as “properties” under
property, plant and equipment.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use assets is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments occurs and are included in selling
and distribution expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)
The Group as lessee (Cont'd)
Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets:
and

e  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & F —E - =4+ - HA=+—Hi 1A

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period/year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interest as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Retirement benefits costs

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

The Group contributes to defined contribution provident
funds, including the scheme set up under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF
Scheme”), which are available to all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme are in
accordance with the statutory limits prescribed by the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll to the MPF
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees. The
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement age of 65 years old,
death or total incapacity. Payments to the MPF Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions. The Group’s
employer contribution vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. Accordingly, for the
Financial Period under Review and year ended 31 March
2023, there were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the Scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) that may be used by the employer
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Group also participates in the employee retirement
benefits plan of the respective governments in various
jurisdiction where the Group operates. The Group is required
to make monthly contributions calculated as a percentage
of the monthly payroll costs and the respective municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees of
the Group. The Group's contributions to the schemes are
expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries and annual leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of their assets and

liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset relate
to lease liabilities to the extend that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all

taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they related to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Over shorter of the lease
term or 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and
bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and short-
term bank deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents
are short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of

financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair values of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial asset at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

EXSTHTBRER(E)

EMIA

REBEEBRASMIAGNERXEINH
B SREENTRABARGAHBEN
MRPER

BRUPIRBEEVBRELERE1SHKES
BHBAFENEFANEENE SR
RIS EMEEREBMABINLZARF
BiE - WEHETEREENEREE
(BRFEFABREAFEFARSE 2
TREE) ERBIENRZRARY LR
BMASteREERERBBENATE
M (WER) - WEBRAFEFABRRELZ
TREEEREBENRZAABFRIERS
hHERR ©

THEE

FMEFHREECERMEETIRR 5 A
AR TER - WER T A EEHARE
ISR ANHEPIMREZRBARNEE

FREBER S REEHERIIZEIHK AN
RFEEREERNME) BETE -
TREECEVIRERR DR BRIZER
PRA R 2R FER AIRRFTE -

TR EMEED BIHRRERE
ENANASRERBNAKREEREL
BEMEBELN -

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @36 01Z i B R 2 7

Annual Report 2023 E #fi 4

159



160

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) excluding the expected
credit losses ("ECL"), through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest rate is
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows,
including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the
debt instrument on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & F —E - =4+ - HA=+—Hi 1A

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Cont’d)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any
loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit impaired (see below).
For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets,
the Group recognises interest income by applying the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does
not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the
financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “interest income from bank deposits” line item (Note 8).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
receivables and all other financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
individually for customer with significant balances or credit-
impaired and/or collectively using a provision matrix based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,

including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, including other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the
Group's debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports as well as various external sources (if available) of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group's operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk (if available) for a particular debtor, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the
extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has
been less than its amortised cost;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default; (ii) the debtor has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has
an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from
external sources (if available) indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL
model for trade debtors over 90 days past due based on
the good repayment records for each customer, continuous
business with the Group and/or other reasonable and
supportable information.

EXETTHRER(E

EMIAE)
TREE(E)

TREERRIEEENHEESEREINAE
ETTRE G2 B IR E Z R E ()

ERRTER

ARERR BABEERBRERMS -
ATRERABRENS M - RERBTER
BURTT & DN R 2R ) B MR B0 — e SRR
[o] :

o EEBAERRMBEE X

o MEAER B INEERIR(E) RFH
BRBREBATKAERMEGEEA
(BREAKE)BEER(ETF AL
B A 2 EREARAOBRT)

Tk LA ERMA  ARERSE &
AR I RIBOOR AN E B ) - R IEA
EEELENTXHNESERETRN
BHIEET AL -

AEEERZEFEPZRIFENCE - &
AEBZHEEBR SEMARAEE
£ HEBEREEHEEBREANARE
BIOK 2 B 5 e WK IE B B AR RAR -

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7
Annual Report 20235 E &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & F —E - =4+ - HA=+—Hi 1A

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

B 5 3R R By 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period,
to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & F —E - =4+ - HA=+—Hi 1A

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and interest in subsidiaries

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and interest in subsidiaries to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
interest in subsidiaries are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and interest in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful life and residual value of an item
of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvement in production, or from
a change in the market demand for the products or service
output of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected
physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the
asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment excluding
properties as at 31 December 2023 is HK$209,987,000 (31
March 2023: HK$211,005,000). The estimation of the useful
life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in similar way. The Group will
revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are different
to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

5.
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)
Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been changed. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2023 is
HK$276,691,000 (31 March 2023: HK$244,219,000).

Impairment loss for non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether non-financial assets suffered any impairment in
accordance with accounting policy stated in Note 4. The non-
financial assets are reviewed for the impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds their recoverable amounts. The
determination of recoverable amount requires an estimation
of future cash flows and the selection of appropriate discount
rates. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods, where applicable. No impairment loss on non-
financial assets was recognised by the Group in both periods.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.

5.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Provision of reinstatement costs of retail stores and
offices

Most of the Group’s retail stores are leased under operating
lease and are subject to reinstatement obligation as stipulated
in the lease agreements. Management assesses the amount
of provision made for each store and offices based on
various factors, including the size of the store and offices,
the complexity of refurbishment and specific requirements
from landlords. The Group’s management assesses the
adequacy of such provision at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of such
provision was approximately HK$4,916,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$4,125,000).

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the period ended 31 December 2023 and the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Group operated one reportable
and operating segment which is the retail sale of food and
beverage, household and personal care products under the
“Best Mart 360° ({f854360°)” and “FoodVille” brand stores
in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and wholesaling in Hong
Kong. The Group determines its operating segment based on
information reported to executive Directors of the Company
who are also the chief operating decision-makers that are
used to making strategic decisions. Accordingly, the Group
does not present separately segment information.

Geographical segments

The Group’s geographical segments are based on the
locations of the Group’s assets. Revenue to external customers
disclosed in geographical segments are based on the
geographical location of its customers.

The following table presents revenue and certain non-current
assets information regarding the Group’s geographical
segments as at and for the period ended 31 December 2023
and the year ended 31 March 2023.

REE-ZZTE-_=F+=-A=+—HILHHE
AERHE-ZE-=F=A=+—HItEE
W AEEE—EARELEELL HA
EEHE BP9 NF E[Best Mart 360° (18
360°) ] % [FoodVille | & h& /& #8377 & an A &R
W REMEAZEEERTEUANERS
et - REBRBERAARFTNTESE(NA
T EREREE)ERAEIELRIEREFRT
AMERRETELESE - At - A%
BB 255 IER -

i 35 5 &R

REBE I D G IRBEAREEE ENT
EMED o LK D BMEBEHISNEEE P B
WATIRBEEFHMIBUESR D -

TEBRN - E-_=F+—-HF=+—HE
BEZBILBEANUNER-_ZE-_=F=A=
T-BREBEZALFENAEBE LS
HHWARE TIHRBNEEER -

Hong Kong Macau PRC Total
5B JEPY i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBx FET FET FET

31 December2023 —ZE-_=%+=-HF=+—H
Revenue A 1,885,309 43,333 2,189 1,930,831
Non-current assets*  FERENEE* 436,102 9,869 1,157 447,128

31 March 2023 —E-=F=ZHA=+—H

Revenue A 2,242,462 59,624 3,821 2,305,907
Non-current assets*  FERENEE* 432,099 11,002 2,251 445,352

*

Excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

* TEESRTAMNRERBEEE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Information about major customers

Since none of the Group’'s sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for
the period ended 31 December 2023 (31 March 2023: Nil), no
information about major customers in accordance with HKFRS
8 Operating Segments is presented.

7. REVENUE

The Group principally engages in retailing of food and
beverage, household and personal care products under the
“Best Mart 360° (f854360°)" and “FoodVille” brand stores
in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and wholesaling in Hong
Kong. All revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in
time.

Revenue from the Group’s principal activities during the
period is as follows:

D EER(E)
AREEEENER

HRALEERE -ERAEEHEGAE
EEz-—Z2-_=F+-_A=+—HI1LHHA
R ABEE10% A E(ZEZ=F=A=
+—8 &) RTERBESYHHREE
A ESHEanBENEBETEBEETMNE
K} o

A

AEEFERELDE - BFIRHPBE[Best
Mart 360°({& f360°) | &2 [FoodVile ] i & /& 4
EITREMEE REMEAERERS
EUARERBNE - AEBMEKRAHR
R ERF 2R -

HIN - AREBEEXEBHRANT

Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-_ZE_=%F HZE-_T-_-=F
+=A=+-8 =A=+-8
LEHARS LEFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T T

Revenue from WA PR
Retail sale =& 1,912,879 2,296,460
Wholesale 2% 41,481 36,142
Less: Sales discounts o SHET (23,529) (26,695)
1,930,831 2,305,907
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & F —E - =4+ - HA=+—Hi 1A

8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET 8. HfttW AR H s FE

Period ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2023 2023

BE-ZT_=F HzEz-_ZT=--—-F

+=HBA=+—H =A=+—H

1EHRE HFE

HK$’'000 HK$'000

F#&xT FET

Interest income from bank deposits IRITF T B WA 5,074 1,292

Losses on written-off/disposal of Wes,/ HEWE - BEREB
property, plant and equipment, net "B 1855 (335) (868)
Government grant (Note) BT B (M 7E) = 17,996
Others HAith (63) 1,500
4,676 19,920
Note: Hiat -

RBEZZT-_=F=A=+—RLFEARIOBT
WY T REFBHTRE G EIFT IR COVID-19
HEHREER REE_ZT _=F=A=+—HBLLF
ER - ARBEREBBUFTRH R 5814 B iR BUT
B)#917,996,000/8 7T - AEEEEE L 202 E B H#
By MIFNRAERER S - ANERBIZRAGE KA AR AIE
FHeFX - BREEHRATE KEBABEIREER
FE AR o AN B A T ER X BT BY AR RO R AR T

The government grant recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 was
mainly related to the COVID-19 related subsidy from Employment Support
Scheme of Hong Kong government. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group recognised government grant of approximately HK$17,996,000
from Employment Support Scheme of Hong Kong Government. The Group has
elected to present this government grant separately, rather than reducing the
related expense. The Group had to commit to spending the assistance on payroll
expenses, and not to reduce employee head count below prescribed levels for

a specified period of time. The Group did not have any unfulfilled obligations BT -
relating to this government grant.
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BMERA
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-Z_=F HBE_ZT_=F
+=RA=+—H =A=+—H
1R IEEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest expenses on bank borrowing RITIEAF R 1,775 1,844
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENFEREZ 9,155 6,864
10,930 8,708
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

10.

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

10. BRATEHADER]

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRABHEEAN DR GEA) T
15
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE_T-=fF HEz-T-_—F
+=RA=+—H =A=+—H
1EHA R IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11(a)) EENe (Wat11@) 1,284 1,476
Staff cost: BIRA
— Wages, salaries and other benefits -I& - HFehEMETR 173,994 194,538
— Contributions to defined - EREHFURAR S EIE T
contribution pension plans 7,355 8,800
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERERE
equipment 155,215 184,104
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN &
- Audit services - ZEARTE 1,044 1,630
- Non-audit services - IR 250 250
Exchange differences, net [ER =5 %5 (1,115) (888)
Costs of inventories recognised as WRRBFAZ N FEE KA (T
expenses (excluding written-off of HEFE)
inventories) 1,231,518 1,481,068
Written-off of inventories WiEFE 5,055 7,576
Operating lease payments in respect of BT E/EHEMNCERENRE
retail stores
= Short-term lease expenses - A ERY 8,519 22,978
- Contingent rents - E 14,407 19,587
22,926 42,565
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 %tif F-=F+=—HA=+—HINEA

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EBERBES1THAEE M

EMOLUMENTS
(a) EXERESTRASHMH
ENKEMNIB3REE_T ==/

S+—BLEE DR EEREST
BABEBRFMIOT -

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13
(for the year ended 31 March 2023: five) directors and
the chief executive were as follows:

Period ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z-_=F+-HA=+—HLH
&
Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other  Discretionary  contribution
Fees benefig Bonuses  pension gglans Total
3 /\T
ik HthiEA BT BRARSHEMT st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THR FHR
Executive directors EHEE]
Mr. Li Guanpeng’ Ex P - - - - -
Ms. Cui Qian' fEht! - - - - -
Mr. Lu Rong' ERfA - - - - -
Mr. Liu Yunfeng' AT A - - - - -
Mr. Huang Shengchao’ BRALE - - - - -
Ms. Wang Kanglin' TREMT! = = = = =
Mr.LnTszFung (‘Mr.Lin") — HFEEE(HREE]) - 210 - 14 284
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan ("Ms. Hui") ~ #35&t((#&t)) = 270 = 14 284
Independent BUFHTEE
Non-Executive directors o
Mr. Sze Irons HREEE 199 = = = 199
Ms. Choy So Yuk EZINT 199 - - - 199
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly' Regut! 117 = = = 117
Mr. Gao Wei? mELL? 78 - - - 78
Mr. Lee Ka Lun? PRBLE 123 = = = 123
716 540 . 28 1,284
Chief executive: TR -
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan AERLE - 2,565 403 14 2,982
716 3,105 403 2 4,266

The emoluments paid or payable to the executive
directors and chief executive shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments paid or payable to the independent
non-executive directors shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the
performance of the chief executive officer, the Group's
performance and profitability and the prevailing market
conditions.

! Appointed on 11 August 2023
2 Appointed on 28 September 2023
3 Retired on 28 September 2023

LFAPIRENREANAITES RITHR
RERH M A RS HEEARNRT
AEBEEBAERNREMAET

LFAPTIRENRENBULIERITES
FMOAREZEEARBDERREHED
RIEMmEe T o

B IEAL B @HééﬁA@Tﬁﬁﬂlﬁ%%ﬂz
VRB - ARBENRIE RENEEN K
EROTSBERETE

3

RZBZ=FN\A+—HEZ®E

? RZBE-=FNA-+/\BEZE
? RIE-=FAA-+NBEE
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ 2 —F - =41+ =-H=1+—HIEA

11. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d)

Year ended 31 March 2023

N. EERESTHRAEHME)

(a) EERBSITRASHMGE)

HE_Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

Contributions

Salaries to defined
and other Discretionary contribution
Fees benefits Bonuses  pension plans Total
TR
Hak Eihe
e LR [ili=zzan HE 55 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET T T FHT
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Lin WEE - 360 - 18 378
Ms. Hui H - 360 - 18 378
Independent BUNHTEE
Non-Executive directors
Mr. Sze Irons IARELE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Choy So Yuk BZTRT 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Ka Lun® FRBRE 240 - - - 240
720 720 - 36 1,476
Chief executive: TR -
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan STEEAE - 3,198 533 18 3,749
720 3,918 533 54 5225

The emoluments paid or payable to the executive
directors and chief executive emoluments shown above
were for their services to the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments paid or payable to the independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the
performance of the chief executive officer, the Group’s
performance and profitability and the prevailing market
conditions.

During the period ended 31 December 2023 and year
ended 31 March 2023, no directors or any of the
highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments.

EARENRENRITESERITR
REE I ERFREREARE R
AEBEHERORBMA T

LRIRENREMNBILIFRITES
FMORREETARRESREHRY
RIMmi T -

BISTEAL mH M EZ B S RIBITHRAR
MRE - REENKREBEN R

ERAMBEERET

BHE_T-_=F+-_A=+—HIH#
MEEz—_E-_=F=A=+—81t
FE BEEFENTAESHAL
WEXRERETAE -
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{Z = F ==

e B EmR M

=F+=A=+—HILNEA

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the
Group, none (for the year ended 31 March 2023: nil)

1. E2RE

BT RASHM(E)

(b) EEBSHMAL

AEENAERSHMALHLEE
MEEFEBE_T_=F=A=+—H

were directors of the Company whose emoluments IEFE ) RENFMN LT
are included in the disclosure in Note 11(a) above. The 1M@FE - AR E&m I A TAOH
emoluments of the five highest-paid individuals were as Ban T -
following:
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-T_-= o ——
+=A=+—H =A=+—H
1HHA IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other benefits e MEMETR 5,865 7,632
Discretionary bonuses EIBIEAL 641 1,213
Contribution to defined contribution — F2EHFUR IS 5B X
pension plans 68 90
6,574 8,935
Their remuneration fell within the following bands: BENMEN T T5EE -
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-Z-_=F HE-T_-F
+—A=+—H =A=+—H
HHARE HFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 3 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017%% 7T 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T 2,000,000 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 7T 2 2,500,000/% 7T - -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7C 23,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7C 23,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7C 24,000,000/ 7T - 1
5 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S M. ESBRBESTHRABEHFMNEE)

EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Cont’d)

During the period ended 31 December 2023 and year
ended 31 March 2023, no directors or any of the
highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments. No emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors or any of the highest-paid individuals of
the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

(b) EEERSHMALE)

REBEE-ZT_=F+=-A=+—H1t
HErEEE—_E-_=F=HA=+—H
IEFER - BEEE AR H
ATHEXRBREE[MNE - A&
B &L e FAEEESKEM
SEEH AL EARSIHEFIMAR
EE SR IA RN E B IR X sk 1B
BB EE -

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FIBHiFA

The income tax expense in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
period/year represents:

WS A

FAGREERMEMEZAKSRANE
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March

2023 2023
BE-ZE-=F =T =%
t=A=+—-H =A=1-H

IFERE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Current income tax BVERFRIS AR
- Hong Kong Profits Tax - BENEN 34,108 39,004
— Macau Complementary Income Tax - BFIPGH AN (DRI S
("MaT”) WREB) 249 511
34,357 39,515
— Under-provision in respect of - BEFEREHBTE
prior year 237 496
34,594 40,011
Deferred income tax (Note 21) BEPRISEL (A a2 21) (215) (795)
Income tax expense FriS Rt &2 34,379 39,216

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is not subject to
income tax in the Cayman Islands.

ARAFREREREAREZERSHETE
ML AERRER AR - WHE L BEYK
MHRSESMER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

mRﬂMMMW@MHﬂWMD%DKMMMZWS@ifyffﬁfiﬁiffﬂﬁﬂ@ﬁ

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

During the period ended 31 December 2023 and the year
ended 31 March 2023, under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of estimated assessable profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of other group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

MCIT has been provided at the progressive rate on the
estimated assessable profits. The maximum tax rate is 12% for
the period ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31
March 2023.

No provision of the PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT"”) has
been made as the Group has no assessable profit for CIT for
the period ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31
March 2023.

The income tax expense for the period/year can be reconciled
to the profit before income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FR18

BiFE X (48)

BEr—_FT-_=F+-_A=+—HI-HEE
BE-_ZTZ-_=F=-A=+—BLEE &
FEFRMAGSET  AEREEER
2EBA LA ERTEF E1£8.25%
B BBE2EE BT EF BZ16.5%
BB o HAD TR A FIS B AR il ) 00 5=

EERBAORAGEEIZ165%E —FHERH
oo

BPITSH AR I At R R B
Em+ﬁh HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+
—BIHMEEE T -_=F=ZA=1+—
HIEFENRELERB12% o

BE-_Z_-_Ft+_A=+—HLHHEK
BE-_ZT_-—H-A=1+—HLFE" H
BAZKEIIﬁEﬁ'ﬁﬂle%ﬁﬁ SR ([ 2R
BHDBRSRRVEN - RAEE DX
ﬁﬁf”ﬁﬁnﬂm°

AERE FEMGHAXTEESBRER
H i 2 1 W a8 3R I B0 BR PS5 A N 3 R
LU

Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-—T—= S ———
+=A _+ =i =A=+—H
IEHA R IFFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit before income tax B BT 1S 50 B4 A 202,714 240,213
Tax on profit before income tax, BERFTEB AR NIRER RS
calculated at the applicable Hong FEREERFTHOTIA
Kong profits tax rates 33,448 39,634
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries Eﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%l:#&*é E’J b=
operating in other jurisdictions NAIRER TR HZ (836) (957)
Tax effect of non-taxable income /,\u%FRHﬁUKE’ﬁRi‘%E/‘ (837) (3,183)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N A F1%4 5 % BT 75 57 555 197
Under-provision in respect of prior years @ FEEET 2 237 496
Utilisation of tax loss previously not BRSAABR TIEEE
recognised (26) (55)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates F1F 150 /R 4R 1l 1) 52 22
regime (165) (165)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERMIBBEZHET 2 2,003 3,249
Income tax expense FrigHi = 34,379 39,216
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RS
Period ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BE-B-=f BE_T_=fF
+t=A=+t-8 =A=+-~8
1HA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Final dividend in respect of previous SR B ER RS

financial years, approved and paid FAZEARE G RO HE R A
during the period/year 110,000 80,000
Interim dividend declared FRE &+ B & 80,000 80,000
190,000 160,000

On 19 August 2022, a final dividend of HK8.0 cents per share
for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approved by the
Company'’s shareholders (2022 Final Dividend”). The 2022
Final Dividend of HK$80,000,000 has been paid during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

On 24 November 2022, the Board has resolved to pay an
interim dividend of HK8.0 cents per share, amounting to
a total dividend of HK$80,000,000 (“2023 1st Interim
Dividend”), in respect of the six months ended 30 September
2022. The 2023 1st Interim Dividend has been paid during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

On 28 September 2023, a final dividend of HK11.0 cents per
share for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approved by the
Company's shareholder (“2023 Final Dividend”). The 2023
Final Dividend of HK$110,000,000 was paid during the period
ended 31 December 2023.

On 28 November 2023, the Board has resolved to pay an
interim dividend of HK8.0 cents per share, amounting to
a total dividend of HK$80,000,000 (“2023 2nd Interim
Dividend”), in respect of the six months ended 30 September
2023. The 2023 2nd Interim Dividend of HK$79,694,000 was
paid during the period ended 31 December 2023.

RZE-__FNA+ILB BEZT_-_—
FZA=F+—HIEFEHREREFRS.0
BB REREDEAQRRE
ot o —ZT = —F KR HIPB.80,000,0005
TEREBE_E_=F=A=+—HI%F
EIRAT -

RZZTE-_—_F+—A-+MNB &<z
A E_E-__FhAA=+T8I1XEA
R P HARR B EARS.0B I - IRB AT A
80,000,000 L([ZEZ=FF— X+
BED —ZZT-_=FF—XHHBREER
HEe_Z-_=Z#=-A=+—HILtFER
(I

RZE_=FHNAZ-+/\B #H#E2_Z
—TZF=ZA=Z=+—HIEFEHNRARKE
i%ﬂO%MU‘%“ﬁX%&éDﬁ
RABREMA - — T - ZF KK,
110,000,000/8 L EREE ?7_¢+—
A=+—HLHRMIRN -

R—_E_=ZF+—A=-+/\H EFg
AEREE T _=FNAA=1+HILR
& AR EME B8 081l - B4
%A /80,000,000 7T ([ = E__¢%—*
FHRE]D — T -=FF KT EHKE
mﬁ%pw%namﬁi_21:¢+:
A=+—H IEHERA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B Rk M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BRER
The basic earnings per share attributable to owners of RARBBEANEEEBEZE TS _=F+=
the Company for the period ended 31 December 2023 is AR=T—HBILHAGRERBHNTIIER
calculated based on the profit attributable to owners of the NEVEB ANEE & F49168,335,000%8 7T
Company of approximately HK$168,335,000 (for the year (BEZT-=F-A=-+—HIEFE:
ended 31 March 2023: HK$200,997,000) and the weighted 200,997,000/ 70) LA Jx B B 97 I 38 AR 40
average number of ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 (2023: Y9 801,000,000,0008 (= FE = =4 :
1,000,000,000) in issue. The Company did not have any 1,000,000,0008%) 5T & » RARIREZE_F
potential dilutive shares for the period ended 31 December =F+ A=+ AHILBPHEEHEE=F

2023 and the year ended 31 March 2023. Accordingly, the —FZA=Zt+—BLFEIETLHEE
diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings ATEER G - Al BREERFEGR
per share. ERRFER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRME
Leasehold Office Plantand  Furniture and Motor
improvements premises Properties  equipment fixtures Vehicle Total
EEhERE  BOEDE g BERRE FEREREE - i
HKS 000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
Thn TEn TiEn Thn T TiEn Thn
At31 March 2022 AZEZZFZA=1-H
Cost B 61,463 178,865 14638 27568 13,618 - 721842
Accumulated depreciation ZihE (40,699) (7515) (217.484) (13,901) (5832 - (285,431)
Net carying amount FA%E 20,764 171350 208,844 13,667 1786 - 424
Year ended 31 March 2023 BECRCCESRST-HLER
Opening net carrying amount EEATE 20764 171,350 28,84 13,667 1,786 = mm
Additions and lease modification REREEBH 2,107 - 158,397 5134 30m - 187,310
Witten oficisposdls i/ Le ®) - - (51) (3n) - (869)
Depreciation g (17,858) (4.99) (153,622) (5,091) (2.541) - (184,104)
Exchange aignment Eii% (57) = (216) (68) = = (341)
Closing net carying amount EHREATE 298 166,358 233,403 13730 8,004 = 444,408
At31 March 2023 S S S o
ot A 18725 176,865 e 341 30,640 15,340 - 7991
Accumulated depreciation ZifE (55,812) (12,507) (212,938) (16,910) (7.336) - (305,503)
Net carying amount FASE 0913 166,358 233403 13730 8,004 - 444,408
Period ended 31 December 203 HE-E-EF-AZ-AIHER
Opening net carrying amount NEERE 0913 166,358 233,403 13,730 8,004 - 444,408
Additions and lease modification REREELH 12399 = 137,138 448 3,055 1007 158,047
Wrten offdsposals s/ g 0 - - (176) (144) - (329)
Lease termination ity - - (13) - - - (13)
Depreciaton ik (11,580) (3783) (133,652) (3993) (1) (26) (155,215)
Exchange dignment EifR (29) = (20) (10) = = (55)
Closing net carying amount BUEEEE 136% 162,615 236,856 13979 8,694 1,001 16,883
At 31 December 203 et g o
Cost A 89,535 178,865 535,063 34,015 17913 1007 856,478
Accumulated depreciation ZihE (65,837) (16,250) (298,207) (20,036) (929 (26) (409,635)
Net carrying amount FERE 2369 162,615 236,856 13979 8,694 1,001 146,883
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 15.

Right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$236,856,000 (Note 16) (31 March 2023:
HK$233,403,000) were included in the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment.

Security

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with a total carrying value of approximately
HK$162,615,000 (31 March 2023: HK$166,358,000),
are subject to a legal charge to secure a subsidiary’s bank
borrowing with a bank (Note 23).

Y% - MR REREE)
ERERE

R-_ZE-_=F+-"A=+—H FHEEZ
E#9236,856,000/8 T (HiE16) (ZE ==
F£=HA=+—H : 233,403,000/ 7T) Jy5t
AV - BB KR ENEEE -

S

RZZE_=F+_-_A=+—8 AEBE
H4{E#5162,615,0008 T (ZE =4
=A=+—H 166,358,000/ 7T)M ¥
¥ BMEAEEXRR—EETIHL - %
ERIBITER THBARBITE RN ER
£¥23) ©

LEASES 16. HE

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FHEESE
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—EC=HF —E =&
+=B=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&x T

Properties leased for own use, HEEBRNYE

carried at depreciated costs BITEKATIER 236,856 233,403

The Group entered into various lease agreements for
retail shops, warehouses and office premises. The leases
for retail shops, warehouses and office premises have
remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1
to 3 years. All leases held by the Group comprise fixed
payments over the lease term or contingent rent based
on turnover of the respective retail shops for the month.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the period
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$100,957,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$58,341,000), due to new leases of retail shops.

AEERLTZETEER  RBERBA
EMENEERZE - TEEWH - BERM
NENH N AAHEEBANTFI1EIF - K
SEMFENHEEDTANBHRNEE
NHBIRETEEHT AL EBTEON

HE_LT-_=F+_-_A=+—H8 15
B FREEERNEA100,957,0007 T
(HE-Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—HIFE:
58,341,000 7T) - IR ZEE G HIE

1=

g o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

16. LEASES (Cont’d)

16. HE (&

(ii) Lease Liabilities (i) HEAE
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—EC=HF —EC=F
+t=A=+-8 =A=+-FH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Current liabilities mENBE 143,015 133,218
Non-current liabilities mEBaE 105,188 111,569
248,203 244,787
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E=-= =
t=A=+—-H =A=1—H
Amounts payable under
lease liabilities HEEEE TENRE HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Within one year —FN 143,015 133,218
After one year but within two years ~ —F&ERFERN 77,804 76,691
After two years but within five years FRFEETFERN 27,384 34,878
Less: Amount due for settlement B 128 A R EIHAE S FOE
within 12 months (MRBBaEETIITR)
(shown under current
liabilities) (143,015) (133,218)
105,188 111,569

During the period ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into a number of new lease agreements in
respect of renting retail shops and recognised lease
liability of HK$100,152,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2023: $57,642,000).

HE_Z_=—F+-_A=+—H81
BifE - AEBEREEEHEEET
ZHHBEERE UTHABEAR
100,152,000 L (HE=-E ==
—A=+—HI1FE : 57,642,000%

JT) °
17. INVENTORIES 17. 78

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—TEC-=HF —E-=4F
t=A=+—-HB =A=1—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Finished goods IR 276,691 244,219
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES B 5 BWIA
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-= 2=
+=HA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Trade receivables 2 5 EINIA 16,149 6,139

As at 31 December 2023, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted
to approximately HK$16,149,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$6,139,000)

Trade receivables mainly represent the outstanding amounts
receivable by the Group from Octopus Cards Limited and
credit card companies. The settlement terms with credit card
companies and octopus card sales are usually within two
business days after the date on which the sales are made. No
credit term has been granted to any customers of the retail
stores.

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its
wholesale customers with trading history, or otherwise sales
on cash terms are required.

Included in the trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group's related parties of HK$49,000 (31 March 2023: Nil),
which is repayable on credit terms similar to the wholesale
customers of the Group.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables based on
invoice date is as follows:

R-E-_=ZF+-A=+—H FEZR
FANELXZESRRNBLBEY A
16,149,000 L (ZE-_=ZF=A=+—
H : 6,139,000/ 7T) °

HEHRUFBRETESATERE ZEBFR
BERARREERRARKRKKE - 5
ARARRVEBRHEENGERBES

fEHSHE P‘“El?éﬁWl“%ElW BERE
EERNEBEERTEES

AEEGTEYAR BN ETFPHNT
HIEEH AR BEIHEANE®
17

B 5 EWGRIE B 15 R WA S E B 5 58
49, OOO/%E(_‘:_—¢ A=+—8":
/) ZEEREREBNEEPERN

EEMEE -

AEENE HEUHEENEZARGFE
BRRE DT

31 December 31 March

2023 2023

—E-= 2=

+=ZBA=+—H —A=1+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

0-30 days 0&30H 15,255 5,779
31-60 days 31260H 759 272
61-90 days 61290H 70 53
Over 90 days FB3A90H 65 35
16,149 6,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

19. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 19. & - FENREREMERRE
RECEIVABLES

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=fF —T=F
+=RA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current: e :
Deposits e 35,500 42,560
Deposits paid for purchase of property, BBA®E  BEREENE N
plant and equipment b 285 944
35,785 43,504
Current: B
Prepayments TR RRIE 32,322 24,010
Deposits e 34,439 22,595
Other receivables Hth & W kB 7,817 4,394
74,578 50,999
The balances were unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed EHRTEERR R RUEBEFEERDY -
repayment terms. The Group's deposits and other receivables RZEZ=F+_A=F+—HERZZE==
were neither past due nor impaired as at 31 December 2023 FZA=F+—H FEENZSREME
and 31 March 2023. WORRIRBE A 8 B TR (E
Included in the deposits, prepayments and other receivables e~ TARTFRIA K E b e R IE B 4R FE IR
are amounts due from the Group's related parties of 7N [E BA R 77 ;IE367,0008 L (=
HK$367,000 (31 March 2023: nil), which is repayable on lease F=A=+—H |\  ZFCAERELRE
terms similar to the landlords of the Group. EXEFRAEMHEEBEESR -
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

20. BERIIR1THEE

31 December 31 March

2023 2023

—E-= 2=

+=ZBA=+—H —A=1+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Cash at banks RITHEE 123,519 140,273
Cash in hand FHERSe 7,193 5,774
130,712 146,047

31 December 31 March

2023 2023

—E=F —EC=F

+=A=+—H —A=1+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong dollars BT 123,900 141,957
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARY] 399 1,167
United States dollars (“US$") ESIE S ) 320 319
Euro BT 19 23
Macau Pataca (“MOP") BP9 T (R T]) 6,025 2,518
Other currencies Hih g 49 63
130,712 146,047

Cash and bank balances include cash on hand and short-term
bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short
term cash commitment, which carry interest at prevailing

market rates during the period/year.

The Group had cash and bank balances denominated
in RMB of approximately HK$256,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$1,098,000) and the remittance of these funds out of the
PRC was subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed

by the PRC Government.

R RRTHEKERTFRER S MEHRT
TR AREAEENERESAE B
BE/FRRTHSHES

AEBEHRBUAARETENRS RRITHE
#249256,0008B T (—E-_=F=A=+—
H : 1,098,000 ) ' MiGZzEESER
AR BB 5 AR BB B B R SINE B AR IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

21. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 21, IEIEFTIS
The analysis of the deferred tax asset of the Group is as AEBEZBELERBEEZONAT ¢
follows:
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=fF TEC=F
+=RA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after #1218 A 1% Uy @ &Y
more than 12 months EIET I E E 2,526 2,311
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) BE-_T-_=ZF+-_A=+—BItHRBEX
recognised and movements thereon during the period ended HE T -_—FZA=+—HILFECH
31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 March 2023: RZEBEALEFIBEEE(BE REZEHN
™
Decelerated tax
depreciation
WEBIBETE
HK$'000
FET
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE--“FMA—H 1,516
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit st ARG EZEEMEEWE R
or loss and other comprehensive income 795
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-ZEBE-=F=A=+—-HK
—E-=%MA—H 2,311
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit st A%F& Bz N EM 2 ENER
or loss and other comprehensive income 215
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=f+=HA=+—H 2,526
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

21.

22.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$30,841,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$21,564,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect to
such tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$15,050,000 (31 March 2023: HK$9,809,000) that will
completely expire in 2028 (31 March 2023: 2027).

TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES

(a) Trade payables

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables based

21.

22.

IESEFTSHE ()

RIEHR  AEEHEEARBHAHEER
4730, 841,000 L(ZE-=F=A =+
—H : AR¥21,564,0005 7T) + A K £
RHCHEF o P A B E F) 2R TR 2 DA TR -
M BERBELERIEEAE - AERBIERE
BERESR_Z_N\F(ZZE=Z=F=A
—t+—B:ZZEtF)EHEANEIE
15,050,000 L (ZE-_=F =R =+—
H : 9,809,000 7T) °

B RNFEUREE AR At
FEA IR

(a) BEZEMNNE

AEENESERNFEERERTAY

on invoice date is as follows: FTEREREIR DT T
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-= —E -
+=HA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-30 days 0% 30H 72,729 56,564
31-60 days 31%60H 15,403 12,296
61-90 days 61%90H 200 -
Over 90 days HB3890H 164 66
88,496 68,926

Included in the trade payables are of HK$444,000
(31 March 2023: Nil) due to related parties which are
repayable within 90 days, which represents credit terms
similar to those offered by the related parties to their
major customers.

BOBNANEREREMBER D
4440008 (T E-=F=H=+—
B : &) B0 NEE - BRI S
MEFERXFRHMNEESHMES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER  22.

PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(b) Accruals and other payables

BEENFRURETE AR At

PR FRIR ()

(b) EtEARHEMENKE

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=HF —E-=F
+=RA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current: RE
Accruals for employee benefit fEFHE B EFIFAX

expenses 37,439 20,632
Accruals for rental expenses e 6,003 5,871
Accruals for logistic expenses FEET i 2 7,151 6,299
Contract liabilities in relation to cash W RIEEEHE L AEE

coupon (Note (d)) (B13# () 650 -
Contract liabilities in relation to WA ER

customer loyalty programme SRBEW )

(Note (d)) = 640
Provision for reinstatement costs 1B AN B (M52 (c)

(Note (c)) 2,111 2,206
Receipt in advance TEU IR 139 534
Accruals for operating expenses and ~ JEFTHAE &[S &

other payables Hth e 5B 6,808 5,844

60,301 42,026
Non-current: IEFRE :
Provision for reinstatement costs BB R A (HT 2L ()
(Note (c)) 2,805 1,919

Included in the accruals and other payables are of
HK$22,000 (31 March 2023: HK$83,000) due to related
parties, which represents lease terms similar to those
offered by the related parties to their major tenants.

FEET & A R E 4th JE A5 20 0E B 58 E S R B O
#922,0008 L(ZE-_=F=A=+—H:
83,000/ T) + BREAHE M E = EH A REME

M EIRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B A AR A

mRﬂMMMW@MHﬂWMD%DKMMMZWS@ffyff¢+:ﬁ5%*5ﬁﬂ@ﬁ

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER 22. ESENFEBEURETERAREM

PAYABLES (Cont'd) JE'T:JL% R (%)
(c) Provision for reinstatement costs (c) BERREE
Movements in the provision for reinstatement costs are BERABREBESNAT
as follows:
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—Eg=-= —E=F
t=RA=+—-H =A=t1—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET
At beginning of period/year REBH, F ) 4,125 3,646
Provision for reinstatement costs N 911 699
Utilisation of provision for BB B ARE
reinstatement costs (120) (220)
At end of period/year REAR FR 4,916 4,125
(d) Contract liabilities (d) &¥&aE
The Group has recognised the following revenue related AEBEBRATHRABREEOE
contract liabilities: f&
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—g=-= —E=F
t=RA=+—-H =A=t1—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Contract liabilities in relation to cash ~ #RIREENAELNEE
coupon 650 -
Contract liabilities in relation to W R R B HETEIR
customer loyalty programme axaE - 640
The contract liabilities represented the aggregate amount AHBEBEIEESERSRESRR
of the transaction price allocated to the performance ﬂiLﬁXE’JE%’]fEE’J S ERLBER o
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of each REBEEH  SEEZEREXELD
reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price EEMNRXSERBREZTDHEEN
allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations REBRO MBS FEHBRFER BRI
will be recognised as revenue when the award points Ao

in relation to customer loyalty programme and the cash
coupon are redeemed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ 2 —F - =41+ =-H=1+—HIEA

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER 22. ESENFRIEURETERAREM

PAYABLES (Cont’d) FEATFRIE ()
(d) Contract liabilities (Cont'd) d) aHaEE
The following table shows the revenue recognised in the TRETKRAREHEOHREP RO EE
current reporting period related to carried-forward liabilities: BERMWA :
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=fF —E=F
+t=A=+—-H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHETT

Revenue recognised that was included 5T ABR%]FHI& N BER
in the contract liabilities at beginning BRI A
of the period/year

— Retailing sales -EE 640 516
The following tables shows unsatisfied performance TRETZENREKBHEE -

obligations resulting from retail sales:

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=F —E-=F
+=—BA=+—H —A=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
At end of year RER
— Expected to be recognised within - FEHIR —F N HER
one year 650 640

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited {8 @ 360#Z it B R 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

23. BANK BORROWING

23. SRITER

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E=-= —E-=F
+=ZBA=+—H —A=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAET
Current: ENHA :
Secured interest-bearing bank borrowing Azt BIRITER
Not repayable within one year from BERBRERRET —FA
the end of the reporting period but BEREEBSEREREERK
contain a repayment on demand
clause 76,756 79,349

Bank borrowing bears interest at floating interest rates. The
effective interest rates of bank borrowing is HIBOR plus 1.3%
or prime rate minus 3%, whichever is lower, per annum for
the period ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31
March 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowing and other bank
facilities of the Group are secured by:

(i) the corporate guarantee provided by the Company and
subsidiary; and

(i) property, plant and equipment of office premises (Note
15) of the Group with carrying amount of approximately
HK$162,615,000 (31 March 2023: HK$166,358,000).

RITERIRFDANEGFE - BHE_T =
F+-A=t+—HIBMEEE-_ZT ==
FZAZFT—HIFEE  BTEFNER
FHEBBEBRITRZEFEIN 3% I &KE
B ER3% EERER)

RZTE-_=F+-_A=+—H  XxEER
TEANREMBITRE A TSIEB ER
#

() ARFRMERRRMOBEER
54

(i) BRMEMEXA162,615,0008 (=T =
=#£=H=+—H : 166,358,000/&
TR AREERAEDENDE - BE
N & (BEE15) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, R
Number Amount
#A &8
HK$'000
TR
Authorised: ERE
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and RZZEZ=F=A=+—80"
31 December 2023 “TE-FMA-BR
—ZE-=%+Z-A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEC.01BTH @R
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and RZZEZ=F=A=+—80"
31 December 2023 ZE-=FMA—HBHK
—E-=%+ZA=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
25. RESERVES 25. f#1&
Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves are as NEERBEDTBEANGERREHE
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. W KARRIREEHEEFSNT
Movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows:
Share Retained
premium earnings Total
IR 43R E RE &R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TR FAT
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA—H 329,284 404 329,688
Profit and total comprehensive  F[E % F & 2 RS 4258
income for the year - 160,757 160,757
Dividend paid BT E - (160,000) (160,000)
At 31 March 2023 RZZB_=%F
—A=+—H 329,284 1,161 330,445
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMA—H 329,284 1,161 330,445
Profit and total comprehensive  HAREF & 2 E Uk 25 4258
income for the period - 190,003 190,003
Dividend declared FTE K% & - (190,000) (190,000)
At 31 December 2023 i ——
+=—A=1+— 329,284 1,164 330,448
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

25. RESERVES (Cont’d)

25. fRE (2

The following describes the nature and purpose of each DT A AR ASREENEE KA

reserve within owners’ equity.

Reserves

G

Description and purpose
R A%

Share premium

Other reserve

H b

Foreign exchange reserve

SN e

Retained earnings

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal value of
the shares of the Company issued at a premium, less the amount of expenses
incurred in connection with the issue of the shares.

BA i B 2 18 AR 1 BIRR 17 DA (B B2 17 s LB B P45 SR IE R (0 AR 1 TED (B B B8
B WHIREITRMDTEAEMNFRSE

The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total
equity of the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries
pursuant to the reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the
Company are satisfied by issue of new shares from the Company.

REEME MR ERRENE R AR AEREENEQRNEGFTRAR
WZERE - it - RIBEAEBHB AR TARRRNEBARGZFHITHRME
B e

The foreign exchange reserve represents exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of overseas operations whose functional
currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

SMNE BRI B BB T RAN AR E 25| B HEINEBN I EIREZET
MEREERELZH -

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

REBEF| AR m AR Rt e kB -
26. COMMITMENTS 26. HIfE
Capital commitments BEREE
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E=-= —E=F
+=A=+—-H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Commitments for acquisition of BEVE BERERBDITLN
property, plant and equipment BRBE R IE
contracted but not provided for 71 681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 27. AN BB SRR 3%

COMPANY
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=F —E=%F
+=HBA=+—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHAE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary HEBRANEKE 28 122,614 122,614
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment TEfT IR 263 337
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG B (i) 216,954 213,579
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTE G 1,799 4,105
219,016 218,021
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FERT B R IR E b FE S 5RIE 876 190
Dividend payables JE AT AR B, 306 -
1,182 190
Net current assets REBEEFE 217,834 217,831
Net assets EEFE 340,448 340,445
EQUITY fE=
Equity attributable to owners R FEHR ABEER
of the Company
Share capital [N 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves (G 25 330,448 330,445
Total equity MrEn 340,448 340,445
Note: HiaE -
(i)  The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on (1) BHEREER -  TFHE  BRZZT=F1+=
demand as at 31 December 2023 and 31 March 2023. ﬂ T+ Ak ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HEKEE
8o
REARFESE

On behalf of the Directors of the Company

Li Guangpeng Hui Ngai Fan
Ex0) HFRF
Director Director

EF EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B Rk M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 28. MM B B AvE R
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 RZZBEZ=F+=A=+—8 A28
are as follows: BABRFEET
Particulars of
issued and fully
Place and date of incorporation and  paid up share Attributable equity
Name form of business structure capital interests Principal activities
AR ERELEER BRTR
8 NARBEY BRBRAFE FEfh IR E TERHR
Direct Indirect
Ef 3
Best Mart 360 International BVI, 23 February 2018, Us$1 100% = Investment holding in BVI
Limited limited liability company
Bm360BR AR AR RE&BAREE (ES 100% - ERBARRESNRERR
“2-N\EZAZ1+=R ' BRAA
Quality Food 360° BVI, 25 April 2013, Us$2 - 100%  Investment holding in BVI
(Holdings) Limited limited liability company
Bm360" Rm(EEERAA RBEBARES BT - 100% EEELBARESNRELR

ZE-ZEMAZTRA  ARAF

Best Mart 360 Macau BVI, 14 March 2019, Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding in BVI
Holdings Limited limited liability company
Bm360EFIERERAT RBARRES (B - 100% ERBERAREESORELER
ZE-NFZATEAB - BRAT
Best Mart 360 China Holdings BVI, 8 November 2019, Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding in BVI
Limited limited liability Company
B30T EfERER AT RBARRES 1%L - 100% EXBERARBENRELER

“E-NET-ANE BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ 2 —F - =41+ =-H=1+—HIEA

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont‘d) 28. RME D B M R (47
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December RZBEZ=F+=A=+—8 " A28
2023 are as follows: (Cont'd) BARGBOT : (&
Particulars of
issued and fully
Place and date of incorporation and  paid up share Attributable equity
Name form of business structure capital interests Principal activities
SRR EMEIASR BETR
8 NRARBEL HRREFE FEfL I8 TREY
Direct Indirect
EE 5F3
CIAO International Limited Hong Kong, 14 December 2012, HK$20,000 - 100%  Retailing of food and beverage,
limited liability company household and personal
care products under the

"Best Mart 360" (B
360°) and “FoodVille"
brand stores in Hong Kong

NG ik 20,000/ 7 - 100%  {E&7E(Best Mart 360" ({E R
“ECH+-ATEE - BRAT 360°) | R [Foodville) & /5
BETRRRAR  RER
EANEEERTE
Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong, 25 November 2019, HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
limited liability company Hong Kong
Bm360EEERAT] &% “T-NEt-A-TRE- 1B - 100% #EEHORERR
BRAF
Best Mart 360 Macau Limited Macau, 21 May 2019, MOP25,000 - 100% Retailing of food and beverage,
limited liability company household and personal care

products under the “Best
Mart 360" " (£m360°)
brand store in Macau

BR360EM BB BN —_E-NERA-t-B- 25,0007 - 100%  fE%F9(Best Mart 360° (B
BB 360°) JRIERBETRR
L8R FEREAZREE
mEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B Rk M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 28. RME R AR (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December RZZBEZ=F+=A=+—8 A28
2023 are as follows: (Cont'd) BRARIFBWOT : (&)
Particulars of
issued and fully
Place and date of incorporation and  paid up share Attributable equity
Name form of business structure capital interests Principal activities
SRR - ML B SR BRTR
8 NRARBELY BRREFE JElh g TEEH
Direct Indirect
EE B
Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce  The PRC, 24 December 2019, awholly ~ HK$18,000,000 - 100%  Retailing of food and beverage,
Limited foreign-owned enterprise household and personal care

products under the "Best
Mart 360" (m360°)
brand store in Shenzhen

AIEREZETHEERAA PE ZF-AFT-AZTEA 18,000,000%TT - 100%  FERYIBest Mart 360" ({E
HNEBELE 360°) IR EHETR R
R FEREAEEE
mEE
Abundant Year International Limited ~ BVI, 28 April 2020, limited liability US$1 - 100%  Investment holding in BVI
Company
AFERARAA AB&BARES ES - 100% EEEEBARESNREALR
“Z-EERACTN\R  BRAH
Allied Wide Limited Hong Kong, 28 October 2010, limited ~ HK$3 - 100%  Property holding in Hong Kong
liability company
hERAR] BE _E-TETAZTNR 3BT - 100% EEEOSANE
BRAR
Golden Good International Trading ~ Hong Kong, 26 May 2022, limited HK$1 - 100%  Wholesales of food and
Limited liability company beverage, household and
personal care products in
Hong Kong
cHARESBRAR B ZT_FRAZTAR 15T - 100% EEBETRMESM KB
BRAT REAERERIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BEARRXS
(a) Related party transactions (a) BEARS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this consolidated financial BRAGEVBHRREMEMTHES
statements, the Group had the following material Sh o BAIR, FARAEBEEBESET
transactions with related parties during the period/year: NERZS -
For the For the
period ended year ended
31 December 31 March
Name of related parties Nature of transaction 2023 2023
BZE HE
—EC-=HF —EC=4F
+=A=+—-H =A=+—H
)y REME LIEHARS IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT TFET
Smart Essence Development Limited Lease payments
(Note (i) 693 1,071
®RIERRBBRAT(HEL0) MEFIE
Glorious Supreme Limited (Note (ii)) Lease payments 72 -
BEER AT ) MERIA
King Worldwide Holdings Limited Lease payments
(Note (i) 26 -
SREEBEAR DG HZ3) MEFIE
China Merchants Food (China) Purchase
Company Limited (Note (iii) 711 N/A
HBEBRm(RE) R AR (M 23 BE TiE A
Hai Luen Trading Company (Hong Purchase
Kong) Limited (Note (iii) 2,058 N/A
EESE L FEB PR A T (K AL i) EE A
China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Sales
Company Limited (Note (iv)) 20 N/A
BERERESBERAR MW HZ(v) HE TiE A
China Merchants Food (Hong Kong) Sales
Company Limited (Note (iii) 49 N/A
R BRRm@EB) R AT H i) HE A
3,629 1,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B Rk M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 29. BERLRZ (&)
(a) Related party transactions (Cont'd) () BEIRS(EZ
Notes: Mt -
(i) Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company, has significant (i) KRBEEMNEEHREBEREEGRARE
influence over Smart Essence Development Limited. EEDN-Z i
(i) Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings Limited (i) ARFAEEMECELEHREBEFRAQA
are wholly-owned by Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company. EEREBARDT -
(iiiy ~ China Merchants Food (China) Company Limited, Hai Luen Trading (i) ARFEZREHRELASBEIERA
Company (Hong Kong) Limited and China Merchants Food (Hong AR BERRM(FE)BR AR - B
Kong) Limited are controlled by China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading HEERARRBERREREB)BRRD
Company Limited, the substantial shareholder of the Company. Al e
(iv)  China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Company Limited is controlled (vy HBEREBRESAERAAT  AEARFARR
by China Merchants Group Limited, the ultimate controlling ZRREFRIBE R EEBR A AHE]

shareholder of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 29. BEARRG (&)
(b) Related party balances (b) BAEETEREE
The following balances were outstanding at the end of RREEBRERER 2 ERIAT -

the reporting period:

Amount due Amount due

from/(to) from/(to)

related parties related parties

31 December 31 March

Name of related parties 2023 2023
R=-ZFEZ== A

t=A=+—-H =A=t1—H
FEW (A fEde(REN)

B EB BAEE 5 IR R 77 BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Smart Essence Development Limited (Note (i) (22) (83)
REBRBRAT (M ()
Glorious Supreme Limited (Note (ii)) 178 -
1R 2B BR A T (AT AL 3)
King Worldwide Holdings Limited (Note (ii)) 189 -
SREBAR DG H 23
China Merchants Food (China) Company Limited (Note (iii)) (142) N/A
B BEm (R ) AR A 7 (5 &2 i) iE A
Hai Luen Trading Company (Hong Kong) Limited (Note (iii)) (302) N/A
B IR B PR B (B 52 (i) A3 FA
China Merchants Food (Hong Kong) Company Limited (Note (iii) 49 N/A
B BRm(ER) B R A BB &2 i) NiE A
(50) (83)
Notes: M -
(i) Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company, has significant (i) KRB EEMLEHREBEEEGRARE
influence over Smart Essence Development Limited. BERTZESN -
(i) Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings Limited (i) AAREENREELTERABEBRAF)
are wholly-owned by Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company. SREEARRAF
(iiy ~ China Merchants Food (China) Company Limited, Hai Luen Trading (i) AR EZREHRERASBEIERAR
Company (Hong Kong) Limited and China Merchants Food (Hong TS BERRER(RE)ERAT -« G
Kong) Company Limited are controlled by China Merchants Hoi HEERARRBERRMAEB)BRRD
Tung Trading Company Limited, the substantial shareholder of the Al e
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B Rk M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont‘d)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel
Remuneration of executive Directors of the Company

and other members of key management during the
period/year was as follows:

29. BERRZ (&)

() TEEBASHMH

ARBPTEERHEMIZEERASR

RAERRE, REZOHFHINT :

For the For the

period ended year ended

31 December 31 March

2023 2023

BE H=E

—E-=F TEC=F

+=A=+—H —A=+—H

1EHA R IFFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHEIT

Directors’ fee ook - -
Short-term benefits 5 HAtE T 7,302 9,341
Discretionary bonuses EI5IEAL 646 1,295
Post-employment benefits BER R 12 A 108 144
8,056 10,780

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

30. RERIETNEMEEREHNER

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY W=
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E_-=H —E-=F
+=A=+-8 =A=+-FH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Financial assets at amortised cost SRMEERBEREAR)

Trade receivables g 5 WA 16,149 6,139
Deposits and other receivables e R E b EW G IE 77,756 69,549
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTA 130,712 146,047
224,617 221,735
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

30. BERIBIPMEREERSHERS

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (Cont’d) BE (&
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-=fF TEC=F
+=RA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost £ @& & (REH KA AR)

Trade payables B S ENHKIE 88,496 68,926
Accruals and other payables FEETE A KA MR RIE 57,401 38,646
Bank borrowing RITIER 76,756 79,349
Lease liabilities HERE 248,203 244,787
Dividend payable FERTAR S 306 -
471,162 431,708

The directors of the Company considers the carrying value of
financial instruments approximates their fair value.

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
in the normal course of the Group's business are credit risk,
liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

(@) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, and trade
and other receivables. The Group has no concentration
of credit risk from third party debtors.

As at 31 December 2023, substantially all of the Group’s
bank deposits were deposited with major financial
institutions in Hong Kong, which management believes
are of high-credit-quality without significant credit risk.

31.

ARAREEFRAEMTANKREERARD
FEMEE -

A EE

REAEEEEXBBEPELEELAEEHS
Iﬁﬁlﬂmfxﬂﬁ'&ﬁ'r B »A){ - RBES
< HINEE R B I ) 2R L B

% BB 5T SR A e AN SR B B 7S B R IR
R BB PBR I o

() FERR

AEBERERERRAEYNESER
CHREERRERBITERARES
REMEUFANERE AREL
BEREF=ZNEBANEEEHE
B o

RZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 " &&
BRI DRITERDFTHAREEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Bt 2 —F - =41+ _-H=+—HIFNEA

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

All of the Group’s trade receivables and other receivables
have no collateral. The Group assessed the credit
quality of the counterparties by taking into account
their financial position, credit history and other factors.
Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of
these receivables and follow up the disputes or amounts
overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that the
risk of default by counterparties is low.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportable forwarding-looking
information.

31. M EREREGE)

(a)

FERREGE)

AREBE A E S RURIE K& At UL
FREHEERD - AEREZEEHFT
M BEHR EELEEREMEE
MRHEEEEE R - EEETNE SR
MREFREFRENTREREE - I
BEFHHAHFAMAE) - EFR
A BFTNEDORRRE

AEBRYERAEESEEFEQ
BRI 37 R A R ST A 4
SEBETREEN - AT HIEEE
R A TEEEN - AREEEERR
% IS AR W0 MBI B DL AR
AEMEHARETILE - AREE
=BABNAERA SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 31. BRI EE(E)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d) (a) EERKGE)

(i) Trade receivables () EZEKE

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The Group always
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on
trade receivables is estimated by reference to past
default experience of the debtor and current market
condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure. The
ECL also incorporates forward-looking information
with reference to general macroeconomic
conditions that may affect the ability of the debtors
to settle receivables. To measure the ECL, the trade
receivables have been grouped based on share
credit risk characteristics and the days past due
according to the ageing as disclosed in Note 18.
Expected loss rate of current trade receivables are
assessed to be 0.1% as the trade receivables mainly
represent amounts due from Octopus Cards Limited
and credit card companies with high credit rating
and no history of default. For the past due trade
receivables, since the balances were immaterial,
the management of the Group considered the
loss allowance provision for these balances were
immaterial. There is no change in the ECL rate for
trade receivables during the period/year mainly due
to no significant change in the historical default
rates of trade receivables based on which the ECL
rate is determined. The management of the Group
considered the loss allowance provision for trade
receivables was immaterial during the period ended
31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 March
2023: immaterial).

AEBRFEREEBBNEHT
REABBWBHREEREIOR
Fral M 5 75 0% + 2 RERT
HEEB SRR FIEHA2HE
HEERE AEEMFTENE
S IEW G IEW E B E M E R
ERHEHREERESE - &
SEBFIENEHREERBEZ
EZEABRHANBREEOLER
FHREBAEAZ R E B
miSkR i - BEEEBE
MEEREEER  £Fh2ET
HE A RUGRIARRE I
MEENERREBSERR - B
ATEEHEESE  E5REK
I8 TS R T 18P I R O BR S T
REAREERRISFENRE X
FUETTHRE @B RNE S EWRFIE
FTEERKNEBRERAFTR
EERRRAI(BEEAFTAES
EEFARRWEENLE) K
18 - WA E 5 FE UK SR IE Y T8 Bf
B R T ER0.1% ° LA e
SEBFIAME - BREHRILT
EX BMAEEERERAZS
EHRHBBREBHETRITERK -
BHFRE S RERFIBHTER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Other receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the management of the
Group takes into account the historical default
experience and forward-looking information, as
appropriate, for example the Group considers
the consistently low historical default rates
of counterparties, and concludes that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other
receivables is insignificant. The management of
the Group has assessed that other receivables do
not have a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and risk of default is insignificant,
therefore the ECL for these receivables were
immaterial under the 12 months expected loss
method and no loss allowance was recognised
during the nine months ended 31 December 2023
(31 March 2023: Nil).

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term. The management of the Company
is satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future in the normal course of business.
The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of
the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on the current rates at the reporting date) and the
earliest date the Group may be required to pay.

31. IR EREE)

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

31. I EMREREE)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont’d) REBESRER(Z)
Total Within
contractual 1year Within Within
Carrying  undiscounted oron 1yearto 2 years to
amount cash flow demand 2 years Syears  Over 5 years
SHRER 155
BEE RERBER EZX 12ER 25E5ER SENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx TEn TEn TEn Tén Tén
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=H+ZA=1-A
Trade payables BAEAZE 88,496 88,496 88,496 = = =
Accruals and other payables [ErBERAMENRE 57,401 57,401 57,401 = = =
Dividend payable RS 306 306 306 = = =
Bank borrowing* i 76,756 98,803 5,870 5,870 17,608 69,455
Lease liabilties HEAR 248,203 259,751 149,919 81,115 8717 -
411,162 504,757 301,992 86,985 46,325 69,455
Total Within
contractual 1 year Within Within
Camying  undiscounted oron 1year to 2 years to
amount cash flow demand 2 years Syears  Over 5 years
ANRER 1ERE
REE RensLR 2% 1226R MEESER SEME
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr T T Fir ThL T
At 31 March 2023 W-BZzZ#ZA=t-8
Trade payables EHENTE 68,926 68,926 68926 - - -
Accruals and other payables E BRREMENTE 38,646 38,646 38646 - - -
Bank borrowing* Ei L 79,349 114,161 6,709 6,709 20127 80,616
Lease liabilities HERR 244,787 256,308 140,084 80,002 36,222 -
431,708 478,041 254,365 86,711 56,349 80,616

Bank borrowing in the above maturity analysis contains a
repayable on demand clause and is presented according to the
schedule repayment dates as set out in the loan agreement. As
at 31 December 2023, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of the Bank borrowing amounted to HK$98,803,000 (31
March 2023: HK$114,161,000). Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that
it is probable that the bank will exercise their discretionary rights
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company
believe that such Bank borrowing will be repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement.

LA LB HRERRR A AT R IRTT B R A IR Bk EEF
A REERBZERZBATERXRBZY - R
Eo=#+-A=+—H  ZESHETERZKE
I AS 458 /598,803,000 T (—E-=F=F
=+—H : 114,161,000/ 7T) - &L EAEEZ
BIISARR G - ARBIESRA - ZRITTKAIRE
EITERISHEEKAFER - ARBEERA
ZRITERGREERBEIRAZECERAE
= .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{Z = F ==

e B EmR M

=F+=A=+—HILNEA

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(0

(d)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong with most
of the transactions settled in HK$ and did not have
significant exposure to risk resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates
principally to its bank deposits and interest-bearing bank
borrowing. Borrowing issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. The Group has not
entered into any financial derivative instruments to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group's policy is to
manage its interest rate risk, working within an agreed
framework, to ensure that there are no unduly exposures
to significant interest rate movements.

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's financial instruments at the end of each
reporting period:

31. I ERE

(0

(d)

H(E)
SN LB

AEBETIZNEBLEER  EAE
DRBNBTHEE - B EEH AN
BEXEHMIBNERRR

A= b

AR B @A R ERR T ERERTT
R K BRITERER - HATEH
RERNERSAEERHRSRE
AR ERR o AN EET AT 2 A
TTET RS EMEER - AEE
mﬁ“E&V%mmEmAﬁﬁﬂi

CAERTEAZBRNEARN
$@E@ﬁ°

TRAMAEEEH TARSREN
REGHRARMR -

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
ZB-ZF+ZA=+-H ZZ-=F=f=1+-AH
Effective Effective
interests rate interests rate
per annum HK$'000 per annum HK$'000
ERERZ TEx EBREMNE FET
Fixed-rate bank deposits EEFIEBITHER 5.00% 40,000 3.93% 105,000
Floating-rate bank deposits FHHERTER -* 83,519 —% 4,843
Floating-rate bank borrowing FHFRBITER 3.13% (76,756) 2.88% (79,349)
* The effective interest rate per annum is lower than 0.01%. * BIRFHEEH0.01% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B R SR M

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F — =4+ - H=+—HI - L1EA

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis

At the respective end of each reporting period, it is
estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s profit for
the period ended 31 December 2023 by approximately
HK$56,000 (31 March 2023: decrease/increase by
approximately HK$622,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined to
assume that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of each reporting period and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for the bank deposits
and borrowing in existence at that date. The 100 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the next twelve months period.

The interest rate risk policies have been followed by the
Group consistently throughout the period.

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and maximising the return to stakeholders. The Group's
capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed by
the directors of the Company. The Group is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements. To maintain or adjust
capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend payment
to shareholders or issue new shares. Adjustments will be
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions affecting the Company or its subsidiaries, and the
risk characteristics of the Group’s underlying assets.

1. BBEBREERE)

(d) FIREERGE)
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=A=+—8 B HEIN4622,000
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MEMEMREL  WDEANZA
TF R IRTTF AR AR SRR 7 R @l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank borrowing, lease liabilities, cash and bank
balance and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves. The Group’s risk
management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the management considers the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital.

The net debt to equity ratio as at the reporting dates is as

BRER(E)

AEENEARBREER (P ERERT
g3 MERE BERBTEHLAE
REEE AEERED (R BERA R
)  ARENERERESFFR —
REARRE - ERtRET—8n - BE
J&Z B E AR A K B8 45 A N AR B A

LA
0
ZoN

RS AEFER SR RmT

follows:
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
—E-= —E =
+=HA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Bank borrowing RITIERX 76,756 79,349
Lease liabilities HEAE 248,203 244,787
Less: Cash and bank balances o IRe MIRTTASR (130,712) (146,047)
Net debt FE 194,247 178,089
Total equity MR 456,373 478,712
Net debt to equity ratio SRETE A K 42.6% 37.2%
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33. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

33. MEBERERME

CASH FLOWS
As at
Period ended BE-E-=E As at Financing Interest Lease Exchange 31 December
31December2023  TZA=T-HIEHE  1April2023 cash flow Addition expenses  modification  realignment 2023
it St i 3
BA-B ®ERERE HE HERX HEBY EX#E t-A=t-8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Thx Thx Thx Tén Tén Tén
Bank borrowing RiTfER 79,349 (4,368) = 1,775 = = 76,756
Lease liabilties EERE 204,787 (142,044) 100,152 9,155 36,181 (28) 248,203
Diviclend payable ERkS - (189,694) 190,000 - - - 306
324,136 (336,106) 290,152 10,930 36,181 (28) 325,265
Asat
Year ended R As at Financing Interest Lease Exchange 31 March
31 March 2023 ZRA=T-AILER 1 April 2022 cash flow Addition expenses  modification realignment 2023
i St RZBZZE
MA-R RERERE hE HERR HEEY EfEE =A=t-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TEL TEL TEL TATL TAL TATL
Bank borrowing L 82,981 (5476) - 1,844 - - 79,349
Lease liabilties BERE 200,669 (160.216) 57,642 6,864 100,056 (228) 204,787
Dividend payable A - (160,000) 160,000 - - - -
323,650 (325,692) 27,682 8,708 100,05 (228) 324,136
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 % —F —=#+ - H=+—HI " 1EA

34. ACCOUNTING IMPLICATIONS OF THE

ABOLITION OF THE MPF-LSP OFFSETTING
MECHANISM IN HONG KONG

In June 2022, Hong Kong Government gazetted the Hong
Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will eventually abolish
the statutory right of an employer to reduce its long service
payment (“LSP”) and severance payment payable to a Hong
Kong employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to
the mandatory provident fund (“MPF") scheme (also known
as the offsetting mechanism). Hong Kong Government has
subsequently announced that the Amendment Ordinance
will come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Separately, the HKSAR Government is also expected
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any
of the accrued benefits derived from its MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before, on or after
the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where
an employee’s employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service
up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

4. FBEUHBE S HE R HRES <

HENETE
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e ((RERES) MEMENETETR
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PR —E_HAFRA—H(BERDE
E o BIN  BERIBEBEFRITERIEBATE
1 HEH — IR BLET 2 - U E IR B &
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Hog SR bR (T mEiBE R Z A
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34. ACCOUNTING IMPLICATIONS OF THE

ABOLITION OF THE MPF-LSP OFFSETTING
MECHANISM IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong that provides guidance on the accounting considerations
relating to the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of
the mechanism. In particular, the guidance indicates that
entities may account for the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to be
used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the LSP; however,
upon the enactment of the Amendment Ordinance in June
2022, entities can no longer apply the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19, Employee Benefits, to recognise
such deemed contributions as reduction of current service cost
in the period the related service is rendered, and any impact
from ceasing to apply the practical expedient is recognised as
a catch-up adjustment in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the LSP liability in the financial statements.

In this financial report and in prior periods, consistent with
the HKICPA guidance the Group has been accounting for the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to an
employee as deemed employee contributions towards the LSP.
The Group has been applying the abovementioned practical
expedient.

The Group has assessed the implications of this new guidance
on the above accounting policies and has decided to change
those accounting policies to conform with the HKICPA
guidance. The management has commenced the processes on
implementing the change including additional data collection
and impact assessment. However, the impact of the change
is not reasonably estimable at the time of these consolidated
financial statements are authorised for issuance, as the Group
has yet to fully complete its assessment of the impact of the
HKICPA guidance.
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HENETEEE)
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